COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026

between

FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT

589 West Fremont Avenue Sunnyvale, California 94087



and

FREMONT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

525 W. Remington Drive, Suite #102 Sunnyvale, California 94087



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Article 1 | Parties, purpose, and recognition of bargaining unit | 8 |
|------------|--|----|
| I. Parties | | 8 |
| II. Purpos | se | 8 |
| III. Comp | position of the bargaining unit | 8 |
| IV. Exclu | usive representation | 8 |
| V. Indivi | dual contracts | 8 |
| Article 2 | District powers and rights | 8 |
| I. Genera | ıl reservation | 8 |
| II. Specif | fic reservations | 9 |
| Article 3 | FEA powers and rights | 9 |
| I. Reserve | ed powers | 9 |
| II. Right | to collection of dues by the District from FEA members | 9 |
| III. Provi | sion of Information | 10 |
| IV. Hold | Harmless and Indemnification. | 10 |
| V. Forwa | arding of collected fees and dues | 10 |
| VI. Griev | vance-Arbitration Provisions | 10 |
| VII. Dete | ermination of courses offered | 10 |
| VIII. Acc | commodations | 10 |
| Article 4 | The Bargaining Unit Employee rights | 11 |
| II. Person | nal freedom | 11 |
| III. FEA | representation | 11 |
| IV. Intell | ectual property | 11 |
| V. Studen | nt grade changes | 12 |
| VI. Reco | rding devices | 12 |
| VII. Clas | sroom para-educators and volunteer assistants | 13 |
| VIII. Pare | ental classroom visits | 13 |
| IX. Perso | onnel files | 14 |
| X. Stude | nt suspension | 15 |
| XI. Respo | onse to complaints | 15 |
| Article 5 | Rargaining Unit Employee duties | 15 |

| I. Length of school year | 15 |
|--|----|
| II. Length of day | 16 |
| III. Full-time status | 16 |
| IV. Learning Management System | 22 |
| V. Advisories | 22 |
| VI. ERAP preparation periods | 24 |
| VII. Using ERAP for substitute coverage | 24 |
| VIII. Adjustment to duty day for late classes and night school | 26 |
| IX. Meeting Attendance | 27 |
| X. Multi-school assignments | 28 |
| XI. Non-paid additional duties | 28 |
| XII. Paid co-curricular duties | 30 |
| XIII. Non-standard Duty Assignments | 31 |
| XIV. Duties in special programs | 33 |
| XV: Mandated Trainings | 34 |
| Article 6 Staffing | 34 |
| I. Allocation Formula | 34 |
| II. Student: teacher class size ratios by subject area | 34 |
| III. Departmental control of class size | 35 |
| IV. Timing for determining compliance with class size ratios | 36 |
| V. Automatic review of staffing | 36 |
| VI. Standards for class size ratio compliance | 36 |
| VII. Computations for combined subject classes | 37 |
| VIII. Effect of Specially Designed Academic Instruction In English (SDAIE) classes | 37 |
| IX. Special education | 37 |
| X. Residency monitoring | 37 |
| XI. Remedy for unintentional breach by the District | 38 |
| Article 7 Leaves | 38 |
| I. Health-related leaves | 38 |
| II. Leaves for other purposes. | 44 |
| III. Prorating of leaves for part-time bargaining unit employees | 48 |
| IV. Return from leaves | 48 |

| V. Certification, verification, and unauthorized leave | 50 |
|--|------------------|
| VI. Prohibition of other employment while on leave | 50 |
| Article 8 Transfers | 50 |
| I. District-wide posting of vacancies | 50 |
| II. Voluntary transfer | 51 |
| III. Involuntary transfer | 51 |
| IV. Criteria for filling vacancies | 52 |
| V. Multiple vacancies | 53 |
| VI. Notice to affected parties | 53 |
| VII. Limit on frequency of transfer | 53 |
| VIII. Option to leave employment or seek further transfer | 53 |
| IX. Involuntary transfer for compelling circumstances | 53 |
| X. School closure | 54 |
| XI. Substitute pool | 54 |
| Article 9 Bargaining unit employees not in classroom teaching | positions55 |
| II. Psychologists | 56 |
| III. School Nurse Consultant | 56 |
| IV: Bargaining unit employees within this article | 56 |
| Article 10 Part-time bargaining unit employees | 56 |
| I. In general | 56 |
| II. Duties | 58 |
| III. Benefits and compensation | 58 |
| IV. Return to full-time status | 58 |
| V. Part-time employment with full-time retirement benefits (Willie B | <i>(rown)</i> 59 |
| Article 11 Curricular leadership positions | 60 |
| I. Oversight committee, PLATE | 60 |
| II. PLCs and Team Leads | 61 |
| III. Curriculum Leads | 61 |
| IV. New Teacher Mentors | 61 |
| V. Department Leads | 62 |
| Article 12 Workplace safety | 64 |
| I. Compliance with regulations and safety codes | 64 |

| | II. Assault on bargaining unit employees | 64 |
|---|---|-----|
| | III. Unsafe conditions | 65 |
| | IV. CPR program | 65 |
| A | Article 13 Evaluation and discipline | 65 |
| | I. General principles | 65 |
| | II. Timing and calendar considerations | 65 |
| | III. Standards for evaluation | 65 |
| | IV. Annual conference | 68 |
| | V. Alternative process | 68 |
| | VI. Standard evaluation details | 68 |
| | VII. Less than satisfactory evaluations | 75 |
| | VIII. Summary evaluation | 75 |
| | IX. Written reports | 76 |
| | X. Mitigating circumstances | 93 |
| | XI. Data for evaluation – limits | 93 |
| | XII. Self assessment – warning of liability | 93 |
| | XIII. Rating system | 93 |
| | XIV. Grievability | 93 |
| | XV. Complaints | 93 |
| | XVI. Discipline procedures | 94 |
| A | Article 14 Compensation | 95 |
| | I. Revenue share allocation process | 95 |
| | II. Contingency re-opener | 103 |
| | III. Hourly rate | 107 |
| | V. Paid co-curricular duties | 116 |
| | VI. Per diem rate | 120 |
| | VII. Summer school rate of pay | 120 |
| | VIII. Payday | 120 |
| | IX. Supplemental pay | 121 |
| | X. Additional teaching competency stipend | 121 |
| | XI. Areas of High Need | 121 |
| | XII. Mileage and travel stipends | 122 |

| XIII. Heal | th and welfare benefits | 122 |
|--------------|-----------------------------------|-----|
| XIV. Men | nber property coverage | 124 |
| Article 15 | Retirement | 124 |
| I. Eligibili | ty | 124 |
| II. Health | benefits | 125 |
| III. Recrui | ting and hiring retirees | 126 |
| Article 16 | Grievances | 128 |
| I. Level I. | | 128 |
| II. Level I | I | 129 |
| III. Level | III | 130 |
| IV. Genera | al provisions | 131 |
| Article 17 | Negotiations | 132 |
| I. Continu | ing discussions | 132 |
| II. Particip | pants for the parties | 132 |
| III. Releas | e for FEA President | 133 |
| IV. Releas | se time for negotiators | 133 |
| V. Summe | er negotiations | 133 |
| VI. Sched | ule for formal steps | 133 |
| Article 18 | Waivers | 134 |
| I. Submiss | ion process | 134 |
| II. Renewa | als | 135 |
| III. Waive | r termination | 135 |
| IV. Modif | ications | 135 |
| V. Grieva | nces | 135 |
| VI. Incorp | oration into and impact on CBA | 136 |
| Article 19 | Middle College | 136 |
| I. Assignn | nent of bargaining unit employees | 136 |
| II. Adjustr | ment to duties | 136 |
| Article 20 | Summer academy | 137 |
| I. Selection | n process | 137 |
| II. Summe | r calendar | 137 |
| III. Class | size | 137 |

| Article 21 | Faculty advisory committees | 137 |
|-------------|---|-----|
| Article 22 | Staff development days | 138 |
| I. Offerin | gs subject to available funding | 138 |
| II. Compe | ensation | 138 |
| III. No in | npact on evaluation | 138 |
| Article 23 | Calendars and schedules | 138 |
| I. Calenda | ars | 138 |
| I. Bell sch | nedules | 140 |
| Article 24 | School closure | 141 |
| I. Guiding | g philosophy | 141 |
| II. Proced | lures | 141 |
| Article 25 | Glossary of terms | 142 |
| Article 26 | Summary of consultation obligations | 143 |
| I. Consult | tation required in general | 144 |
| II. Consu | ltation required when an issue arises | 144 |
| III. Consu | ultation required each semester: | 144 |
| IV. Consu | ultation required annually | 144 |
| V. Consu | ltation required annually, by 40 th day | 144 |
| VI. Consu | ultation required annually, prior to Jan 1 | 144 |
| VII. Cons | sultation required annually, in the Spring | 144 |
| Article 27 | Effective dates, integration, modification, severability, distribution. | 145 |
| I. Effectiv | ve dates of this CBA | 145 |
| II. Integra | ntion | 145 |
| III. Modi | fications | 145 |
| IV. No w | aiver through inaction | 145 |
| V. Severa | bility of terms | 145 |
| VI. Section | on titles | 145 |
| VII. Distr | ibution | 145 |
| VIII. Arc | hiving and updating | 145 |
| IX. Execu | ation | 146 |

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Article 1 Parties, purpose, and recognition of bargaining unit

I. Parties

The parties to this collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") are the Board of Trustees of the Fremont Union High School District ("the District") and the Fremont Education Association, an affiliate of the California Teachers Association ("CTA") and the National Education Association ("FEA").

II. Purpose

This CBA is intended to govern the relationship between the District, in its role as employer, and FEA, in its role representing the members of an employee bargaining unit.

III. Composition of the bargaining unit

The bargaining unit represented by FEA shall include all full- and part-time certificated employees who serve during the normal school year as classroom teachers or as allied professionals (including school counselors library media teachers, speech language pathologists, school nurse consultant, and school psychologists), unless otherwise explicitly excluded by this CBA. Certificated management, confidential, and supervisory personnel are specifically excluded. Employment by the District or any affiliated entity in one of the following roles, by itself, shall not qualify an employee as a bargaining unit employee; however, an employee who otherwise qualifies as a bargaining unit employee does not lose that status by taking on one of these roles as an additional duty: substitute teacher, home teacher, adult education teacher, adult or community education assistant, campus recreation personnel, tutor or tutoring service personnel, summer school teacher, coach, curriculum writer, or workshop participant.

IV. Exclusive representation

The District hereby recognizes FEA as the exclusive representative of the bargaining unit for negotiations and contracting, and for purposes of federal and state labor law, including without limitation California Government Code §§ 3540 - 3549.3.

V. Individual contracts

It is the intent of the parties that employer-employee relations for all bargaining unit employees be governed by this CBA, and not by individual contracts. In the event that an individual contract is or becomes necessary between any bargaining unit employee and the District, such individual contract shall be subordinate to this CBA and fully subject to all terms and conditions in this CBA. If any provision in an individual contract is inconsistent with the terms of this CBA, the terms of this CBA shall be controlling.

Article 2 District powers and rights

I. General reservation

The District reserves and retains all powers, rights, authorities, duties and responsibilities conferred upon or vested in it by law that are not inconsistent with this CBA. In exercising its lawful powers, in adopting policies, rules, regulations, and practices, and in using its judgment and discretion, the District shall be limited only by terms of this CBA

and by applicable law.

II. Specific reservations

The District retains specific rights including but not limited to the following:

- A. to determine and administer policy;
- B. subject to law, to hire all employees, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, or their dismissal or demotion, and to promote employees;
- C. to determine the number and kinds of personnel necessary for the efficient operation of the District and to direct their activities;
- D. to determine the curriculum, in consultation with FEA;
- E. to build, move or modify the facilities;
- F. to develop and administer the budget;
- G. to determine the methods of raising revenue;
- H. to contract out work consistent with this CBA and legal requirements;
- I. to take action on any matter in the event of an emergency; and
- J. to delegate to the Superintendent and other legally appointed officers the operation of the schools, the management and administrative control of the school system, its properties and facilities, including, but not limited to innovative and experimental exploration in the field of education, and experimental and pilot investigation of new education programs.

Article 3 FEA powers and rights

I. Reserved powers

Nothing in this CBA shall preclude FEA from pursuing any legal remedies regarding the composition of the bargaining unit. FEA is the sole determiner of its dues and its dues/service fee structure.

II. Right to collection of dues by the District from FEA members

FEA shall submit to the District in writing the full name of employees who have either newly authorized dues deductions or revoked their dues deduction authorization. When providing the above information, FEA will provide it to the District's Human Resources Director. The District shall deduct, in accordance with the FEA dues schedule, dues from the wages of all employees who are members of FEA. The District shall not be obligated to put into effect any new or changed deductions/revocations until the following month's pay period after such submission. based on the information provided by FEA. FEA shall have the sole and exclusive right to receive the payroll deduction for

regular membership dues.

Pursuant to such authorization, the District shall deduct one-tenth of such dues from the regular salary check of the bargaining unit employee each month for ten months. Deductions for bargaining unit employees who become members of FEA sign such authorization after the commencement of the school year shall be appropriately prorated to complete full payment by the end of the school year.

FEA shall not be required to submit to the District a copy of the unit member's written authorization, unless a dispute arises about the existence or terms of the written authorization. In the event a dispute arises, the District may request that the written authorization be provided to it.

III. Provision of Information

FEA agrees to furnish in a timely manner any information needed by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Article.

IV. Hold Harmless and Indemnification.

FEA shall indemnify, defend and hold the District harmless from any and all claims, demands, or suits, or any other action arising out of or in connection with this Article of the Agreement, including, but not limited to, the District's dues deductions made in reliance on the Union's certified list provided to the District pursuant to this Article.

No bargaining unit employee shall commence, maintain, or prosecute any action, or otherwise assert any claim whatsoever against the District, its Board of Trustees, its officers, employees, or agents, individually or collectively, in their official or individual capacities, for damages or loss of any kind, nature, or amount whatsoever, based on, arising out of, or in connection with the provisions contained herein.

V. Forwarding of collected fees and dues

The District agrees to remit promptly to FEA all monies collected in accordance with this Article accompanied by an alphabetical list of bargaining unit employees for whom such deductions have been made, categorizing them as to membership or non-membership in FEA, and indicating any changes in personnel from the list previously furnished.

VI. Grievance-Arbitration Provisions

Sections I through V of this Article is not subject to the grievance-arbitration provisions of the Agreement.

VII. Determination of courses offered

FEA may consult on the determination of the contents of courses and curriculum for the regular school term, with final determination of what courses are offered at each school to be made by the District.

VIII. Accommodations

FEA agrees to furnish any information needed by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Article. FEA shall indemnify and hold harmless the District against any and all loss

because of civil or other action resulting from administration and implementation of this Article. Should the District choose to employ its own counsel in addition to that provided by FEA, such counsel shall be at the District's expense.

Article 4 The Bargaining Unit Employee rights

I. Academic freedom

Academic freedom shall be guaranteed to the bargaining unit employees with teaching assignments in the study, investigation, presentation, and interpretation of any facts and/or ideas concerning people, human society, the physical and biological world, and other branches of learning subject to accepted standards of professional responsibility with due regard to the maturity level of the student, District rules and policies, and the laws of the State of California.

II. Personal freedom

The District is not concerned with the private life of any the bargaining unit employee, unless it prevents the bargaining unit employee from performing assigned duties. With respect to the bargaining unit employee's professional employment, the bargaining unit employee is entitled to full constitutional rights of citizenship, and the bargaining unit employee's religious or political activities are not grounds for discipline or discrimination as long as the bargaining unit employee does not violate any local, state, or federal law.

III. FEA representation

The District recognizes FEA's legal right to have a representative present at the request of the bargaining unit employee in certain circumstances including those specified in this CBA. FEA agrees that it will attempt to accommodate individual the bargaining unit employee requests for representation in an expeditious manner. If it is determined that a delay must be requested, such delay shall not exceed twenty-four hours or one full duty day. In addition, the District shall not be required to grant any additional release time pursuant to this section.

IV. Intellectual property

A. Copyrights

The District asserts no claim to works of authorship not directly connected to the bargaining unit employee's employment by the District. Moreover, copyright in any work of authorship in any medium created by the bargaining unit employee during the course of their ordinary duties while employed by the District shall be presumed to belong to the bargaining unit employee, except as specifically set forth in this section. In particular, copyright in any classroom and curriculum materials authored by a teacher shall remain the property of the teacher. In the event that a specific assignment is given to a the bargaining unit employee or group of the bargaining unit employees for the development of copyrightable materials, where such assignment is under the direct supervision and control of a District administrator, and where the District provides specific funding or resources to support work on that assignment (such as direct funding, access to facilities, materials, or release time from ordinary duties), the District may assert authorship and copyright ownership as a "work for hire" under federal copyright law, provided that before work on such assignment begins the District first

obtains a written acknowledgment from the bargaining unit employees involved that the District intends to claim such authorship. Nothing in this section shall obligate a bargaining unit employee to accept such specific assignment.

B. Patents

The District and FEA both hereby acknowledge that bargaining unit employees are not hired for purposes of conducting research and development toward patentable inventions in the course of their ordinary duties. Accordingly, no general obligation to assign patent rights arising from performance of those duties shall be asserted by the District, and in particular, no bargaining unit employee shall be obligated to assign any invention that qualifies fully under Labor Code §§ 2870 - 2872. In the event that a potentially patentable invention is made by a bargaining unit employee or employees in the course of work on a specific assignment, outside the ordinary duties of the bargaining unit employee, while under the direct supervision and control of a District administrator, and where the District provides specific funding or resources to support work on that assignment (such as direct funding, access to facilities, materials, or release time from ordinary duties), the District may in its discretion require assignment to it by the inventor(s) of all right, title, and interest in such invention. If after timely disclosure to the District by the inventor(s) of an invention so made, the District elects not to require assignment; it will expeditiously inform the inventor(s) who may apply for patent rights for their own benefit and at their own expense. Nothing in this section shall obligate a bargaining unit employee to accept such specific assignment.

V. Student grade changes

No student's grade shall be changed without the prior approval of the bargaining unit employee who issued the grade unless:

A. The grade is the result of clerical or mechanical mistake, fraud, bad faith, or incompetence. The bargaining unit employee who determined such grade shall, to the extent practicable, be given an opportunity to state orally, in writing, or both, the reasons for which such grade was given and shall be, to the extent practicable, included in all discussions relating to the changing of such grade. A copy of all grade changes shall be returned to the bargaining unit employee who initially issued the grade.

-OR-

B. The District determines that a grade given by a former employee is due to clerical or mechanical mistake, fraud, bad faith, or incompetence. The District may change such grade without regard to Section V.A. above.

VI. Recording devices

No mechanical or electronic device will be used in any classroom to listen to, view, photograph, film, televise, video, or otherwise record or transmit the proceedings in the class without the knowledge and consent of the bargaining unit employee involved, nor shall the District authorize the use of such device. The parties recognize and agree that

electronic recording devices may be required and used in order to assist hearing-impaired students or students with perceptual and/or physical disabilities and that the audio security system may be tested at any time. In such cases, the regularly assigned bargaining unit employee involved shall be informed of such uses prior to the implementation of the use of the device as is reasonable and practicable. Such devices shall not be used in the evaluation procedures set forth in this CBA.

VII. Classroom para-educators and volunteer assistants

The District shall not assign a para-educator or volunteer assistant to any classroom without first consulting with the affected bargaining unit employee. Any such assignment shall be in accordance with the following provisions:

- A. Within the constraints of the job description of the para-educator or volunteer assistant, the classroom duties to be performed by any para-educator or volunteer assistant shall be developed in conjunction with the bargaining unit employee, the para-educator or volunteer assistant, and Principal/designee.
- B. The District shall supply available background data (such as interests, talents, and education) of a para-educator or volunteer assistant to the bargaining unit employee responsible for the classroom.
- C. A bargaining unit employee shall be entitled to request the removal of a paraeducator or volunteer assistant from that member's classroom if such bargaining unit employee alleges that the paraeducator or volunteer assistant is interfering with the bargaining unit employee's performance or is not performing services satisfactorily. The District recognizes an obligation to respond to such a request within reasonable and legal time requirements.

VIII. Parental classroom visits

Parental requests to visit a specific class taught by a bargaining unit employee shall only be granted according to the following provisions:

- A. A parent requesting to visit a specific class shall initially report to the Principal or designee prior to visiting the class. At that time, the Principal or designee shall ascertain the purpose of the parent's visit.
- B. The Principal or designee shall notify the teacher of the parent's request and the purpose of the visit.
- C. Prior to any visit, the parent shall be required to sign a register upon which he/she shall record the name of the teacher to be visited. Such register shall also include a citation from Education Code §§ 44811concerning the parent's duty not to disrupt classes.
- D. The Principal or designee in consultation with the bargaining unit employee shall schedule the visit so as to minimize the disruption of classroom activities, consistent with the parent's schedule.

- E. Consistent with this Article, appropriate rules and regulations for parent visits may be developed by the Principal, and if so developed, shall be available to bargaining unit employees.
- F. The procedures described in this section shall not apply to school visits by groups authorized by the Principal (such as accreditation observers, representatives of foreign educational institutions, and the like) conducting general visits not directed at a specific bargaining unit employee's classes, except that the Principal/designee shall attempt to notify the appropriate bargaining unit employees in advance of such group visits.

IX. Personnel files

- A. The District Human Resources office shall establish and maintain file(s) for each bargaining unit employee. The file(s) shall be the official district repository for material in the following categories:
 - 1. Materials associated with initial employment, such as applications, transcripts, and/or placement file(s).
 - 2. Materials necessary for and resulting from a bargaining unit employee's employment in the District, such as credentials and payroll, assignment, promotion, transfer, performance evaluation, commendations, and recommendations.
 - 3. Transcripts of training and letters of verification of previous employment shall be made available by each bargaining unit employee for the Human Resources files as soon as possible after employment. Further, it is the responsibility of the bargaining unit employee to keep their file up to date as far as credits for further training after employment in the District are concerned. The District shall take such precautions as necessary to provide for the physical security of these records.
- B. Each bargaining unit employee shall possess the following rights with reference to their official personnel file established and maintained in the Human Resources Department at the District Office and any work site file at the local campus:
 - 1. The District shall observe and enforce strict confidentiality of the personnel file(s), whether kept at the District Office or at the work site campus. Access to and use of the contents of the file(s) shall be limited exclusively to those persons with a legitimate administrative need for such data. This obligation of confidentiality shall survive termination of employment and continue for as long as the file is maintained. The District will ensure secure destruction for any file(s) of former bargaining unit employees that it chooses to discard.
 - 2. Each bargaining unit employee has the right to have the file contents disclosed to them, excepting only ineligible contents. Ineligible contents are only those materials received in confidence by the District from

outside sources prior to hiring of the bargaining unit employee (which may include, for example, any confidential letters of reference), and those confidential materials generated by the District in the pre-employment interviewing and screening process (such as notes made by District interviewers regarding candidates). Examination of the files shall take place in the presence of an administrator at a time that does not interfere with the bargaining unit employee's assigned duties. The bargaining unit employee has the right to have copies of the examined contents made available to them. A reasonable fee may be charged for more than one copy of materials provided. A bargaining unit employee shall have the right to authorize in writing a representative to examine the bargaining unit employee's file(s) in the Human Resources office at the District Office and the work site file and to obtain copies to the same extent that the bargaining unit employee could do so in person. The bargaining unit employee will hold the District blameless in the case of misrepresentation as to such written authorization.

3. After hiring, information of a derogatory nature shall not be entered or filed, unless or until the bargaining unit employee is given notice and an opportunity to review and comment thereon. A bargaining unit employee shall have the right to enter and have attached to any such derogatory statement their own comments thereon. Such review shall take place during normal business hours, and the bargaining unit employee shall be released from duty for this purpose without salary reduction.

X. Student suspension

Pursuant to Education Code § 48910, a bargaining unit employee may suspend any pupil from their class for any of the acts enumerated in § 48900 for the day of the suspension and the day following. The bargaining unit employee shall immediately report the suspension to the Principal and send the pupil to the Principal/designee for appropriate action. As soon as possible, the bargaining unit employee shall ask the parent or guardian of the pupil to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension. A school administrator shall attend the conference if the bargaining unit employee or parent/guardian so requests. The pupil shall not be returned to the class from which he/she was suspended during the period of the suspension without the concurrence of the member and the Principal.

XI. Response to complaints

Bargaining unit employees are entitled to confront any complainant for any matter that may have an adverse effect on evaluation, as set forth more fully in Article 13 section XV below.

Article 5 Bargaining Unit Employee duties

I. Length of school year

The school year for all bargaining unit employees, except for Lead Resource Specialists, New Teacher Mentors, and School Counselors, shall be one hundred eighty-five (185) duty days, including one hundred eighty teaching days. Lunch will be provided for

bargaining unit employees on at least one day during the opening three days, and bargaining unit employees will be assured of at least eight (8) hours of duty time within that same week reserved solely for individual classroom preparation, completely free of encroachment by any form of meeting obligation from any district, site, department, professional learning community, or other school entity source. In addition, at least three hours of collaboration time that members shall use for course-alike/PLC collaboration shall be provided over the course of these first three days.

A. Should an emergency condition arise which would reduce the number of teaching days to fewer than one hundred eighty or reduce the number of minutes below the minimum required by the State, bargaining unit employees shall make up the teaching day(s) and/or teaching time missed at no additional cost to the District. The scheduling of such additional day(s) or time shall be agreed to by FEA and the District.

II. Length of day

The duty day for all bargaining unit employees for all schedules shall not exceed a continuous four hundred fifty minutes period of time, or the equivalent when averaged over ten school days. This period of time shall be scheduled by the administration between 7 a.m. and 5 p.m. Classroom teachers are expected to be present during all instructional periods, unless other arrangements have been made as set forth below. The duty day shall include a duty-free lunch of no fewer than forty minutes and a duty-free brunch of no fewer than fifteen minutes unless modified by agreement between the Principal and the site representative.

- A. Individual requests for permission to arrive late or leave early may be granted by the Principal/designee with agreement on the scheduling of makeup time.
- B. The Principal/designee may release a bargaining unit employee to attend a conference, meeting, or other such activity. Bargaining unit employees may not be required, but may volunteer when requested, to cover assignments of bargaining unit employees who have been released to attend such activities. Such voluntary coverage shall be compensated for in accordance with appropriate provisions of Article 14 and section V below.
- C. The Principal shall provide a method of daily check-in and check-out at each school.
- D. Individual bargaining unit employees and the Principal/designee may agree to modify the established daily duty schedule of the bargaining unit employee. The Principal/designee shall notify FEA of each such agreement and its terms.

III. Full-time status

The following provisions shall be used to determine whether a duty assignment constitutes full-time service.

A. Bargaining unit employees in general education programs

1. Conventional schedule

Full-time teachers shall teach five periods per day or five periods per day when averaged over a school year. Regardless of the class schedule in use at a site, a full-time commitment shall not exceed two hundred fifty-five minutes of class time per day or two hundred fifty-five minutes per day averaged over a school year.

2. Six - Four option

Bargaining unit employees may volunteer to teach six periods during the fall semester without additional compensation and teach four periods during the spring semester without any loss in compensation. Such arrangements must be agreed between the bargaining unit employee and the local site administration. For those bargaining unit employees who work under this option, the practices of Article 10 regarding scheduling, duties, and obligations of part-time teachers shall apply during the spring semester. Should the bargaining unit employee and the administration agree that the bargaining unit employee should teach an additional class in the spring semester, that is, teach five instead of four, the bargaining unit employee shall receive additional compensation at the rate of 1/5 per diem of the bargaining unit employee's rate.

B. Bargaining unit employees in Special Education programs

1. Specialized Academic Instruction

a. Special Day Class subject matter teacher
Full time status shall be deemed to be a teaching load of five
classes of Specialized Academic Instruction (SAI), assessments for
triennials, writing, scheduling and facilitating annual, triennial and
amendment IEPs with a special education student case
management load not to exceed 16 students.

A teaching load of four classes of Specialized Academic Instruction, assessments for initials and triennials, writing, scheduling, and facilitating initial, triennial, annual and amendment IEPs with a special education student case management not to exceed 28 students.

For sites/programs with an IEP Teacher Specialist:

- a. A teaching load of five classes of Specialized Academic Instruction, facilitating annual/triennial IEPs, and writing, scheduling and facilitating amendment IEPs with a special education student case management load not to exceed 18 - 20 students.
- b. A teaching load of four classes of Specialized Academic Instruction, facilitating initial, annual, triennial IEPs, and writing,

scheduling and facilitating amendment IEPs with a special education student case management load not to exceed 28 students.

c. Variations

Any variation from the standards described in sections 1a through 1d above may be permitted only after consultation with and the agreement of FEA. To assist in determining the proper FTE equivalent, the following guidelines are provided for consistency:

- Teach 4 classes with case load 22 28, 1.0 FTE
- Teach 5 classes with case load under 17, 1.0 FTE
- Teach 4 classes with case load under 17, 0.8 FTE
- Teach 3 classes with case load 17 21, 0.8 FTE
- Teach 3 classes with case load under 17, 0.6 FTE
- 2. Full time status in the Voyager, Therapeutic Elective, and Academic Communication programs shall be deemed to be a teaching load of four classes, with a special education case management load not to exceed 17. These positions also include assessment for triennials, writing, scheduling, and facilitating annual, triennial, and amendment IEPs.
- 3. Full time status in Independent Study and Educational Options Resource programs shall include a special education student caseload not to exceed 16 if teaching five sections of Specialized Academic Instruction and 28 if teaching four sections of Specialized Academic Instruction. These positions include assessment for initials, triennials, writing, schedule, and facilitating initial, annual, triennial, and amendment IEPs.
- 4. Full time status for teachers in Academic Community Transition (ACT) shall include a teaching load of five classes, with a special education student caseload not to exceed 14. These positions include assessment for triennials, writing, scheduling, facilitating initial, annual, triennial, and amendment IEPs. Teachers are also responsible for coordination of related service providers and community based instruction activities. Extended school year duties that are required for ACT programs by law will be paid at the FEA member's per diem rate based on salary schedule placement.

a. Variations

Any variation from the standards described in sections 1a. and 1b. above may be permitted only after consultation with and the agreement of FEA. To assist in determining the proper FTE equivalent, the following guidelines are provided for consistency:

- Teach 4 classes with case load 17 or more, 1.0 FTE
- Teach 5 classes with case load under 17, 1.0 FTE
- Teach 4 classes with case load under 17, 0.8 FTE
- Teach 3 classes with case load 17 or more, 0.8 FTE

• Teach 3 classes with case load under 17, 0.6 FTE

5. Designated program teacher

Full time status in the Voyager and Academic Communication programs shall be deemed to be a teaching load of four classes, with a special education case management load not to exceed 17.

6. Independent study teacher

Full time status in independent study programs (such as Horizons) shall include a special education student case load not to exceed 16.

7. Post-secondary programs

Full time status for teachers in post-secondary programs shall include a special education student case load not to exceed 16. Extended school year duties that are required by law for these programs will be paid at the member's per diem rate based on salary schedule placement.

8. Lead Resource Specialist

a. Site-specific determination

A Lead Resource Specialist must be a full time bargaining unit employee. However, in light of the wide variation in number of students served, nature of the population served, other conditions unique to a particular site, and a need for equity in duty assignments for all Lead Resource Specialists, variation from site to site is expected as to the number of classes taught and the number of periods provided for other duties. To address these variations, the District shall consult with FEA annually in the Spring regarding the needs anticipated at each site for the coming year for the lead position, and the number of classes to be taught and the number of periods for other duties assigned to each Lead Resource Specialist, with the aim of reaching agreement in time for the creation of site staffing plans and master schedules. Depending upon site characteristics, a typical expectation could be that a Lead Resource Specialist will teach two periods, and will devote three periods to other non-classroom special education duties, including one period for case management of up to 12 students. Variations could include, for example, teaching one therapeutic learning skills class with four periods provided for other duties. If the needs at any site in any given year appear to require five or more periods for non-classroom teaching duties, appointment of two Lead Resource Specialists to share those duties while each continues to teach at least one class is preferred over an assignment to a sole bargaining unit employee with no teaching component in the duty assignment. Below is an example of a typical Lead Resource Specialist teaching load/release period assignment; however, consideration needs to be given to the needs

of the students in classes taught, such as therapeutic elective, and programs and services available at each particular site.

| Program Size | LRS Teaching Periods One LRS | LRS Release Periods One LRS | LRS Teaching Periods Two LRS | LRS Release Periods Two LRS |
|-----------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Up to 69 | 3 | 2 | N/A | N/A |
| 70 - 139 | 2 | 3 | N/A | N/A |
| 140 - 200 | 1 | 4 | 3 | 2 |
| 201 - 260 | 1 | 4 | 2 | 3 |
| 261+ | 1 | 4 | 1 | 4 |

b. Restriction on teaching a "sixth" class

Absent consultation and agreement with FEA, Lead Resource Specialists shall not undertake an additional teaching load in accordance with Article 14 IV D or another duty leading to more than 1.0 FTE status. No stipend is provided for service as a Lead Resource Specialist.

c. No supervisory or evaluation duty

While they are responsible for working with administration on the course schedule, teacher assignments and para educator placements, the Lead Resource Specialists shall not evaluate or supervise other bargaining unit employees. Administrators may rely on feedback from the Lead Resource Specialist as part of the evaluation process.

d. Appointment by District

Lead Resource Specialists shall be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the District, with no fixed term of service or term limits, but each position will be reviewed at least every three years. Review and selection shall follow the procedure set forth for Department Leads in Article 11 below. Positions shall be reviewed according to the following matrix:

| School/Program | Posting Year |
|------------------|--------------|
| Cupertino | 2025 |
| Fremont | 2026 |
| Homestead | 2026 |
| Lynbrook | 2024 |
| Lynbrook Voyager | 2026 |
| Monta Vista | 2024 |

9. IEP Teacher Specialist

a. A member identified in the Special Education Department as the "IEP Teacher" will take primary responsibility for the coordination of IEP meeting scheduling, assessment, paperwork, and timeline compliance for students receiving special education services who are not in a specialized program (i.e., AC, TEC, ACT, Voyager). Release time for this position will be allocated based on the number of IEPs anticipated, including initial assessments.

| 2 period release | 3 period release | 4 period release | 5 period release |
|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| 29-48 | 49-68 | 69-88 | 89 - 99 |

b. District IEP teachers shall be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the District, with no fixed term of service or term limits, but each position will be reviewed at least every three years.

| School/Program | Posting Year |
|----------------|--------------|
| Cupertino | 2026 |
| Fremont | 2025 |
| Homestead | 2025 |
| Lynbrook | 2026 |
| Monta Vista | 2026 |

c. IEP Teacher duties include

• All IEP related duties (i.e., Annuals/Triennials/Initials IEP meetings, documentation, communication, etc.) for a maximum of 99 students, if not teaching one section, or a maximum of 88 students if teaching one section.

- Assist in IEP meetings by summarizing the meeting in IEP Notes, as the Case Manager facilitates the IEP meeting.
- Collaboration with general and special education teachers for annual/triennial goal development and updates.
- School site IEP compliance for students on caseload (responsible for coordinating and finalizing all IEPs). Follow up with the Special Education Secretary for IEP paperwork completion and any follow-up as necessary to complete the signature process before finalization.
- Scheduling and completing all academic assessments for initials and triennials.
- The IEP Teacher may lead the ADR process, as needed for complex cases.

IV. Learning Management System

Due to the increased need for students and their families/guardians to have streamlined online access to District course materials and academic progress indicators, all bargaining unit employees shall use the District-provided Learning Management System (LMS) to post a syllabus for each course taught, grades, and maintain a gradebook consisting of the assignments that contribute to the grades Should a bargaining unit employee believe they have a valid reason for *not* using the District-provided LMS, they may raise their concern to their site Principal prior to the start of the student school year calendar. The Principal shall have the sole discretion in determining whether the member's concerns warrant excusal/deferment from the basic minimum LMS requirements.

V. Advisories

Bargaining unit employees who are full-time teachers shall have (3) three (35 minutes on Wednesday and Friday; 25 minute on Mondays) tutorial periods per week for student centered educational support activities. Bargaining unit employees are expected to use Tutorial time for student support tasks such as those set forth below unless otherwise agreed by the bargaining unit employee and Principal/designee.

Examples of Student-Centered Support Activities

- Optional student lessons review and/or supplementation.
- Revision and redemption opportunities
- Student technology support
- Stress management/social emotional activities
- A. The district shall limit the use of advisory to no more than 8 events where the FEA bargaining unit employee is expected to deliver an activity designed to promote social emotional learning/wellness of our students (as opposed to core

subject matter). These Advisories shall not take place in the month of December nor May. Advisory may not take place more than once a month.

- a. There are times in which closed tutorial is used to administer a survey, do Code Red/Run, Hide, Defend activities, administer zero tolerance policy rules to students etc. These activities shall not be counted against the max number of 8. However, an FEA representative shall be consulted prior to engaging such a provision.
- b. If a closed tutorial system is designed where more frequent interaction with students is purported to be more effective as opposed to the "no more than 8" rule, a mutually agreed-upon balloting process between FEA and the Site Administration shall be used to determine whether the "no more than 8" shall be waived.
- B. It is recognized that some of the topics surrounding social emotional learning and equity can be unfamiliar and challenging for staff to teach. Instructional support shall be provided in order to boost the competency and comfort level of teachers who desire such assistance. Note: this is <u>not</u> intended to be an opt out clause. Just because race issues, gender issues, sexuality issues are not necessarily comfortable issues for many of us to raise, that does not make it okay to refuse to engage in them in perpetuity.
- C. As a default, students in the above-referenced tutorial sessions shall be connected to one of the other classes that the teacher already teaches. However, should the majority of unit members agree that a different arrangement makes more sense than the will of the majority shall honored. As with Parameter 1, such different arrangement votes shall be subject to FEA consultation and approval of form and process.

Illustrative example: A school site may feel that it is better for all staff as well as more effective for students to have a different environment than one of their regular classroom environments. So a school site may propose that all bargaining unit employees, even those who have a prep period just prior to the closed tutorial, or bargaining unit employees not in teaching assignments, should be part of this schoolwide endeavor designed to benefit students. Should a majority of bargaining unit employees agree with that permutation, then that will be allowed.

D. The use of these closed tutorials are not designed to create an additional subject matter class for any bargaining unit employee.

Illustrative Example: Suppose there are 15 or 20 students who need to retake Algebra 2 in order to become college eligible. The closed tutorial shall not be used to involuntarily assign a teacher this additional group of students to support their work on ALEKS (computer based math course).

VI. ERAP preparation periods

Bargaining unit employees who are full-time teachers shall have ten periods per week or the equivalent set aside exclusively for Educationally Related Activity Periods (ERAP). Bargaining unit employees are expected to use ERAP time for professional tasks such as those set forth below unless otherwise agreed by the bargaining unit employee and Principal/designee. ERAPs need not be equal in length; however, they shall last the entire time for the scheduled period. Non-teaching bargaining unit employees shall not receive an ERAP.

- A. Examples of Educationally Related Activities
 - Preparing instructional lessons and assessment
 - Grading assignments/tests
 - Assisting colleagues who request help
 - Developing/monitoring curriculum team planning
 - Meeting with student leaders/activities on an ad hoc basis
 - Tutoring on an ad hoc basis
 - Advising students on an ad hoc basis
 - Holding conferences with parents and students
 - Making contacts/conferences with parents
 - Working on agreed special projects
 - Performing departmental duties
 - Completing credential requirements/ professional objectives
 - Completing paperwork such as letters of recommendation and referrals
 - Academic and Athletic Coaching

VII. Using ERAP for substitute coverage

- A. Day to Day Coverage: Bargaining unit employees with a teaching assignment may be required to provide substitute coverage during their ERAP time in emergency situations. Compensation for such emergency nearest tenth of an hour. Teachers shall not be required to provide coverage during their ERAP time for non-emergency situations (for example, statewide testing and/or co-curricular activities), but may volunteer for such duty at the same compensation as for emergency coverage. When requested by the administration, a bargaining unit employee may agree to use ERAP time to cover a study hall/tutorial, mentor students, or other activities, at the same compensation rate.
- B. Long Term Coverage: A teacher using an ERAP period to plan lessons for, teach, and assess students in a section additional to their original assignment for a period of 16 consecutive duty days or more shall be considered a "Long-Term Substitute" for the section.

Teachers in Long-Term Substitute positions shall be granted an additional 0.2 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) status once they qualify for such designation. The District will compensate such teachers by paying them an additional 0.2 FTE units based on their placement on the salary schedule. Compensation shall be accrued per diem and shall be paid retroactively to the first duty day on which the additional section was

- assigned to the bargaining unit employee. Any compensation already paid to the bargaining unit employee as a Medium-Term Substitute will be deducted from the retroactive pay referenced in this section.
- C. Medium Term Coverage: A teacher using an ERAP period to plan lessons for, teach, and assess students in a section additional to their original assignment for a period of 15 consecutive duty days or fewer shall be considered a "Medium-Term Substitute" for that section.
 - Teachers in Medium-Term Substitute positions shall be compensated at the current hourly rate, currently at \$54 per hour, for hours actually spent teaching students. Bargaining unit employees shall not be eligible to elect to receive compensatory time in lieu of hourly payment. Medium-Term Substitutes shall also be entitled to additional compensation of no more than three-fifths of an hour per duty day at the current hourly rate for planning lessons and assessing student work. It is the Medium-Term Substitute's responsibility to claim the up to additional three-fifths of an hour on a timesheet. Timesheets for Medium-Term Substitute hourly work must be submitted within 30 calendar days of the completion of the medium-term substitute assignment. Failure to timely submit the timesheet shall constitute forfeiture of this additional three-fifths per hour lesson planning and assessment pay.
- D. Option to receive compensatory time in lieu of payment: Subject to the provisions of Article 7 regarding Category P-3 personal necessity leave and subsection (3) below, a bargaining unit employee may elect to receive compensatory time for coverage day-to day during ERAP time as described in section A above. However, at the beginning of each academic year, each bargaining unit employee must elect whether to receive hourly pay or compensatory time as their preferred method of compensation for class coverage, and that choice will be binding for the full academic year.
 - 1. Compensatory time shall be accrued on a one-year basis. Bargaining unit employees may elect to utilize compensatory time off from duty during the semester; however, a full day of accrued compensatory time will not be granted for use on Fridays without prior approval of the Principal.
 - 2. Bargaining unit employees will receive one (1) credit for each single block period assignment (45 minutes), and two (2) credits for each double block period assignment (90 minutes or more), with five (5) credits necessary for a full duty day off. Accrued compensatory time that has not been used within the school year shall be paid at the end of each school year at the current hourly pay rate specified in Article 14 of the CBA applied to the nearest hundredth of an hour. For any accrued compensatory time being paid out at the current hourly pay, the bargaining unit employee will receive 0.75 hours of pay for a single block period and 1.5 hours of pay for a double block period at the specified hourly rate.

Illustrative example: A bargaining unit employee earns 13 credits of compensatory time during the year. In late May, the member uses 10 of those credits for two personal necessity days. At the end of the school year,

- the bargaining unit employee would be paid out the remaining 3 credits equal to two hours and fifteen minutes at the current hourly pay.
- 3. From time to time, third parties may offer to reimburse substitute costs to allow bargaining unit employees to be away from the classroom to participate in sponsored activities. Examples of such third parties include corporate sponsors of technology seminars and student groups requesting a teacher to travel to an off-campus event. Notwithstanding the annual choice described above, any bargaining unit employee covering such an absence must promptly request hourly pay for that substitute service, and may not accrue compensatory time, so that a timely request for reimbursement from the third party may be made by the District.

VIII. Adjustment to duty day for late classes and night school

- A. The District has expressed an interest in offering classes outside the normal school day to enhance program offerings. For example, an Advanced Placement course not ordinarily offered at any campus during the normal school day could enable the District to proceed with such offerings, FEA agrees that the duty day of section II for a bargaining unit employee teaching such a class may be adjusted, provided that:
 - 1. A bargaining unit employee will not be assigned to such a class without his or her express agreement.
 - 2. The late day class will be counted as a full class in computing the bargaining unit employee's status as full- or part-time.
 - 3. The bargaining unit employee will be expected to serve 450 minutes per day when averaged over 10 days, but the limitation that those minutes be continuous and be scheduled between 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. shall not apply.
 - 4. Since students from multiple sites may attend, the bargaining unit employee will be expected to provide a total of one hour per week at the class site, either immediately before or immediately after the late day class, for meeting with students, and that time will count toward the 450 minutes per day requirement.
 - 5. No bargaining unit employee shall become eligible for a travel stipend on the basis of teaching such a class; that is, a bargaining unit employee shall be eligible for a travel stipend only if necessitated by teaching at multiple sites within the regular school day.

B. 8th Block

Teachers may accept an 8th block assignment for one to three quarters of the 8th block calendar as part of their normal academic year duties, with the following options for FTE and hours served.

1. Full time with shifted day. One section may be taught for all three quarters of 8th block to satisfy 0.2 FTE (that is, teaching four sections during the

normal school day as 0.8 FTE and 8th block as 0.2 FTE, together to be deemed 1.0 FTE service). For such shifted day work, a late arrival may negotiated with the daytime school Principal, subject to collaboration requirements.

- 2. Full time day service with additional 8th block service. An additional 0.06 FTE will be credited for one quarter of teaching one section of 8th block, 0.12 FTE for two quarters of 8th block and 0.2 FTE for teaching all three quarters, totaling 1.06, 1.12, and 1.2 FTE respectively. No shifting of the work day applies.
- 3. Department Leads are eligible for service under option (2) above but may not serve a shifted day as in (1) above, to ensure availability for department business during the regular school day.

IX. Meeting Attendance

- A. Bargaining unit employees shall be required to attend up to eight staff meetings per year (either after school or during ERAPs), that shall not exceed 45 minutes in duration.
 - 1. No more than four of the eight staff meetings shall extend beyond the workday
 - 2. No more than four of the eight staff meetings shall be used during ERAPs
- B. Site Administration has the right to cancel and reschedule staff meetings
- C. Site Administration shall have the option to replace up to four of the after school/ERAP meetings with meetings during collaboration periods. Site Administration shall have the right to choose which collaboration periods are used for such replacement meetings, with exception of the Department Meetings outlined in Section F below.
- D. Site Administration can choose to offer a choice of a before-school meeting in addition to an after-school meeting. In such instances, members will have a choice of which one to attend, but attendance at one is mandatory.
- E. Site Administration has to right to call emergency staff meetings. Examples of when Site Administration may call an emergency staff meeting include, but are not limted to, a death of a staff member, a code red event that occurred, an arrest, a natural disaster follow-up, in response to a public health emergency, etc. Such emergency meetings shall not count in lieu of the other staff meetings set forth in this Section. FEA president can do an ex post facto consult if they feel the emergency meeting did not merit the term "emergency" in order to achieve further clarity for future uses of this Section.
- F. Department Meetings initiated by bargaining unit employees in the department: Each school site shall establish a calendar for collaboration periods that reserves no fewer

than six collaboration periods per school year for bargaining unit employees to meet as departments, with no fewer than one collaboration period per grading period. The agenda for these meetings shall be set according to the needs of the department members, for such collaboration purposes as they deem beneficial for the department. On a site-by-site, department-by-department, and meeting-by-meeting basis, the bargaining unit employees may choose to use all, some, or none of the calendared collaboration periods for department meetings and/or follow the agenda items. Any unused time during a department meeting shall be applied to PLC work, WASC efforts, staff development, or such other tasks as the site administration may select. Bargaining unit employee attendance is mandatory at all department meetings. When a department chooses to use reserved time for a department meeting, timely notice of the choice and an identification of the nature of the work to be addressed shall be provided to the Principal.

G. Bargaining unit employees who are unable to attend the staff meetings shall be expected to attend a make-up meeting. Such make-up meetings shall be arranged by each site's principal or designee.

H. Department meetings called by Administration

Site administration may call department meetings during collaboration (late start) periods to conduct business or consider matters of administration's choosing, without limitation as to frequency. Bargaining unit employee attendance shall be mandatory.

X. Multi-school assignments

A. General

Teachers may be assigned to no more than two schools in the District during the regular school year. Teaching assignments which place bargaining unit employees at two schools during the duty day shall be made in accordance with the procedures of Article 8 (Transfer) of this CBA. Schedules of bargaining unit employees who are assigned to more than one school shall be arranged so that no such bargaining unit employee shall be required to make more than a one-way trip each day between the schools.

B. Transportation

Bargaining unit employees may be required to provide their own transportation in the performance of their employment-connected and employment-related duties. Bargaining unit employees providing such transportation shall be reimbursed at the mileage rate specified in Article 14 of this CBA. Bargaining unit employees on a multi-school assignment shall receive a travel stipend to compensate for daily traveling between the schools of assignment, as set forth in Article 14, as their only compensation for both travel expense and inconvenience, and shall not receive separate mileage rate compensation. Bargaining unit employees whose assignment is inherently multi-site (as in a District-wide position, such as a Curriculum Lead) may not claim that travel stipend but shall receive an annual stipend of \$600 to defray any and all travel expenses.

XI. Non-paid additional duties

A. Co-curricular activity supervision

Duties are expected of bargaining unit employees for the purposes of providing interaction between bargaining unit employees and students outside of the classroom/professional setting, and to ensure adequate presence of sufficient staff members for supervision of student activities. Each full-time bargaining unit employee in any teaching or non-teaching position assigned to a single school shall be assigned up to four non-paid co- curricular duties per year by the Principal or designee. Full-time released New Teacher Mentors may be excused from such duty, but no other exemptions shall be granted. In particular, service as a coach, Athletic Director, Department Lead, or in any position carrying a stipend shall not satisfy, in whole or in part, this obligation. A bargaining unit employee with a multi-school assignment shall perform four non-paid co-curricular duties at the school where the last assigned period is served unless another location is agreed with the District.

1. Qualifying duties

Guidelines for duties that satisfy the requirements of this section are as follows. Each qualifying duty shall be at a student activity and contribute to supervision of students, shall be available for sign-up by every bargaining unit employee at the site with no pre-designated or reserved positions, shall take place outside the regular school day (excepting club advisor or class advisor supervision work as set forth below), and shall be uncompensated by any stipend. No bargaining unit employee shall be deemed to have satisfied his or her duties in whole or in part through supervision of activities that form a part of the classwork for students in his or her own classes. The District agrees to work with FEA to ensure that equity across sites is maintained in the selection of duties to be performed. Furthermore, the parties agree that the intent of this section is to ensure that adequate supervision coverage of student activities is provided, not to make work for bargaining unit employees, and that additional duties will not be created merely to absorb the available supply of labor available under this section.

2. Assignment procedure

To ensure equity in assignments, the annual co-curricular supervision duty schedule shall be posted and distributed. On the first duty day of the teacher school year, each bargaining unit employee may select two duty assignments. On the second duty day of the teacher school year, each bargaining unit employee may select two additional assignments. After the second duty day, each bargaining unit employee may select remaining uncovered assignments. Co-curricular assignments, that remain uncovered following the third duty day, will be assigned by the Principal's activities designee as follows:

- a. Assignments will be made to those who did not sign up for four assignments, beginning with bargaining unit employees who signed up for the fewest duties.
- b. The opportunity will be offered for bargaining unit employees to volunteer for additional assignments.

3. Consultation with FEA

To ensure equity and uniform application of these provisions, the Principal/designee shall consult with a bargaining unit employee appointed by FEA prior to each semester regarding the scheduling of all bargaining unit employees' assignments to co-curricular supervision.

4. Events on vacation days or holidays

Assignments to such duties on legal holidays, vacation days, Thanksgiving weekend, and Sundays shall be on a voluntary basis. All other assignments, which occur in the evening, during the week, and on Saturdays (if not tied to a vacation week or Thanksgiving weekend or an extended weekend), shall be made on an equitable basis at each school.

5. Club and class advisors

Bargaining unit employees who serve as advisors of one or more ASB sanctioned clubs will be credited with a total of two assignments for all such service, regardless of the number of clubs advised. Class advisors, up to two per class, shall be deemed to have fulfilled their duties by virtue of completing the co-curricular tasks associated with that position.

B. Testing, planning, and the like

Any work required by the District in regard to development, implementation or assessment of school plans, or district wide student testing and program evaluation shall be done during the regular duty day. Any additional work of this nature required shall be subject to extra duty pay at the hourly rate set in Article 14.

C. Back to school night and commencement exercises

Bargaining unit employees shall, as part of their regularly assigned duties
without additional compensation, participate in one (if scheduled) back-toschool night per year and one graduation exercise per year.

XII. Paid co-curricular duties

A. Policy

The District and FEA agree that it is in their mutual best interest as well as in the best interest of the students and the community to support an extensive co-curricular program. As evidence of this support, FEA pledges itself to take a positive role in encouraging bargaining unit employees to accept paid co-curricular employment when offered. Paid co-curricular duties shall be assigned only with the consent of the member.

B. Priority in hiring

Bargaining unit employees shall have such priority for extra pay for extra duty employment as may be provided by the California Education Code (for example, preferring certificated persons over non-certificated). Any open paid extra duty position shall be posted with the required qualifications clearly set out. Principals shall set the qualifications for such positions in good faith, based solely upon the requirements of the position, and not with the intent of excluding or retaining any

individual, and shall select candidates based upon their merits as judged in accordance with those requirements.

XIII. Non-standard Duty Assignments

The parties recognize that from time to time a need may arise for someone to perform tasks not ordinarily part of a typical bargaining unit employee's assignment. In cases where such needs can best be met by giving a non-standard assignment to a bargaining unit employee, so that a bargaining unit employee's experience and expertise as developed in the course of normal assignments may be exploited, the provisions of this section may be invoked. The guiding philosophy is that the nature of the tasks for these positions should suggest that the work may be best done by a bargaining unit employee with recent appropriate classroom, guidance, or library experience, rather than an administrator or other district employee, and that the assignment to be given does not fundamentally change the bargaining unit employee's connection to and relationship with the bargaining unit. Any position involving release time, other than those specifically set forth in this CBA (such as Department Leads), shall be subject to the terms of this section.

A. Suitable tasks

Assignments under this section are to be non-management positions for which an administrative credential is not required. In particular, these positions are specifically not intended to replace an administrative position. While mentoring may be a portion of some such assignments, supervision and evaluation of bargaining unit employees is specifically excluded. Examples of the types of assignments anticipated by the parties include a professional development coordinator for a site, a district leader for an Algebra Initiative, a site lead for school accreditation efforts, and a New Teacher Advisor.

B. Position descriptions

When the need for a non-standard duty assignment arises, the District shall prepare a description for the position, to include the following information:

- a. the time commitment (full, or part-time, annualized FTE),
- b. a specific statement of the anticipated duties,
- c. the expected duration of the assignment, with start and end dates,
- d. identification of the supervisor to whom the member will report,
- e. compensation, if any, such as a stipend or a release period, and funding source, and
- f. any specific experience or qualifications required.

C. Consultation with FEA

The District shall consult with FEA as to any non-standard duty assignment to be created, and will maintain records of all such positions to permit annual

review with FEA. Review of each position is intended to ensure equity for bargaining unit employees and compliance with this CBA, as well as monitoring of any funding or financial issues that may arise.

D. Posting of positions

It is the intent of the parties that positions under this section are to be created to satisfy site or district needs, and not to provide positions tailored for specific individuals. To that end, all positions for non-standard duty assignments will be posted internally at site for at least five duty days (if a site-specific assignment) or district-wide for at least five duty days (if a district-wide assignment).

E. Selection of Bargaining unit employee

The District shall only review the qualifications of individuals who are bargaining unit employees at the time of posting, and are expressing interest in such an assignment. Any exceptions must be approved by the FEA in advance of the selection process. The District shall make a good faith selection based on the best fit for the position, subject to the restrictions of paragraph F (immediately below). No bargaining unit employee shall be given such an assignment involuntarily.

F. Term

Except as provided in this paragraph, the duration of any assignment set in accordance with B. 3) above shall ordinarily not exceed one year. If the need for a position continues thereafter, a re-opening and re-posting of the assignment shall be repeated at least annually as may be necessary. No member shall be entitled to re-appointment to any such position by virtue of prior service. The District may, if the nature of the tasks, the anticipated learning curve of the member in the position, or the available funding make it advantageous, define a term of more than one year but not more than three years when the position description is prepared.

G. Term limits

For less than full time positions, an incumbent, if re-selected, may serve consecutive terms. However, to ensure that bargaining unit employees are not serving in de- facto administrative positions and to maintain the connection with students and classrooms that makes bargaining unit employees valuable in these positions, it is agreed that no bargaining unit employee may serve more than three consecutive years in any position or combination of positions involving a full-time release from other duties.

H. Evaluation

If a bargaining unit employee serving in a full-time released non-standard duty assignment serves during a year in which the bargaining unit employee would ordinarily be evaluated under this CBA, the supervisor identified in the position description and the unit- member must reach agreement on an appropriate alternative evaluation process in accordance with Article 13 V below. For all other non-standard duty assignments, the supervisor and the bargaining unit employee shall meet at least annually to discuss informally the unit-member's

performance with respect to the assignment. For those bargaining unit employees, the regular evaluation under Article 13 shall not be adversely affected by the assignment or performance of such duties.

I. Compensation

It is expected that non-standard duty assignments will ordinary be compensated by one and only one of the following: release time, stipend, or hourly pay. The choice of type of compensation shall be determined by the scope and nature of the tasks, including consideration of whether the work requires tasks to be done during the school day or availability to communicate with others during instructional periods.

J. Modification

The District may, if conditions so warrant, modify or terminate a non-standard duty assignment, after consultation with FEA, but in no event shall such termination or modification result in an involuntary reduction in the FTE status of a bargaining unit employee.

K. Assignment upon return from non-standard duties

A bargaining unit employee with a part-time release for non-standard duties under this section has the right to return, insofar as possible, to the bargaining unit employee's previous assignment upon completion of the term of the non-standard duties. A bargaining unit employee with a full time release under this section, upon completion of one term of the non-standard duties, has a right to return to the bargaining unit employee's last assigned school. A bargaining unit employee returning from full-time release for non-standard duty after multiple consecutive terms shall be assigned at the discretion of the District. The parties recognize that establishing such return rights may necessitate the hiring of a temporary employee to replace a member who is serving in a non- standard duty assignment. To avoid unduly prolonged temporary status for such replacements, the parties agree that any replacement who is fully credentialed shall not be kept in temporary status for more than one year.

XIV. Duties in special programs

The parties recognize that establishing programs to serve special populations can result in substantial savings to the District, for example, through avoiding the expense of out-of-district residential programs. However, the provisions of this Article may not always be practical for implementation in such programs, as a consequence of the special requirements of the student population involved. To address this situation, the parties agree that the duties and expectations placed upon bargaining unit employees serving in those programs may deviate from the provisions above, subject to the following terms.

A. Each year, the District will consult with FEA, identifying all programs subject to this section, the bargaining unit employees serving in those programs, and the particular deviations from the duties under this Article. In particular, the parties shall examine the duty hours and FTE status of such bargaining unit employees to ensure equity across the bargaining unit.

B. It is expected that some such programs may render it impossible to provide a duty free lunch to a bargaining unit employee. When a bargaining unit employee is required by the nature of the program and the bargaining unit employee's mandatory duties to go without a duty free lunch daily throughout the academic year, an annual stipend of \$8,000 shall be paid to the member.

XV: Mandated Trainings

Both parties recognize that there are certain state mandated trainings that employees must complete on an annual basis. Currently these trainings are completed by employees through a series of online modules provided by a state approved vendor (Keenan). Employees will receive notification of the legislatively mandated annual trainings they are required to complete and the deadline to complete these trainings at the beginning of the school year. Every bargaining unit employee who successfully completes each required training module within 30 calendar days from the first duty day of the school year shall receive a \$240 stipend. Employees who do not complete the legislatively mandated annual trainings within the 30-calendar day time period as described above, will not be eligible to be paid the \$240 stipend, but will still be required to complete these trainings as soon as possible.

The District shall make every effort to provide the links to the requisite training prior to the first duty day for teachers to report in August. If the links are not made available by the first day of service, the 30-day window to receive compensation shall be extended by each day the link distribution is delayed.

Article 6 Staffing

I. Allocation Formula

The District employs a Section Allocation Formula to plan initial section allocations for school sites, based upon enrollment projections. The District agrees to consult with FEA annually and to review with FEA any changes or refinements in the Formula deemed appropriate for continued reliance upon it. If any changes are made to the initial allocations made according to the Formula for a given school year, the District will promptly inform FEA of the changes and the specific reasons underlying them.

II. Student: teacher class size ratios by subject area

A. Common ratio

The following common ratio school departments shall be staffed at a ratio of 32.5:1: Art, Business, Driver Education, Mathematics, World Languages, Living Skills, Industrial Technology, Science, and Social Studies.

B. English

English departments shall be staffed at a ratio of 28:1. English Language Development classes shall not be subject to a specific ratio, but shall be determined by the district, with consultation with the FEA exclusive representative.

- C. Algebra 1: Algebra 1 shall be staffed at a ratio of 20:1
- D. Temporary exceptions for 9th grade English 23:1 courses

In light of the elimination of state funding specifically provided for and restricted to reducing class sizes, the parties agree the following interim staffing provision. Each school year, unless otherwise negotiated, the District shall select a freshman (9th grade) English course, , at each site, which shall be staffed at a ratio of 23:1 The parties agree to examine this provision at either party's request to ensure that the resources allocated for supporting students are efficiently utilized.

E. Work experience

Work Experience classes shall be staffed according to Education Code requirements. Student count for ratio purposes in Work Experience shall consist of the actual number of students enrolled, so that any student who signs up for more than one period of Work Experience shall be counted as only one student.

F. Music

Music shall be staffed at a school department ratio of 36 students to 1 teacher.

G. Physical Education

Physical Education classes shall be staffed at a school department ratio of 40 students to 1 teacher. Each school may be allocated one section of PE Team Athletics as to which the 40:1 staffing ratio shall not apply. Students enrolled in this section shall receive PE credit for full participation on a school sponsored athletic team.

- H. Sheltered/SDAIE classes shall be staffed at a ratio of 23:1
- I. School Counselors shall be staffed at a ratio of no fewer than 4 counselors to 1 school. For the purpose of this article, the schools shall be defined as Cupertino, Fremont, Homestead, Lynbrook and Monta Vista.

J. Other courses not within a department

All non-departmental classes at each site shall constitute a "department" at that site for the purpose of staffing and shall be staffed at a ratio of 32.5:1 at that site, except that (a) no ratio shall apply to Student Clerks/Assistants and (b) the number of students assigned to any Study Halls shall be limited by the capacity of the facility. This CBA intentionally does not address staffing for Regional Occupational Program/Career and Technical Education (ROP/CTE) classes that may be taught by bargaining unit employees, and does not purport to set any specific student-teacher ratio for such classes. Academic support classes may run at a lower ratio than the department stipulation proved there is FEA consultation

III. Departmental control of class size

To provide flexibility in meeting program needs, the class size ratios of this Article apply to departments as a whole, and not to individual classes. Each department shall determine its individual class sizes within the constraints of the sections allocated to that department. In the event of disagreement within the department on individual class sizes, the matter shall be resolved by the Principal/designee. A teacher in a single bargaining unit employee person department may voluntarily waive the student-teacher ratio.

IV. Timing for determining compliance with class size ratios

Each department shall be staffed appropriately, according to the class size ratios set in this Article, by the 40th day of the school year. The intention behind the choice of date in this section is to set a time immediately after the "drop date" for students following issuance of the first progress reports. As soon as practical following the 40th day, FEA and the District shall meet to review staffing of each department at each school.

V. Automatic review of staffing

The District and FEA will automatically conduct a review of the staffing and class ratio when any of the following takes place at any site:

- A. The number of students in a laboratory science class exceeds the number of lab stations provided in the classroom.
- B. A class subject to the 32.5 to 1 departmental ratio has fewer than 25 or more than 40 students, or the teacher has more than 180 total students in five classes.
- C. A class subject to the 28 to 1 departmental ratio has fewer than 21 or more than 35 students, or the teacher has more than 160 total students in five classes.
- D. A class subject to the 36 to 1 departmental ratio has fewer than 29 or more than 43 students, or the teacher has more than 200 total students in five classes.
- E. A class subject to the 40 to 1 departmental ratio has fewer than 33 or more than 47 students, or the teacher has more than 220 total students in five classes.

Students serving as teaching assistants are not counted in these computations. For staff with part-time teaching assignments of fewer than five classes, the total student count necessary to trigger automatic review shall be reduced proportionally

VI. Standards for class size ratio compliance

A department shall be deemed to be properly staffed if one or both of the following are true:

A. The average class size of the department, rounded to the nearest tenth, is within 0.5 of the ratio set forth for that department in section II of this Article.

-OR-

- B. The allocated sections equals the total number of students taking courses in the department, divided by the departmental ratio in section II of this Article, subject to rounding of fractional parts as follows:
 - .01 to .39, round downward
 - .61 to .99, round upward
 - .40 to .60, round either up or down depending upon practicality in the particular circumstances, according to the considerations set forth below.

Considerations for rounding up or down to accommodate particular circumstances shall include availability of classrooms and necessary facilities for an appropriate period on the bell schedule, ability to find qualified staff in accordance with Article 8 IV regarding vacancies, whether disruption in the schedules of large numbers of students would be required, and the impact on the teaching schedule of other department members of opening or closing a section.

VII. Computations for combined subject classes

The ratio to be used for a combined class of subjects with different class size ratios shall be computed as twice the number of students divided by the total number of sections had sections been calculated separately for each component department based on their representative specified ratios. For example, assume Course A with 320 students would ordinarily use a 32.5:1 ratio, yielding 10 sections; Course B with 320 students would ordinarily be staffed at 28:1, or 11 sections. For a combined Course A and B with 320 students, the appropriate ratio would be 2 times 320, divided by the sum of 10 and 11, or 640 divided by 21 = 30.5 students per section. In no event shall the number of sections resulting from combined classes with different class size ratios be fewer than the sum of sections which would result had the sections from each department been calculated separately.

A. Notice to FEA of combined classes

The Principal shall notify FEA of any intent to establish combined classes with different class size ratios pursuant to this Article. Upon the request of FEA, the parties shall consult on a site-level basis through the Faculty Advisory Committee (within the meaning of Article 21) regarding the combining of classes from different departments with different class size ratios pursuant to this Article. Such consultation shall occur prior to implementation, and shall be completed to allow for implementation of such classes in a timely and educationally sound manner.

VIII. Effect of Specially Designed Academic Instruction In English (SDAIE) classes

SDAIE sections shall be removed from department averages for the purpose of calculating sections. If this method of calculation generates any additional section(s), there shall be a limit of one section to be added to each school. If this method does not generate additional sections, then SDAIE shall not be backed out when calculating department sections.

IX. Special education

Special education staffing shall be in accordance with the provisions of the appropriate section(s) of the Education Code and the Special Education Local Plan Area-II (SELPA-II).

X. Residency monitoring

The parties have discovered that parents outside the geographic area served by the District will nevertheless attempt to enroll students whose true residence address does not permit attendance at District schools. Because funding for a Basic Aid district does not increase with attendance, this burdens the District but does not provide any additional

resources. The District agrees to continue its vigilance in ensuring that no student becomes or continues to be enrolled through misrepresentation as to residence address, guardianship, custodial responsibility, family relationship, or living arrangements, and further agrees to inform FEA annually as to its efforts and level of success achieved.

XI. Remedy for unintentional breach by the District

If, despite good faith recruiting efforts, the District is unable to find qualified staff to permit compliance with the required staffing ratios for a given department, the remedy shall be as follows. The sum of \$10,000 shall be made available to the understaffed department to fund professional development for bargaining unit employees in that department. The department in question shall determine how the funds are to be apportioned; however, to ensure that such funds shall be used only for professional development each proposed use must be approved by the site Principal in advance. The funds will be available through the academic year in which the understaffing occurred, and if not yet exhausted, through the following year; any funds unused at the end of that following year shall revert to the District. It is expected that any professional development activity undertaken in accordance with this section shall be wholly funded by the funds described above and shall not require use of any other or additional District monies.

Article 7 Leaves

The purpose of this Article is to record the bargained and agreed upon terms that govern leaves for bargaining unit employees and provide sufficient context that those terms can be clearly expressed. It is not intended as a comprehensive guide to benefits that may be available to bargaining unit employees, nor is it intended to compile or replicate all relevant sections of California or Federal law that may be pertinent to any given bargaining unit employee's personal situation.

I. Health-related leaves

A. Industrial accident and illness leave

- 1. Bargaining unit employees who suffer an industrial accident or illness shall be granted leave of absence for up to sixty duty days. Duration of industrial accident or illness leave shall be counted from the first day of absence, and shall be reduced by one day for each day of authorized absence regardless of any compensation award made under Workers' Compensation.
- 2. Such leave shall not accumulate from year to year. When an industrial accident or illness occurs at a time when the full sixty duty days will overlap into the next fiscal year, the bargaining unit employee shall be entitled only to that amount remaining at the end of the fiscal year in which the injury or illness occurred.
- 3. When added to an award granted the bargaining unit employee under Workers' Compensation laws of the State, payment of wages lost on any day shall not exceed the normal wages for the day.

- 4. A bargaining unit employee may be deemed to be recovered from an industrial accident or illness and thereby able to return to work at such time as the bargaining unit employee and the bargaining unit employee's physician agree that there has been such a recovery. However, the District reserves the right to require a corroborative medical opinion at the District's expense and to deny the return, if such opinion is not in agreement with that of the bargaining unit employee's physician.
- B. Sick leave, when used for bargaining unit employee's own illness
 - 1. At the beginning of each school year, every bargaining unit employee shall be credited with ten days of paid sick leave. Unused sick leave shall accrue from school year to school year without limit.
 - 2. It is expected that sick leave will be taken in full days except as provided in paragraph 4 below. However, should a unit member be unable to complete a full day due to onset or relapse of illness, a partial-day use of sick leave shall be charged at a rate of one-fifth of a teaching day for each teaching period that requires a paid substitute.

3. Extended sick leave

a. Notice required, where practical
Whenever a the bargaining unit employee has reason to believe that they
will require an extended leave of absence due to a physical disability,
including disability due to illness, injury, pregnancy, or a pregnancyrelated condition, the bargaining unit employee shall promptly notify the
Human Resources Office, in writing, of the reasons for the leave and the
expected duration of the leave

b. Entitlement

When a bargaining unit employee has exhausted all accrued sick leave yet continues to be unable to return to work due to extended illness or injury convalescence, the bargaining unit employee shall be entitled to use up to 100 days of extended sick leave (to run concurrently with FMLA or California Family Rights Act leave when it is used for purposes of the bargaining unit employee's own illness, other than pregnancy disability).

- c. Limitation of one period per illness or injury
 Only one 100-day extended sick leave period shall be provided per illness
 or injury. If a school year ends before the 100-day period is exhausted, and
 the bargaining unit employee is still suffering from the same illness or
 injury and unable to work, the bargaining unit employee shall be entitled
 to take the subsequent years' sick leave credit followed by the balance of
 the 100 days of extended sick leave. Use of an extended sick leave for a
 first illness or injury shall not count against any days that may be available
 for a subsequent illness or injury.
- d. Adjustments to and sources of compensation

Bargaining unit employees are generally provided with an income protection plan as set forth in Article 14 XII.A.4. below, which may provide payments to a bargaining unit employee on an extended sick leave. If that plan provides 75% of the bargaining unit employees' per diem salary rate for the extended sick leave period, the District shall adjust the bargaining unit employee's salary payments by deducting the *greater* of 50% of salary or the actual cost of a substitute. If the plan does *not* provide 75% of the the bargaining unit employees' per diem salary, the District shall adjust salary payments by deducting the *lesser* of 50% of salary or the actual cost of a substitute.

e. Fitness to return to work

A bargaining unit employee shall be eligible to return to work after an extended sick leave upon submission of a written physician's statement of fitness to resume regular duties. If deemed necessary, the District may require that the bargaining unit employee be examined by a physician selected and paid for by the District to evaluate the bargaining unit employee's ability to resume regular duties. In the event of conflicting opinions of the District's and bargaining unit employee's selected physicians, the District and bargaining unit employee shall together select a physician to evaluate the bargaining unit employee's ability to resume regular duties.

f. Re-employment list

When a bargaining unit employee has exhausted all available sick leave, including regular accrued sick leave, the 100 days of extended sick leave and any industrial accident or illness leave, and the bargaining unit employee is not medically able to resume the duties of their position, the bargaining unit employee shall be placed on a re-employment list for a period of 24 months (if the bargaining unit employee is on probationary status) or for 39 months (if the bargaining unit employee is on permanent status). The re-employment list period begins at the end of the 100 days extended sick leave. If the bargaining unit employee becomes medically returned to employment in a position for which they are credentialed and qualified.

4. Extended partial day sick leave

A bargaining unit employee may be granted an extended partial-day sick leave due to physical disability, including disability due to illness, injury, or pregnancy-related conditions. During an extended partial-day sick leave, partial-day absences shall be charged against sick leave at the rate of one-fifth of a teaching day for each teaching period missed.

a. A bargaining unit employee must submit a written request to the District for an extended partial-day sick leave that specifies the reasons for the request and the expected duration of the leave. The request must be accompanied by a statement from a physician who has examined the bargaining unit employee that verifies the bargaining unit employee's

inability to work a full day.

- b. The District shall have the right to require the bargaining unit employee to submit to a further physical examination, by a physician selected by the District, to confirm the bargaining unit employee's need for the extended partial-day sick leave. Should the bargaining unit employee challenge the findings of that examination, a third and final physical examination may be requested by the bargaining unit employee. The doctor shall be chosen by the bargaining unit employee from a list of at least five physicians provided by the District.
- c. An extended partial-day sick leave shall not be granted unless the District can obtain a qualified replacement suitable to its needs or unless no replacement is necessary.
- d. If the partial-day sick leave is granted, the District shall have the sole discretion to determine the bargaining unit employee's reduced work schedule, based upon the requirements of the District and consistent with the medical needs of the bargaining unit employee.
- e. An extended partial-day sick leave must be taken for a term not less than one full semester unless otherwise agreed. Renewal of extended partial-day sick leave beyond one year shall require agreement.
- C. Sick leave, when used as a care-giver
 Bargaining unit employees have the right to use up to six days of previously accrued sick. If the illness is such that the bargaining unit employee fully qualifies under FMLA, then the six day limit shall not apply.
- D. Sick leave, when used for personal necessity
 - Personal necessity leaves
 Personal necessity leave shal
 - Personal necessity leave shall be limited to circumstances significant in nature that the bargaining unit employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard. Absences pursuant to this leave provision normally necessitate the bargaining unit employee's immediate physical presence elsewhere and involve matters that cannot be accomplished at any other time. Accrued sick leave may be used for personal necessity reasons that qualify under the categories specifically set out below. Appeals from decisions involving the non- allowance of such leaves may be taken through regular administrative channels or the grievance procedure.
 - a. No advance permission required (Category P-1)

 Bargaining unit employees shall not be required to secure advance permission for leave, but shall notify the Principal of the circumstances as soon as possible for any of the following situations:

- i. Serious illness in the immediate family.
- ii. An accident involving the person or property of the bargaining unit employee or immediate family.
- iii. Imminent danger to the home of a bargaining unit employee, occasioned by an event such as flood or fire serious in nature, which under the circumstances the bargaining unit employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard, and which requires the attention of the bargaining unit employee during the bargaining unit employee's assigned hours of service.
- iv. Circumstances beyond the control of the bargaining unit employee that prevent the bargaining unit employee from being on duty.
- b. Prior approval required (Category P-2)
 Bargaining unit employees wishing to use sick leave for purposes in this category must obtain prior approval by submitting a request in writing to the Principal at least two working days prior to the requested commencement of the leave, stating the reasons for the request. Once P-2 leave is granted, the request is irrevocable if the District has obligated itself for a substitute teacher and cannot cancel or reassign the substitute. This category comprises:
 - i. Appearance in court as a litigant or as a witness under an official order or subpoena, or
 - ii. Bereavement beyond the number of days specified for the bereavement leave in this Article, or
 - iii. Examination for advanced degree, or
 - iv. Attendance at graduation ceremonies involving a member of the immediate family, or
 - v. Marriage of a member of the immediate family.
- c. Prior notification required (Category P-3)

 Each bargaining unit employee shall be allowed, upon prior notification to the Principal, up to seven days in any school year for reasons of personal necessity not covered in Categories P-1 and P-2 above, subject to the following limitations. A bargaining unit employee shall notify their Principal as soon as possible in advance of the absence. No reason for the absence need be stated and no verification shall be required. The granting of requests by

the Principal for such leave will be on a "first-come, first-served" basis up to, but not exceeding, ten percent of the bargaining unit employees on that campus. Bargaining unit employees may not take Category P-3 leave during the first and last five teaching days of each semester. Once Category P-3 leave is granted, the request is irrevocable if the District has obligated itself for a substitute teacher and cannot cancel or reassign the substitute.

E. Sick leave, when used as parental leave for a new child Bargaining unit employees with accrued sick leave may use up to twenty days of that accrued sick leave as a parental leave for the purpose of caring for a new child, subject to the conditions of this section. Such parental leave must be begun within 180 days of birth or, in the case of adoption, of receiving custody of the child. To permit the District to plan for absences, any such leave must be taken as a single consecutive block of school days. A bargaining unit employee must provide at least thirty days notice of intention to take such leave, unless unable to do so owing to an emergency, in which case the bargaining unit employee shall provide as much notice as is reasonably possible under the circumstances. The benefits of this paragraph are intended to apply to an adoptive parent or a bargaining unit employee spouse of a birth mother, but not to supplement or expand the pregnancy disability or childcare leave benefits available to a birth mother under this Article.

F. Pregnancy disability

- Bargaining unit employees are entitled to sick leave as set forth in Section I.B. above for disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth, and recovery therefrom on the same terms and conditions governing leaves of absence from other illness or medical disability. Such leave shall not be used for childcare, child rearing, or preparation for childbearing, but shall be limited to those disabilities as set forth above.
- 2. The length of such disability leave, including the date on which the leave shall commence and the date on which the duties are to be resumed, shall be determined by the bargaining unit employee and the bargaining unit employee's attending health care professional; however, the District may require the bargaining unit employee to have a physical examination by a physician selected by the bargaining unit employee and approved by the District, and a certification by that physician of the bargaining unit employee's physical fitness to return and continue the duties requisite to employment. Cost of this examination and certification will be paid by the District.
- 3. Bargaining unit employees are entitled to leave without pay or other benefits for disabilities because of pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth, or recovery therefrom when sick leave as set forth in Section I.B. has been exhausted.

4. Service time may be accrued toward permanent status during a school year in which pregnancy disability leave is used, so long as the bargaining unit employee works three-fourths of the teaching days of the school year.

II. Leaves for other purposes

A. Bereavement leave

- 1. Each bargaining unit employee shall be entitled to a paid leave of absence, not to exceed five days, in the event of the death of a bargaining unit employee's spouse, parent, or child. Upon the death of any other member of the bargaining unit employee's immediate family, leave of up to three days shall be granted, or if travel out of state or more than three hundred miles is involved, five days.
- 2. A bargaining unit employee may utilize available category P-2 personal necessity days to augment this bereavement leave consistent with the requirements in section I.D.1.b.ii above.

B. Childcare leave, unpaid

- 1. Upon request, a bargaining unit employee shall be granted a childcare leave of absence without pay for the remainder of the school year in which the birth of his or her child occurs. In the case of a bargaining unit employee who has been absent on pregnancy disability leave in connection with the birth, for purposes of computing the duration of such leave, the year of birth shall be deemed to be the academic year in which pregnancy disability ends and the bargaining unit employee is fit to return to work.
- 2. If timely requested, the childcare leave may be extended to encompass the subsequent school year as well, provided that the bargaining unit employee has worked as a bargaining unit employee at least one year (either part- or full-time) since the last time that bargaining unit employee was granted a subsequent year childcare leave.
- 3. Although childcare leave under this section is an unpaid leave, the bargaining unit employee may simultaneously use any available leave under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) or California Family Rights Act (CFRA) for up to a maximum of 12 weeks, during which time the health benefits provided under this CBA will be continued. Following the exhaustion of the 12 weeks of FMLA/CFRA leave, the bargaining unit employee shall be responsible for paying for his or her health benefits for the rest of the childcare leave.
- 4. While on childcare leave, a bargaining unit employee shall have the option to remain an active participant in the FEA health plan by paying the amount that would have been contributed by the District on the bargaining unit

employee's behalf during active employment, subject to carrier requirements.

- 5. Service time may be accrued toward permanent status during the school year in which childcare leave commences, so long as the bargaining unit employee works three-fourths of the teaching days of the school year.
- 6. Bargaining unit employees may serve as substitutes in this District while on an unpaid childcare leave of absence.
- 7. A bargaining unit employee adopting a child in accordance with applicable provisions of the California Civil Code shall be entitled, upon written request, to an adoption leave upon the same terms and conditions as a childcare leave, to commence at any time during the first year after receiving de facto custody of said child, or prior to receiving such custody, if necessary, in order to fulfill requirements for adoption.

C. Child-bonding leave with differential pay

A bargaining unit employee who has exhausted their sick leave may elect to take up to 12 weeks of child-bonding leave (to run concurrently with parental leave under CFRA as described above in (B) 3.) reduced by any period of sick leave taken during a period of parental leave, and receive differential pay for that time, subject to the requirements of this paragraph. It is expected that such leave shall be taken in increments of two weeks or longer, prior to the first anniversary of birth or adoption. However, a member may bank up to five days of the 12 weeks, to be used on a dayby-day basis after return to work, used in lieu of sick leave, to attend to the medical needs of a parent or child. Differential pay for purposes of this paragraph shall be computed per day as the bargaining unit employee's per diem rate less the then applicable long term substitute daily pay rate.

D. Political leave

- 1. A permanent bargaining unit employee who is elected or appointed to a statewide or national public office or legislature shall upon request be granted an unpaid leave of absence for the term of office.
- 2. During the term of such leave of absence, the bargaining unit employee may be employed by the District in a part-time capacity under such terms and conditions consistent with this CBA as may be agreed upon.
- 3. Time spent on political leave shall not apply toward advancement on the salary schedule.
- 4. A bargaining unit employee elected to a school board in another district or to a town or city council position may use up to ten days of unpaid leave per school year as may be reasonably necessary to attend to the required duties of that elected position.

E. Jury duty

- 1. FEA and the District acknowledge that jury duty is a civic responsibility that supersedes obligations under this CBA. Bargaining unit employees who have been notified that they may be called to jury duty shall so inform site administration and provide timely status updates to enable planning for substitutes as may be required. If called to appear in person for a venire or to serve as juror, a bargaining unit employee shall be relieved of all duties and responsibilities to the District that are inconsistent with his or her obligations to the court.
- 2. Bargaining unit employee s serving on jury duty will receive full pay from the District as if present at work, provided that the bargaining unit employee tenders to the District any amount paid by the court for jury service (except travel expenses) within seven days of receipt such funds from the court.

F. Military leave

- 1. Bargaining unit employees who are members of any reserve corps of the Armed Forces of the United States or of the National Guard, who are inducted, enlisted, or otherwise ordered to active military duty, shall be granted such leave and military leave pay as is provided in the Military and Veterans Code.
- 2. Bargaining unit employees on military leave shall retain those rights and privileges as required by law.

G. Professional leaves

The District and FEA recognize their responsibility to foster professional growth, to encourage bargaining unit employees to participate in professional conferences and conventions, and to serve on professional boards, commissions, and accreditation teams.

- 1. A permanent bargaining unit employee who is an officer of a state or national educational organization may attend the organization's convention or conference without loss of salary and benefits if done at no other expense to the District. The bargaining unit employee shall submit a request to attend the convention or conference within thirty calendar days of the convention or conference. The District shall apply the following criteria for granting such leave.
 - a. The District must be able to obtain a substitute.
 - b. The organization and convention or conference shall be related to the bargaining unit employee's current assignment(s) or assignment(s) within the past two school years.
 - c. The applicant shall not receive more than five days of such leave within any one school year.

2. A bargaining unit employee who is selected to serve on a Commission on Professional Competence pursuant to Education Code § 44944, or a state, regional or national accreditation commission/team shall be granted fully paid leave during the time the bargaining unit employee serves on such commission/team. Service on a commission/team shall be limited to twenty-five teaching periods per year unless otherwise authorized by statute.

H. District service leave

Upon authorization from the District, bargaining unit employees who take part in student trips that are overnight and at least a one hundred mile radius from the school shall be provided release time by the District.

I. FEA leave

1. Officer's leave

An unpaid leave of absence of up to two years may be granted to any bargaining unit employee, upon application, for the purpose of serving as an officer of FEA, or as a staff member of the California Teachers Association or the National Educational Association.

2. FEA business leave

Leave shall be granted upon request by FEA for absences at no expense to the District for officers and/or representatives of FEA, not to exceed one hundred person-days per school year, to attend to organizational business.

J. Other unpaid leaves

Leaves of absence may be granted for purposes other than those specified in this CBA in accordance with the conditions stated in this section. Application for leaves under this section should be submitted to the District on or before February 1st, if possible. Application for leave under this section shall be submitted on forms provided by the District and shall include a detailed outline of the purpose of such leave.

- 1. The following considerations shall be applied consistently for the granting of unpaid full-time leaves of absence:
 - a. Demonstrated benefit to the District and the applicant.
 - b. Purpose of the leave including: further study, health, travel, professional enrichment, renewal, circumstances in the immediate family or the like.
 - c. The District's ability to obtain a qualified replacement suitable to the District's needs.
 - d. Whether the applicant has already received the equivalent of a full year leave within the past four years.

- e. Requested duration (leaves requests are more likely to be granted if requested for a whole semester or year).
- 2. A bargaining unit employee may request an unpaid partial-day leave of absence from their assignment, which shall be granted if the District has a qualified replacement suitable to the District's needs.
 - a. If a partial-day leave is granted, the remaining services shall be rendered on a daily basis (for example, a bargaining unit employee granted a two-period leave shall render the remaining three-fifths service on a daily basis for the duration of the leave). bargaining unit employees who are granted partial-day leaves shall be compensated in accordance with Article 14 for part-time service.
- 3. While on leave under this section, bargaining unit employees may elect to continue health and insurance coverage by arranging premium payment with the District, subject to carrier requirements and the provisions of Article 10. III.
- 4. Notification of a bargaining unit employee's intent to return following a full-time leave under this section shall be on file with the District no later than February 1st. Bargaining unit employees failing to notify the District by February 1 shall have waived the rights granted under Section IV.B. of this Article and shall be placed at the discretion of the District. While on leave, the bargaining unit employee shall keep his or her current address on file in Human Resources. At the discretion of the District, bargaining unit employees may also be deemed to have resigned in accordance with Section IV. E. of this Article if appropriate notice is not provided.

III. Prorating of leaves for part-time bargaining unit employees

- A. Part-time members at 0.5 annualized FTE who work full-time for half the year shall receive a fifty percent share of all leave benefits a full-time member receives, except that bereavement leave shall be the same as a full-time bargaining unit employee (that is, three or five days off).
- B. Bargaining unit employees teaching fewer than five periods per day shall receive the same number of part-time days for leave as a full-time member has full-time days; for example, sick leave equals ten part-time days for the part-time member.
- C. Bargaining unit employees teaching fifty percent of each week (that is, two and one-half days per week) shall receive fifty percent or the number of days a full-time member would have received; for example, five full days for sick leave or ten half days. A nominal five-day bereavement leave would entitle such a bargaining unit employee to a single two and one-half day leave.

IV. Return from leaves

A. Leave modification

A bargaining unit employee on an unpaid leave of absence may request to abridge their leave to return at the beginning of a semester. Such request will be approved provided the District determines that an appropriate vacant position is available.

B. Mandatory/statutory

Except as otherwise provided in this Article, bargaining unit employees absent because of the following leaves shall have the right to return to their last assigned school and, insofar as possible, to their previous assignment:

- Sick leave
- Personal necessity leave
- Industrial accident and illness leave
- Pregnancy disability leave
- Military leave Jury duty leave Bereavement leave FEA leave
- Political leave Childcare leave Family leave

C. Other

- 1. Bargaining unit employees returning from other unpaid leaves of absence of one school year or less in duration shall be entitled to return to their school of last assignment, except that no probationary or permanent bargaining unit employee shall be forced to transfer in order to create a vacancy for the returning bargaining unit employee.
- 2. In the event that no vacancy is available to the returning bargaining unit employee as defined herein, the returning bargaining unit employee shall be placed at the discretion of the District. Such placement shall take into account the preferences of the returning bargaining unit employee. Bargaining unit employees returning from leaves longer than one school year in duration shall be placed in vacant positions at the discretion of the District.

D. Dues following return

Upon return from a leave during which a former unit member did not pay dues, unit membership shall automatically be reinstated and automatic deduction of dues shall resume immediately, unless the former unit member elects to pay dues in a lump sum or to become an agency fee payer and so indicates in writing to the District and to FEA.

E. Notice of intentions

This section shall apply to any full-time unpaid leave that the District has the discretion to grant or deny under this Article. As to any such leave, the District may require, as a condition for granting the leave, that the bargaining unit employee in the application for the leave acknowledge an obligation to inform the District by February 1 of the then current school year of his or her intent to return to active service at the completion of the leave, and that failure to so inform the District shall be construed as a resignation effective at the end of the then current school year.

V. Certification, verification, and unauthorized leave

- A. A bargaining unit employee shall certify on the monthly absence report the cause(s) for all absences.
- B. If a bargaining unit employee has been absent on sick leave (not in P-3 status) for more than three consecutive duty days and the District believes that there are no valid grounds for the absences, the bargaining unit employee may be required to verify the reason(s) for the absences by submitting a physician's statement or other verification. Such verification shall be requested within ten days following the last day of absence, and such verification shall be submitted within ten days following the receipt of the request.
- C. If a bargaining unit employee has a pattern of sick leave absences (not in P-3 status) involving more than three absences (not necessarily consecutive) and the District believes that there are no valid grounds for the absences, the bargaining unit employee may be required to verify the reason(s) for the absences by submitting a physician's statement or other verification. Such verification shall be requested within ten days following the last absence in question, and such verification shall be submitted within ten days following the receipt of the request.
- D. For any unauthorized leave, the bargaining unit employee's rate of pay shall be reduced in proration to the amount of time missed for all unapproved personal absences. Beginning on the first day of unauthorized leave, no warrant shall be drawn in favor of any bargaining unit employee who has not faithfully performed all duties prescribed. A bargaining unit employee shall receive as salary only an amount that bears the same ratio to the established annual salary as the time he/she serves bears to the required days of service.

VI. Prohibition of other employment while on leave

Leaves as defined in this Article are for the purposes stated, and no full- or partial-day paid leaves shall be utilized to gain economic advancement or for employment elsewhere. Furthermore, bargaining unit employees on a full-time unpaid leave may not undertake employment outside the District to provide credentialed service; doing so shall be deemed an immediate resignation and termination of the leave. Exceptions to these requirements under exigent circumstances may be made only with the approval of the District in consultation with FEA.

Article 8 Transfers

I. District-wide posting of vacancies

All vacancies or new openings that arise or become known during the school year, whether for classroom teaching positions, non-teaching positions, or any co-curricular position involving release time or a stipend, shall be posted at each school for no fewer than five duty days and advertised, insofar as possible, for five duty days in each school's daily bulletin. Copies of all vacancy posting notices shall be transmitted to FEA at the same time they are transmitted to the schools for posting. The deadline for submitting applications shall be at the end of the fifth day. Vacancies that arise during the summer recess period need not be posted. Bargaining unit employee s with applications/transfer

requests on file shall be notified and offered an interview for the positions in which they have indicated an interest.

Bargaining unit employees who apply for vacant positions shall, upon request, be granted an interview. Appointments will be arranged by the Principal or District official/designee for all such bargaining unit employees along with other candidates for the position(s). All transfer applicants requesting an interview will be interviewed before the position is filled. All transfer applicants who were interviewed will be notified of the results of the interview.

II. Voluntary transfer

A bargaining unit employee may request a transfer from one school site to another school site. All transfer requests shall be made in writing and submitted to Human Resources. To enhance the likelihood of favorable action on a transfer request, bargaining unit employees are strongly urged to submit such requests no later than February 1st, to ensure that the bargaining unit employee's desires can be considered before planning for the recruiting season and commitments to others are made. Transfer requests shall be valid for the current school year from the date of receipt throughout the next school year. Copies of requests for transfer will be forwarded by Human Resources to the Principal and appropriate Department Leads at both the current school and the requested destination school, so that due consideration can be given by those to be affected. A conference shall be held if either the bargaining unit employee or Human Resources so desires.

III. Involuntary transfer

If the transfer of a bargaining unit employee becomes necessary, volunteers will be sought from among those bargaining unit employees who are qualified. If no qualified volunteer is forthcoming, an involuntary transfer may be effected in accordance with this section. Examples of reasons that a transfer may be deemed necessary include:

- A. Declining enrollment.
- B. Filling a vacancy(s).
- C. Accommodating the special staffing needs and/or requirements of any school(s) or department(s).
- D. Reduction or termination of a program(s)
- E. Initiation or expansion of a program(s).
- F. Staffing shortages or surpluses routinely encountered in the administration of schools.
- G. Such transfer shall be initiated by the Superintendent/designee and shall be based on legitimate educationally-related needs of the District.

IV. Criteria for filling vacancies

The following criteria shall be reviewed when considering applications for a posted vacancy:

A. The qualifications of the bargaining unit employee applying for the vacancy compared to those of other candidates for both the position to be filled and the position to be vacated. Qualifications include: credential, recent training, experience in the subject area, special curricular expertise, certification requirements, and seniority.

B. FEA and the District have a shared goal to:

- 1. Minimize the number of bargaining unit employees with split site assignments because multiple bargaining unit employees with split assignments is not cost effective, nor beneficial to the departments impacted.
- 2. Limit bargaining unit employees from being split between more than two sites even if a bargaining unit employee is involuntarily partially transferred resulting in a split assignment.
- C. No bargaining unit employee shall be involuntarily transferred to fill a vacancy if there is another bargaining unit employee with less District seniority who is qualified to fill the vacancy, unless a qualified bargaining unit employee is available at a school site with an overage. To protect against disruption of programs, if the least senior bargaining unit employee has special curricular expertise, and if a transfer would curtail or eliminate a curricular program, that bargaining unit employee shall not be involuntarily transferred. The next least senior bargaining unit employee without such special expertise shall be transferred. If the least senior bargaining unit employee does not possess sufficient curricular expertise to fill the vacancy, the next least senior member with the appropriate expertise shall be transferred. If two or more bargaining unit employees have the same seniority date, the tie(s) shall be broken by lottery.
- D. If a bargaining unit employee is transferred out of their home school due to declining enrollment, either partially or fully, and their home school has an opening that is not temporary in nature prior to July 1 of the subsequent year, and would enable the member to have a full-time position at their home school, the bargaining unit employee shall have the right to return to their home school. Home school is defined as the school where the bargaining unit employee was most recently assigned for the majority of their duty assignment, prior to any transfer. If two or more bargaining unit employees have the same date of transfer and seniority date and both are qualified and credentialed to fill the opening, the tie(s) shall be broken by lottery. The bargaining unit employee is responsible for submitting this request to return to their home school in writing to Human Resources prior to July 1. This right of return expires after the first year that the transfer has been in effect.

Consistent with the shared goal above, in a situation in which there is need to transfer 1.0 FTE from one site to another; parties agree that any variables that would cause there to be more than one certificated employee to transfer resulting in more than one split position will be avoided, if at all possible.

Illustrative example: In year 1, due to declining enrollment at School A, a bargaining unit employee is involuntarily transferred for part of his assignment to School B, resulting in a split assignment of .6 FTE School A, and .4 FTE School B. In year 2, the declining enrollment at School A continues, necessitating a further involuntary transfer. If at all possible, the same bargaining unit employee will be transferred out of School A as opposed to creating a situation where multiple people in the same department end up having multi-school assignments/split positions. Article 8 Section VII "Limit on Frequency of transfer" shall not apply in this situation.

V. Multiple vacancies

In the event there is more than one vacancy, a bargaining unit employee to be involuntarily transferred shall have the right to indicate preferences from a list of said vacancies, and the District shall honor such requests on the basis of district wide seniority. If two or more members have the same date of hire, the tie(s) shall be broken by lottery.

VI. Notice to affected parties

All bargaining unit employees who are involved in involuntary transfers, and FEA, shall be informed of the reason(s) for this action by the Superintendent/designee. In addition, if the bargaining unit employee desires, a conference shall be held with the Superintendent/designee.

VII. Limit on frequency of transfer

Any bargaining unit employee involuntarily transferred shall not be similarly transferred for a minimum of two years without the consent of the bargaining unit employee unless the initial involuntary transfer was caused by the closing of a school.

VIII. Option to leave employment or seek further transfer

Any bargaining unit employee affected by an involuntary transfer shall be informed of this action as early as possible and shall be released from employment by the District if the bargaining unit employee so requests. A member so transferred may apply for any subsequent vacancy in the District for which he/she is qualified.

IX. Involuntary transfer for compelling circumstances

In the event that compelling circumstances require that a bargaining unit employee be transferred on an involuntary basis for the bargaining unit employee welfare and/or the welfare of the District, the Superintendent/designee shall inform the bargaining unit employee and FEA of the reason(s) for this action.

A. The conclusion that the circumstances compel transfer must be based upon observations, complaints, or other issues pursuant to and consistent with the articles of this CBA. However, if in the exclusive judgment of the

Superintendent or designee, there is a safety risk to employees or students, or to the educational environment of the school, the involuntary transfer can take place as appropriate or necessary. Issues within the scope of and addressable through the provisions of the discipline procedures set forth in Article 13 shall not be deemed to be compelling circumstances for purposes of this section. Furthermore, those transfers that may be deemed necessary under section III above shall proceed under that section, and shall not be deemed to arise to compelling circumstances for purpose of this section.

- B. It is the intent of the parties that the District shall have the exclusive and final decision making power with respect to a transfer for compelling circumstances, and that the bargaining unit employee and FEA shall be fully informed of the reasons for the transfer, except where the District is prohibited from divulging the reason under the law.
- C. Any overage at a school resulting from an involuntary transfer for compelling circumstances shall be reconciled in accordance with the involuntary transfer provisions of Section III above.

X. School closure

In the event that a decision is made to close a school, Article 8 of this CBA shall be suspended in the semester immediately preceding the actual closure of a school and the transfer procedures in Article 24 shall apply and be implemented. Article 8 shall be reinstated following the conclusion of the school closure process under Article 24.

XI. Substitute pool

In the event there are more bargaining unit employees district wide than called for in this CBA for one or more curricular areas, the District may establish a pool of substitutes formed of bargaining unit employees who will do day-to-day substituting in lieu of having a regular class assignment.

- A. Once it is clear that there is an overage of bargaining unit employees in a particular curricular area, volunteers shall be sought from among the bargaining unit employees district wide who would be willing to become substitutes in lieu of having a regular class assignment and whose assignment as a substitute would diminish the overage. If an insufficient number of volunteers come forward to cure the overage, assignments shall be made in accordance with applicable portions of Section III above. Section VI above shall not apply to substitute pool transfers.
- B. Unless otherwise agreed, bargaining unit employees who are in the pool of substitutes shall be assigned substitute duties in accordance with the following preference guidelines:

First: The bargaining unit employee's regularly assigned school in their curricular area of expertise for a long-term assignment.

Second: A different school in the bargaining unit employee's area of

curricular expertise for a long-term assignment.

Third: The member's regularly assigned school in the bargaining unit employee's curricular area of expertise for a short-term assignment.

Fourth: A different school in the bargaining unit employee's area of expertise for a short-term assignment.

Fifth: The bargaining unit employee's regularly assigned school in a curricular area not within the bargaining unit employee professional expertise on a short-term assignment only.

Sixth: A different school in a curricular area not within the bargaining unit employee's professional expertise on a short-term assignment only.

- C. A bargaining unit employee in the substitute pool who serves in a Category A position shall have the option to substitute only at the school in which he/she performs Category A duties.
- D. If a substitute pool bargaining unit employee is incorrectly assigned, it shall be corrected on the next assignment or sooner, if possible. Such mis-assignments are not subject to the grievance procedure of this CBA; however, individual substitute pool bargaining unit employees may, by agreement, alter the above sequence or otherwise agree on a substitute assignment.
- E. There shall be no reduction of salary, benefits or movement on the salary schedule or other terms and conditions of employment that normally accrue to bargaining unit employees because of the bargaining unit employee's participation in the pool of substitutes.
- F. If it becomes necessary to develop evaluation procedures to address the special circumstances of the substitute pool, such language shall be mutually developed and agreed to between FEA and the District.
- G. The process of establishing a pool of substitutes will be repeated as necessary on a semester basis.

Article 9 Bargaining unit employees not in classroom teaching positions

The work year calendar for School Counselors, Lead Resource Specialists, and New Teacher Mentors shall be 193 days, commencing five days prior to the first date for other certificated staff members, and ending three days after the last date for other certificated staff members.

School Counselors may be asked and required to do no more than 4 evenings of work that are related to the job duties e.g. Parent information nights. There shall be no additional compensation for this evening work. Note: Back to school night and graduation shall not be included in the "no more than 4", as those are required of all bargaining unit

employees already.

- A. School Counselors are required to attend the Back to School Night for their assigned site along with other bargaining unit employees.
- B. One member from the School Counselor team at each school site shall be required to attend that site's Department Lead Meetings as a representative of the team.
- C. School Counselors shall have the same opportunities to participate in and be compensated for staff development days under Article 22 as other bargaining unit employees.

II. Psychologists

During the summer whenever there is a need for a consultant psychologist for psychological testing and follow-up on such testing, bargaining unit employee psychologists, if available, shall have the first right of acceptance or refusal for assignments for which they are qualified. Compensation for full days worked beyond the number of actual duty days shall be at the bargaining unit employee's per diem rate.

III. School Nurse Consultant

The School Nurse Consultant may be called upon to work up to 20 additional days per year, for a total of 205 days. Compensation for these additional days shall be at the per diem rate determined from the then-effective salary schedule. For each such duty day up to 205, the School Nurse Consultant may be asked to be available by phone for up to two (2) hours per day in excess of the normal duty hours for purposes of communication with medical professionals and parents in connection with individual student health issues. Compensation for such additional hours as documented by time sheets shall be at the prevailing hourly rate in accordance with Article 14 III. An additional ten days of on-call duty per year, as document by time sheets, may be compensated according to the full-time summer school pay scale.

IV: Bargaining unit employees within this article (which also includes Speech Language Pathologists, Library Media Teachers, and Psychologists in addition to the above referenced 193-day calendar people) shall have the same opportunity to substitute teach for compensation in the same manner as bargaining unit employees in classroom teaching positions, with the following limitations:

No more than two 90-minute blocks of subbing over any two days.

No more than two 45-minute periods in any one 7-period "skinny" day.

The philosophy behind the above limitations is to mirror the opportunity that a 5-period full time teacher would have.

Article 10 Part-time bargaining unit employees

I. In general

Bargaining unit employees may submit a written request for part-time employment status.

All requests for part-time employment shall be considered before any reduction(s) in staff occur due to declining enrollment. If the request is denied, the Superintendent or the bargaining unit employee designee shall notify the requesting bargaining unit employee of the reasons for denial. Once granted, part-time status can be revoked by the District only with the consent of the bargaining unit employee. A bargaining unit employee may seek to revoke that status through the procedures in section IV below.

A. Options for part-time scheduling In all cases, scheduling of part-time employment shall be agreed upon by the bargaining unit employee and the District. Part-time service shall be either:

1. Part-time all year during the regular school term, or

rate for those days.

- 2. Full-time during the fall semester with the spring semester off or full-time during the spring semester with the fall semester off, only if the bargaining unit employee is involved in sharing the same full-time job with another bargaining unit employee who has chosen to work part time in accordance with this section. If one of the participants in a shared full-time job returns to full-time employment or resigns, the other participant shall return to full-time service unless or until another qualified bargaining unit employee is willing to share the same full-time position and subject to the following:
- 3. Restrictions on scheduling
 Part-Time Collaboration Flexibility
 No part-time schedule shall take effect until the first day of student
 attendance each school year; all bargaining unit employees shall provide
 full-time service for the teacher work days that precede the beginning of
 student attendance, and shall be compensated accordingly at a full-time

The District may only approve a bargaining unit employee's assignment to a part-time schedule greater than 0.6 FTE if the bargaining unit employee agrees to full participation in weekly bell schedule designated collaboration time as part of the duty day.

Bargaining unit employees assigned to 0.6 FTE (or fewer) may be excused from one collaboration per week. If the part-time member teaches a course that has regular collaboration periods during the day they are not assigned to teach, the part-time bargaining unit employee is required to keep apprised of the team's agreements regarding curriculum and student expectations. While the District anticipates that this flexibility will be most likely used at the two-block-per-week schools (i.e. LHS and MVHS), this section is not limited to such schools, as currently unforeseen situations may arise where flexibility is mutually desirable. Each situation when a bargaining unit employee is assigned to 0.6 FTE or less is assessed and reviewed with the site's FEA

representative to review variables including, but not limited to: the impact on master schedule for students, which preps are taught, how various permutations would affect the part-time bargaining unit employee, and how various permutations would affect the rest of the site staff.

II. Duties

A. Meeting attendance

Part-time bargaining unit employees shall be required to attend no more than one staff meeting a month provided that such meetings are immediately adjacent to or within one hour of the beginning or ending of the bargaining unit employee's teaching assignment. If alternative meetings are provided by the administration which meet the time constraints, the bargaining unit employee shall attend them in lieu of the regularly scheduled meetings. However, part-time bargaining unit employees may be required to attend emergency meetings or professional growth meetings essential to the member's assignment at any time.

B. Duty day

The duty day for part-time bargaining unit employees shall be determined by their annualized FTE and the number of days taught. For example, a 0.6 annualized FTE, who teaches the full academic year, shall have a duty day that is 60% of 450 minutes or 270 minutes when averaged over ten school days. A 0.5 annualized FTE, who teaches for one-half the days in the academic year, shall have a duty day that is 450 minutes when averaged over ten school days.

C. Non-paid co-curricular duties

Bargaining unit employees on a part-time assignment shall be assigned a pro rata share of the average of the non-paid co-curricular supervision duties for the school to which they are assigned. The decision as to the type and time of these activities will be made by the Principal or the bargaining unit employee designee after consultation with the bargaining unit employee. In making the decision as to the type and time of these activities, the Principal or the bargaining unit employee designee shall consider other commitments the member may have.

III. Benefits and compensation

A bargaining unit employee in part-time status at .5 FTE or greater shall receive be eligible to receive the same health and welfare benefits as a full-time bargaining unit employee. if The part-time bargaining unit employee shall be responsible to pay the difference between the bargaining unit employee's pro rata share and the District's costs of the health and welfare benefits. Part-time bargaining unit employees who choose not to enroll in benefits shall receive neither benefits nor compensation in lieu of benefits. Part-time bargaining unit employees who change to or are hired at less than .5 shall not be eligible for benefits or for compensation in lieu of benefits under this CBA for the duration of employment at less than .5 FTE

IV. Return to full-time status

Whenever possible, a part-time bargaining unit employee shall be permitted to increase his or her assigned duties by one or more periods to fill open permanent or temporary

position(s), subject to the conditions that follow:

- A. the proposed increase in duties will not affect the full-time status of other bargaining unit employees
- B. the proposed increase in duties will not result in a multi-school assignment
- C. for a teacher, an opening exists for a course that the bargaining unit employee is properly credentialed to teach or for a non-teaching position for which the bargaining unit employee is fully qualified
- D. for a psychologist, an opening exists for a psychologist, or for a course that the bargaining unit employee is properly credentialed to teach
- E. for a School Counselor, an opening exists for a guidance position, or for a course that the bargaining unit employee is properly credentialed to teach
- F. for a Library Media Teacher, an opening exists for a library position, or for a course that the bargaining unit employee is properly credentialed to teach

A bargaining unit employee on a part-time assignment shall have a priority ranking for re-entry into full-time status over a new full-time applicant, and over bargaining unit employees on a part-time assignment of any kind with less seniority in the District. In cases where bargaining unit employees have equal seniority in the District, but differing numbers of periods in their assignment, and a full-time position is available for which both are equally qualified, a lottery will be employed to determine which bargaining unit employee receives the full-time position.

V. Part-time employment with full-time retirement benefits (Willie Brown)

A. Eligibility

Eligible bargaining unit employees may reduce their workload from full-time to parttime duties while retaining entitlement to receive retirement benefits as if employed full-time. To qualify, a bargaining unit employee must:

- 1. have reached the age of fifty-five or have completed 30 years of service as required by STRS or PERS, and
- 2. have been employed full-time in positions requiring certification for at least ten years, of which the immediately preceding five years were in full-time employment in the District.

B. Application

Eligible bargaining unit employees may submit a written request for part-time employment status. All requests for part-time employment shall be considered before any reduction(s) in staff occur due to declining enrollment. If the request is denied, the Superintendent or the bargaining unit employee designee shall notify the requesting bargaining unit employee of the reasons for denial. Once granted, part-

time status can be revoked only with mutual consent of the District and the bargaining unit employee, and subject to any restrictions imposed by STRS or by law.

C. Minimum workload

The minimum part-time employment shall be the equivalent of one-half of the number of days of service required of the bargaining unit employee during their final year of service in a full-time position. Such part-time service shall be either:

- 1. Part-time for a minimum of three periods or 50% of the contractual workday all year during the regular school year, or
- 2. Full-time for a minimum of one half of the service days in a school year, with the balance of the school year off, provided that the District's staffing needs can be met. If the bargaining unit employee is involved in sharing the same full- time job with another member who has also chosen to work part time and one of the participants in a shared full-time job returns to full-time employment or resigns, the other participant shall return to full-time service unless or until another qualified bargaining unit employee is willing to share the same full-time position.

D. Retirement fund contributions

The District and the bargaining unit employee shall make the contribution required of full-time bargaining unit employees to the State Teachers' Retirement System. Such contribution shall be based on the amount that the bargaining unit employee would be earning should the bargaining unit employee be employed full time.

E. Benefits and sick leave

Bargaining unit employees in this status shall receive the same health and welfare benefits provided to full-time bargaining unit employees. For computation of sick leave, the bargaining unit employee shall be entitled to that portion of the paid sick leave per year provided in Article 7 corresponding to the member's annualized FTE service. For example, a member providing full-time service for one half of the service days under section V.C.2 immediately above (0.5 annualized FTE) shall be entitled to 50% of the paid sick leave provided in Article 7. All other rights and benefits shall be retained provided that the part-time bargaining unit employee makes the same payments (if any) that would be required if still in full-time status.

Article 11 Curricular leadership positions

I. Oversight committee, PLATE

The Professional Learning Advisory Team of Educators ("PLATE") shall have oversight with respect the activities and positions described in this Article, and shall also serve as a channel through which unit members may influence the development of District teaching and learning goals and priorities. Eleven voting members are to be elected annually by FEA from the unit membership, with two from each school site and one to represent off-site unit members. Each shall be elected by site constituents to a one-year term, without limitation on the number of terms served. The District may select up to three administrators to serve, who shall also be voting members. PLATE shall set monthly

meetings (or more frequently as may be necessary), and shall develop policies and practices for reporting to the unit membership and for soliciting information from them. Each elected FEA PLATE member shall receive an annual stipend of \$1500 for his or her service in this capacity.

II. PLCs and Team Leads

Each bargaining unit employee shall participate in one or more Professional Learning Communities ("PLC") in furtherance of the aims of the District belief statements. PLCs may be structured as course-alike teaching teams at a site, or across sites, or be formed on the basis of a common cross-departmental interest (for example, improving student research skills), or based upon such other shared goals toward which the bargaining unit employees may contribute and through which their instruction may benefit, subject to site Principal approval. Each such PLC may, if desired, designate a member as a Team Lead. The Team Lead shall facilitate planning and meetings, coordinate with other curricular leaders and groups, and seek such support as the team may find helpful. No compensation shall be provided if a PLC does not choose a Team Lead; if a PLC desires but is unable to agree on a Team Lead, the site Principal shall resolve the issue.

- A. For the 2017-18 school year, Team Leads shall be compensated at a rate of \$1000 plus up to 40 hours at the current hourly pay rate, in two payments per year. This provision is to be reviewed for effectiveness by PLATE for possible continuation, modification, or elimination for the remainder of the term of this CBA, and shall expire if no further action is taken. Funding for these positions shall be from Prop 30/55 for the duration of this CBA.
- B. PLC members who desire to continue their work during the summer recess may meet as a team to advance the work of the PLC and each participating team member shall be compensated for up to 35 hours at the currently hourly rate.

III. Curriculum Leads

The District may designate one or more Curriculum Leads, as deemed prudent by the District, to serve in coaching Team Leads, preparation of professional development activities, sharing of resources across sites, and calibrating of expectations and standards. It is expected that a Curriculum Lead will be expert in the subject matter within the bargaining unit employee purview, will typically serve all corresponding departments across sites, and shall be granted release time for these duties. This position shall be subject to the provisions of Article 5 XI above for Non-Standard Duty Assignments. Curriculum Leads may be paid at per diem rate for summer work, as approved by PLATE. Funding for these positions shall be from Prop 30/55 for the duration of this CBA. The .5 FTE Guidance Counselor Curriculum Lead, established in 2019, shall not be funded by Prop 30/55, given that this position did not result in an increase in overall staffing.

IV. New Teacher Mentors

A. To assist in the induction and development of new and other participating teachers, PLATE shall establish a process for the selection of New Teacher Mentors and determine the necessary qualifications. New Teacher Mentor positions shall be established and maintained in compliance with Article 5 XI above, as Non-standard

Duty Assignments, and will be subject to all provisions of that section.

V. Department Leads

A. Selection process

The selection process for Department Leads is intended serve to several goals: provide qualified staff for each position, permit unit members to participate in the process, provide for periodic review of each position, and maintain overall school stability by limiting the number of changes made in any one year. Department Leads shall be selected by the Principal, in consultation with the faculty, as set forth below. Department Leads shall be subject to review and re-application on a three year cycle, as set forth in the rotation matrix provided below. No Department Lead has any entitlement to re-appointment, regardless of length of time served in the position. To ensure accessibility to departmental colleagues and to the administration, all Department Leads must be full-time teachers. Any full-time member of the department may apply.

1. Interview process

An interview panel shall be formed for each Department Lead position under review, even if only one candidate applies, and even if that one candidate is the incumbent. The interview panel shall include a representative from each of the English, Mathematics, Science, Social Studies, Special Education, and World Language departments. Representatives from all other departments shall be invited, but their attendance is not mandatory. The FEA site President shall communicate with the unit members to solicit department representatives. The unit members of each department, not the site administrators or Department Lead, shall select their representative. Any unit member of the department who is not a candidate for the position may be selected by the department as the representative.

B. Out-of-sequence review

The parties recognize that from time to time performance issues might arise. In that event, the Principal may, for good cause, re-open the application process before the time set in the rotation matrix. However, it is expected that this will be done sparingly and only as necessary, to minimize disruption, and that the position will be remain subject to re-application on the original schedule in the rotation matrix. Similarly, if a Department Lead voluntarily leaves the position, any replacement will serve until the next regular rotation date.

C. Duties

Department Leads will emphasize working cooperatively with staff members to develop curriculum that will stimulate the appropriate learning and support state standards and Board adopted policies.

D. Release time

Department Leads for the English, Mathematics, Social Studies, and Science departments shall be granted one period of release time for the purpose of performing Department Lead duties. To ensure that this release period is available for use for

departmental purposes, Leads for the above named departments are not eligible to take on an additional teaching section. Thus, Department Leads for these departments are expected to teach four sections and have 2 ERAPs over an academic year, with one departmental release period. No stipend is provided.

E. Stipends

Department Leads for the following departments shall receive an annual stipend based upon the number of total sections in the department, but no departmental release period:

- Art
- Business
- Industrial Technology
- Living Skills
- Music
- Physical Education

Annual stipend amounts are as follows: 1 - 10 sections, \$3000; 11-20 sections, \$3500; 21 or more sections, \$4500.

F. EL Coordinators

1. An EL Coordinator must be a full-time bargaining unit employee. However, in light of the wide variation in number of students served, nature of the population served, or other conditions unique to a particular site, and the need for equity in duty assignments for all EL coordinators, variation from site to site is expected in the duties and compensation for the position. To address these variations, the District shall consult with FEA annually in the Spring regarding the needs anticipated at each site for the coming year for the EL Coordinator position in the number of classes to be taught, and what compensation (release period(s) or stipend) is appropriate. The aim would be to reach agreement in time for the creation of site staffing plans and master schedules. Depending upon site characteristics, the EL Coordinator at a site with relatively few EL students would receive a stipend, while schools with more comprehensive and involved EL program would allocate one or more release periods. Stipend amounts shall not exceed the maximum stipend set above for Department Leads. Criteria to be considered each year shall include the total number of English learners, ratio of newcomer English learners to long-term English learners, quantity and nature of support provided by administrators, Guidance Counselors, and/or para-educators, and the volume and nature of responsibilities performed.

2. Additional duty days

In accordance with Article 5 I above, EL Coordinators may be required to work up to seven additional days in the summer, at the request of local site administration, who will determine the need for, schedule, and extent of such services. The additional duty will be set within the 5 days immediately after end of school and/or five days before beginning of school.

Compensation for the additional services will be computed from the bargaining unit employee's per diem rate derived from salary schedule placement.

G. World Languages

World Languages Department Leads shall be treated according to section E. above (stipend) if the department has 45 or fewer total sections, and according to section D. above (release period) if the department has more than 45 total sections.

H. Review cycle matrix

| | CHS | FHS | HHS | LHS | MVHS |
|----------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|
| English | 1 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 |
| Mathematics | 3 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Social Studies | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 3 |
| Science | 1 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 |

| | CHS | FHS | HHS | LHS | MVHS |
|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|
| Art | 3 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Business | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 3 |
| Industrial Technology | 1 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 |
| EL Coordinator | 3 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Living Skills | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 3 |
| World Languages | 1 | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 |
| Music | 3 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 1 |
| Physical Education | 2 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 3 |

Notes: Schools review NO MORE than four Leads in any single year.

Leads with a (1) in the matrix will be reviewed during the 2024-2025 academic year.

Leads with a (2) in the matrix will be reviewed during the 2025-2026 academic year.

Leads with a (3) in the matrix will be reviewed during the 2026-2027 academic year.

Article 12 Workplace safety

I. Compliance with regulations and safety codes

Neither the District nor any bargaining unit employee shall knowingly violate the provisions of the California Occupational Health and Safety Act (CAL-OSHA), or the California Fire Code.

II. Assault on bargaining unit employees

Bargaining unit employees shall immediately report any threats, assault, and/or battery suffered in connection with their employment to their site Principal or designee who shall immediately take appropriate action and report the incident to the police and notify the District Superintendent.

III. Unsafe conditions

The District shall not knowingly require bargaining unit employees to perform tasks that present a clear and present danger to the health or safety of the bargaining unit employee. Any unsafe condition noted by a bargaining unit employee shall be reported to the site Principal or designee. The Principal or designee shall investigate the condition and report to the bargaining unit employee the findings of the investigation, any repairs needed, and the timeline for correction of the unsafe condition.

IV. CPR program

The District shall provide one or more opportunities per year for bargaining unit employees to participate in a cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) course. Participation shall be voluntary. At least one opportunity shall be offered on a duty day or as an alternative for eligible bargaining unit employees during a scheduled teacher work day.

Article 13 Evaluation and discipline

I. General principles

The principal objective of evaluation is to maintain or improve the quality of education in the District and provide for the performance accountability of bargaining unit employees. Each bargaining unit employee shall be held accountable for only the aspects of the educational program over which the member has authority and control.

II. Timing and calendar considerations

The evaluation period shall commence on the first duty day of the school year and shall continue until the final summary evaluation conference is concluded in the spring. The basic sequence of events in the standard evaluation of a bargaining unit employee shall be as follows:

Reflective conversation / professional dialog

Observation

Pre-observation conference(s) (optional)

Observation(s)

Written observation report(s) given to bargaining unit employee

Post observation conference(s)

Written summary evaluation/conference

Pre-summary evaluation conference

Summary evaluation report

Post-summary evaluation report conference (if requested by bargaining unit employee)

Provisions for an alternate evaluation process are also set forth below.

III. Standards for evaluation

A. Classroom teachers

The fundamental basis for evaluation, and the foundation for summary evaluation, is the California Standards for the Teaching Profession (CSTP). These standards are to be applied in light of the duties and responsibilities contained in this CBA, job descriptions, school and district regulations specifically related to the bargaining unit

employee's assignment, and specific responsibilities set forth in the School Plan, if applicable.

B. The CSTP

The standards are as follows:

Standard 1

Engaging and Supporting All Students in Learning

- 1.1 Using knowledge of students to engage them in learning
- 1.2 Connecting learning to students' prior knowledge, backgrounds, life experiences, and interests
- 1.3 Connecting subject matter to meaningful, real-life contexts
- 1.4 Using a variety of instructional strategies, resources, and technologies to meet students' diverse learning needs
- 1.5 Promoting critical thinking through inquiry, problem solving, and reflection
- 1.6 Monitoring student learning and adjusting instruction while teaching

Standard 2

Creating and Maintaining Effective Environments for Student Learning

- 2.1 Promoting social development and responsibility within a caring community where each student is treated fairly and respectfully
- 2.2 Creating physical or virtual learning environments that promote student learning, reflect diversity, and encourage constructive and productive interactions among students
- 2.3 Establishing and maintaining learning environments that are physically, intellectually, and emotionally safe
- 2.4 Creating a rigorous learning environment with high expectations and appropriate support for all students
- 2.5 Developing, communicating, and maintaining high standards for individual and group behavior
- 2.6 Employing classroom routines, procedures, norms, and supports for positive behavior to ensure a climate in which all students can learn
- 2.7 Using instructional time to optimize learning

Standard 3

Understanding and Organizing Subject Matter for Student Learning

- 3.1 Demonstrating knowledge of subject matter, academic content standards, and curriculum frameworks
- 3.2 Applying knowledge of student development and proficiencies to ensure student understanding of subject matter
- 3.3 Organizing curriculum to facilitate student understanding of the subject matter
- 3.4 Utilizing instructional strategies that are appropriate to the subject matter
- 3.5 Using and adapting resources, technologies, and standards-aligned instructional materials, including adopted materials, to make subject matter accessible to all students
- 3.6 Addressing the needs of English learners and students with special needs to provide equitable access to the content

Standard 4

Planning Instruction and Designing Learning Experiences for All Students

- 4.1 Using knowledge of students' academic readiness, language proficiency, cultural background, and individual development to plan instruction
- 4.2 Establishing and articulating goals for student learning
- 4.3 Developing and sequencing long-term and short-term instructional plans to support student learning
- 4.4 Planning instruction that incorporates appropriate strategies to meet the learning needs of all students
- 4.5 Adapting instructional plans and curricular materials to meet the assessed learning needs of all students

Standard 5

Assessing Students for Learning

- 5.1 Applying knowledge of the purposes, characteristics, and uses of different types of assessments
- 5.2 Collecting and analyzing assessment data from a variety of sources to inform instruction
- 5.3 Reviewing data, both individually and with colleagues, to monitor student learning
- 5.4 Using assessment data to establish learning goals and to plan, differentiate, and modify instruction
- 5.5 Involving all students in self-assessment, goal setting, and monitoring progress
- 5.6 Using available technologies to assist in assessment, analysis, and communication of student learning
- 5.7 Using assessment information to share timely and comprehensible feedback with students and their families

Standard 6

Developing as a Professional Educator

- 6.1 Reflecting on teaching practice in support of student learning
- 6.2 Establishing professional goals and engaging in continuous and purposeful professional growth and development
- 6.3 Collaborating with colleagues and the broader professional community to support teacher and student learning
- 6.4 Working with families to support student learning
- 6.5 Engaging local communities in support of the instructional program
- 6.6 Managing professional responsibilities to maintain motivation and commitment to all students
- 6.7 Demonstrating professional responsibility, integrity, and ethical conduct

C. Non-teaching members

The basis for the summary evaluation for non-teaching members shall be the same elements as for teaching members when they are appropriate, viewed in light of the different job responsibilities for such positions.

D. Aids to meeting standards

The District provides electronic communication facilities that may assist bargaining unit employees who are classroom teachers in meeting the standards. In particular,

teachers are encouraged (although not required) to post class assignments on-line, or otherwise make them accessible to students and families off-site. Because teachers have other avenues for meeting the standards, failure to exploit such communication opportunities by itself shall not be deemed a negative factor in any bargaining unit employee's evaluation.

IV. Annual conference

By October 1 of each year, each bargaining unit employee will meet with the evaluating administrator for a reflective conversation/professional dialogue that might include, but is not limited, to the bargaining unit employee's intended emphasis from the CSTP shown above. At the Annual Conference a determination shall be made regarding the evaluation process to be followed for that school year, whether the standard process or alternative process. Nothing discussed in the Annual Conference shall preclude the administrator from evaluating the teacher on all elements as outlined in section III above.

V. Alternative process

Each permanent certificated bargaining unit employee who has received a satisfactory rating on his or her last evaluation is entitled to opt for an alternative evaluation process. This alternative process will be developed collaboratively and agreed upon by the evaluator and the bargaining unit employee and may include a mid-year process review. One purpose of this option is to allow an evaluation that is customized to the bargaining unit employee's situation, interests, and needs, and to permit the value of the evaluation process to the bargaining unit employee to be maximized. Proposals for the particular process to be used may be suggested by either the bargaining unit employee or the evaluator. If no agreement on the particular process to be used is reached between the bargaining unit employee and the evaluator, the bargaining unit employee will be evaluated according to the standard process. If the alternative process is selected, it shall remain in effect for the entire evaluation period, unless there is agreement to return to the standard process.

VI. Standard evaluation details

A. Observation – Classroom Teacher

1. Pre-observation conference

A pre-observation conference is optional and may be requested by the evaluator or the teacher. The pre-observation conference is an opportunity for the bargaining unit employee to describe to the observer the classroom activities and curricular objectives that may be observed during a period of time in which the observation could take place.

2. Duration of observation

For both probationary/temporary and permanent bargaining unit employees, the observation report shall be based upon a period of at least forty minutes or one full period, whichever is longer, unless the observer and member agree to a different time period. In addition, the observer may make observations for less than a full class period. In the event the observer intends to use information gathered during the shorter observation period as part of the observation report and/or in the summative evaluation, such

information shall be conveyed to the bargaining unit employee in the form of a memorandum. A copy of the memorandum shall be provided to the member within fifteen days of the shorter observation.

3. Post-observation report

The full-period observation shall be followed by a post- observation report conference in which the observer and member shall review the written observation(s). In the event the evaluator chooses to write a memorandum following a shorter observation as described in part VI.2. above, an observation conference shall be held if requested by either the bargaining unit employee or the evaluator. The form for the post-observation report shall be as follows:

| FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated Employee Classroom Observation Report | | | | | | |
|---|---|-------------------------------|------------------------|-------|----------------|--|
| Name: | | School: | | Date: | | |
| Position: | (subject) Teacher | Class Observed: | | Obser | vation Length: | |
| En | nployment Status: | Intern Probationary 2 | Temporary Permanent | | Probationary 1 | |
| Standard #1: | Engaging and supportin | g all students in learning | | | Comments | |
| ConnectinterestsConnectionUsing a diversePromoting | ting subject matter to meaning variety of instructional strate learning needs ing critical thinking through | or knowledge, backgrounds, li | gies to meet students' | | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **70** of **146**

| Standard #2: Creating and maintaining effective environments for student | Comments |
|---|----------|
| learning | |
| Promoting social development and responsibility within a caring community where each student is treated fairly and respectfully | |
| Creating physical or virtual learning environments that promote student learning, reflect diversity and encourage constructive and productive interactions among students | |
| Establishing and maintaining learning environments that are physically, intellectually, and emotionally safe | |
| Creating a rigorous learning environment with high expectations and appropriate support for all students | |
| Developing, communicating, and maintaining high standards for individual and group behavior | |
| Employing classroom routines, procedures, norms, and supports for positive behavior to ensure a climate in which all students can learn | |
| Using instructional time to optimize learning | |

| Standard #3: Understanding and organizing subject matter for student learning | Comments |
|---|----------|
| Demonstrating knowledge of subject matter, academic content standards, and curriculum frameworks Applying knowledge of student development and proficiencies to ensure student understanding of content Organizing curriculum to facilitate student understanding of the subject matter Utilizing instructional strategies that are appropriate to the subject matter Using and adapting resources, technologies and standards-aligned instructional materials, including adopted materials, to make subject matter accessible to all students Addressing the needs of English learners and students with special needs to provide equitable access to the content | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **71** of **146**

| Standard #4: Planning Instruction and designing learning experiences for all students | Comments |
|--|----------|
| Using knowledge of students' academic readiness, language proficiency, cultural background, and individual development to plan Establishing and articulating goals for student learning Developing and sequencing long-term and short-term instructional plans to support student learning Planning instruction and incorporates appropriate strategies to meet the learning needs of all students Adapting instructional plans and curricular materials to meet the assessed learning needs of all students | |

| andard #5: Planning Instruction and designing learning experiences for all udents | Comments |
|---|----------|
| Applying knowledge of the purposes, characteristics, and uses of different types of assessments Collecting and analyzing assessment data from a variety of sources to inform instruction Reviewing data, both individually and with colleagues, to monitor student learning Using assessment data to establish learning goals and to plan, differentiate, and modify instruction Involving all students in self-assessment, goal setting, and monitoring progress Using available technologies to assist in assessment, analysis, and communication of student learning Using assessment information to share timely and comprehensible feedback with students and their families | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **72** of **146**

| Standard #6: Developing as a professional educator | Comments |
|---|----------------|
| Reflecting on teaching practice is support of student learning Establishing professional goals and engaging in continuous and purposeful professional growth and development Collaborating with colleagues and the broader professional community to support teacher and student learning Working with families to support student learning Engaging local communities in support of the instructional program Managing professional responsibilities to maintain motivation and commitment to all students Demonstrating professional responsibility, integrity, and ethical conduct | |
| | |
| Employee Strengths: | |
| Opportunities for growth? | |
| Additional evidence needed to complete all six standards: | |
| Additional evidence needed to complete all six standards: | |
| Overall Rating: Satisfactory Needs Improvement | Unsatisfactory |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **73** of **146**

| Evaluator's Signature: | Printed Name: |
|-------------------------------|---------------|
| | |
| Date: | |
| | |
| | |
| Evaluatee's Signature: | Printed Name: |
| Evaluatee's Signature: | Printed Name: |
| Evaluatee's Signature: Date: | Printed Name: |

(Signature does not indicate agreement. Employee may attach a written response within ten days of receipt of evaluation.)

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **74** of **146**

4. Use of the report in summary evaluations
For bargaining unit employees on a two-year evaluation cycle, observations
conducted in either of the preceding two years may be used in preparing
summary evaluations. However, if material of a negative nature is to be
included in the summary evaluation, such material can only come from
observation reports from the year in which the summary evaluation takes
place.

B. Observation – non-teaching bargaining unit employees

The terms and conditions specified for classroom teachers in Sections 1 - 4 above shall also apply for probationary/temporary and permanent bargaining unit employees who are not in classroom teaching assignments. The bargaining unit employee has the responsibility to inform the observer of the nature of confidentiality, if appropriate, while observing the bargaining unit employee perform their specialized duties.

C. Negative observations

After a negative observation, but prior to the post observation conference, the bargaining unit employee shall have the right to receive a copy of the observation report and shall have the right to have FEA representation at the observation conference. Any bargaining unit employee who receives a negative observation report shall, upon request, be entitled to one subsequent observation of a different class, post-observation conference, and written observation report for the requested observation. Nothing shall preclude the District from conducting additional observations of any class. Subsequent observations shall include observations of class period(s) other than that class observed in the initial observation, and where possible a different course taught by the bargaining unit employee.

- a. The bargaining unit employee's immediate supervisor, Principal/designee, or, in the case of District Office personnel, the Superintendent/designee, shall identify and promptly notify the bargaining unit employee of deficiencies following the observation and shall assist in a timely manner with positive action to correct any cited deficiencies. Such action shall include specific recommendations for improvement and direct assistance in implementing such recommendation.
- b. If a bargaining unit employee receives a negative observation report, he/she may select an alternate observer from that school site's management team, and subsequent observation(s) shall be conducted by the newly selected observer. Only one such change may occur during an evaluation cycle. Nothing contained herein shall preclude the District from assigning additional observers.

VII. Less than satisfactory evaluations

No bargaining unit employee shall receive a "Needs Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory" summary evaluation unless the evaluation procedures of this Article have been followed.

VIII. Summary evaluation

A. Permanent bargaining unit employees

Except as provided in section 1. below, each permanent bargaining unit employee shall be formally evaluated in writing at least once every two years of service (time spent away from the district on a leave of absence of a year or more need not be counted for this purpose). A bargaining unit employee may be evaluated annually at the option of the evaluator. Each evaluation shall be completed no later than May 1 of the year in which the evaluation takes place.

1. Lengthened cycle

For eligible permanent members, the evaluation cycle may be lengthened to at least once every five years, in accordance with Education Code § 44664(a). To be eligible, a member must:

- a. have been employed by the District for at least 10 years;
- b. be designated as highly qualified within the meaning of 20 U.S.C.§ 7801; and
- c. have been rated as meeting or exceeding standards on the bargaining unit employee's most recent previous evaluation.

The lengthened cycle provided by this section requires the mutual consent of the evaluator and the bargaining unit employee. Such consent may be withdrawn by either at any time.

B. Probationary/temporary

Each probationary/temporary bargaining unit employee shall be observed at least two times per year. Each probationary/temporary bargaining unit employee shall be formally evaluated in writing at least once per year, no later than May 1.

C. Pre-report conference

Prior to April 15 and preceding a written summary evaluation report, the bargaining unit employee and the evaluator of record shall hold a pre-summary evaluation conference. This meeting shall take place in the classroom, administrator's office or other appropriate place agreed upon. Teachers are to share at the meeting documentation/confirmation of their choice, which they believe support the achievement of the CSTP shown above.

1. The evaluator may ask bargaining unit employees for additional documentation/confirmation regarding standards of evaluation at the time of the pre-summary evaluation conference if in the bargaining unit employee opinion the documentation/confirmation shared does not adequately support one or more of the standards. The bargaining unit employee may choose which additional material would best support the request.

IX. Written reports

Following the pre-summary evaluation conference, the evaluator shall prepare a written evaluation and assessment report of the bargaining unit employee's performance. The written evaluation report shall be transmitted to the bargaining unit employee not later than May 1 for the school year during which the evaluation is taking place. If an alternative

process has been followed, a report regarding the level of success attained by the bargaining unit employee as a result of the alternative evaluation process shall be prepared by the evaluator as the summary evaluation and signed by the evaluator.

- A. Within five days following the receipt of the written evaluation report, the teacher shall sign and return the original copy of the report to the administrator/evaluator. A post-summary evaluation conference shall be held, if requested by the bargaining unit employee, no later than the last working day of May.
- B. Comments in the Commendations/Suggestions section of the summary evaluation for bargaining unit employees shall be referenced to the appropriate standards. No comments in this section of the summary evaluation shall be included which are not referenced to the standards.
- C. If negative evaluative comments are to be included by the evaluator as an addendum to the written summary evaluation, such inclusion shall be accompanied by a statement written by the bargaining unit employee, if the bargaining unit employee so desires. However, a bargaining unit employee shall not receive a lesser rating than that given at the final evaluation conference.
- D. If the evaluator chooses to include positive narrative comments as an addendum to the written summary evaluation after the transmission of the evaluation report, the evaluator may change an "Unsatisfactory" rating to a "Needs Improvement" rating or "Satisfactory" rating or may change a "Needs Improvement" rating to a "Satisfactory" rating.
- E. A member may attach written comments to the written summary evaluation, which shall be included in the bargaining unit employee personnel file subject to the following procedure:
 - 1. The information shall be submitted in writing to the evaluator and a conference may be held to discuss the inclusion. If the evaluator does not wish to amend the summary evaluation, the member may have his written comments attached to the summary evaluation and included in the bargaining unit employee personnel file.
- F. The forms for the written summary evaluation shall be as reproduced below (separate forms are provided for bargaining unit employees in non-classroom teaching positions).

FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated Employee Summary Evaluation

| Name: | School: | Date: | |
|-----------------------|--|--------------------------|--|
| Courses Taught: | | Evaluation Yes No No | |
| Employment Status: | tern Temporary Probationary 1 | Probationary 2 Permanent | |
| Standard #1: Eng | gaging and supporting all students in learning | | |
| | | | |
| Standard #2: Cre | eating and maintaining effective environments for s | student learning | |
| | | | |
| Standard #2: U- | dougtonding and augonizing subject matter for street | dont loouning | |
| Standard #5: Und | derstanding and organizing subject matter for stud | ient learning | |
| | | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **78** of **146**

| Standard #4: Planning Instruction and designing learning experiences for all students |
|---|
| |
| |
| Standard #5: Assessing student learning |
| |
| |
| Standard #6: Developing as a professional educator |
| |
| |
| |
| Stull Act: Is student progress data within the scope of Ed Code section 44662 available and applicable to the bargaining unit employees' teaching assignment? |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data: |
| |
| |
| Commendations: |
| |
| |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **79** of **146**

| Areas to work on before | re next evaluation: | | | |
|------------------------------|---------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Overall Rating: | Satisfactory | Needs Improvement | Unsatisfactory | PAR Referral |
| Evaluator's Signature: | | Printe | ed Name: | |
| Date: | | | | |
| | | _ | | |
| Evaluatee's Signature: | | Printe | ed Name: | |
| | | | | |
| Date: | | _ | | |
| (Signature does not indicate | ate agreement. Empl | — loyee may attach a written re | sponse within ten days of re | ceipt of evaluation.) |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **80** of **146**

FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated SLP Summary Evaluation

| Name: | School: | Date: |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|
| Courses Taught: | | Evaluation Yes No No |
| Employment Status: | Intern Temporary Probationary 1 | Probationary 2 Permanent |
| A) Organization | al skills | |
| | | |
| | | |
| B) Interpersona | l Skills | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| C) Intervention | | |
| | | |
| | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **81** of **146**

| D) Evaluation and Assessment | |
|---|--------|
| | |
| E) Developing as a professional educator | |
| Stull Act : Is student progress data within the scope of Ed Code section 44662 available and applicable to the bargaining unit employees' teaching assignment? | Yes No |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data: | |
| Commendations: | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **82** of **146**

| Areas to work on be | efore next evalu | ation: | | |
|--------------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 0 | | | 11 .: 6 . | DAD D C 1 |
| Overall Rating: | Satisfactory | Needs Improvement | Unsatisfactory | PAR Referral |
| | | | | |
| Evaluator's Signature | | Printed Name | | Date: |
| ~. g | | | | |
| Evaluatee's | | Printed | | |
| Signature: | | Name: | | Date: |
| (Signature does not inc | dicate agreemen | t. Employee may attach a writter | n response within ten | days of receipt of evaluation.) |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **83** of **146**

| FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT |
|--|
| Certificated LMT Summary Evaluation |

| Name: School: Date: | |
|--|--------|
| Courses Taught: Evaluation Yes | No |
| Employment Status: Probationary 1 Probationary 2 Per | manent |
| A) Organizational skills | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| B) Creating and Maintaining Effective Environments for Student Learning | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| C) Uses Instructional Strategies Which Engage and Support All Students in Learning | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **84** of **146**

| D) Understanding and Organizing Subject Matter for Student Learning | |
|--|---|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| E) Planning Instruction and Designing Learning Experiences for All Students | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| F) Developing as a professional educator | |
| 2) Beveloping as a professional educator | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Styll A at . In stylent we seem data within the same of Ed Code section 14662 available and | _ |
| Stull Act: Is student progress data within the scope of Ed Code section 44662 available and Yes No | |
| applicable to the bargaining unit employees' teaching assignment? | |
| | |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data: | |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data. | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **85** of **146**

| Commendations: | | | | | |
|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|----------------|--------------------|----------------------------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Areas to work on befo | ore next evaluat | ion: | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Overall Rating: | Satisfactory | Needs Improv | /ement | Unsatisfactory | PAR Referral |
| Overan Rating. | Batisiactory | rectus improv | Cinent | Chatistactory | 17th Referral |
| | | | | | |
| Evaluator's | |] | Printed | | D 4 |
| Signature _ | | | Name | | Date: |
| | | | | | |
| Evaluatee's | |] | Printed | | D 4 |
| Signature: _ | | | Name: | | Date: |
| (Signature does not indi- | cate agreement. | Employee may attach a | written respon | se within ten days | of receipt of evaluation.) |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **86** of **146**

| FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT |
|---|
| Certificated School Psychologist Summary Evaluation |

| Name: | School: | Date: |
|--------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|
| Courses Taught: | | Evaluation Yes No |
| Employment Status: | Intern Temporary Probationary 1 | Probationary 2 Permanent |
| A) Organizati | onal skills | |
| | | |
| D) 1-4 | | |
| B) Interperson | nai skins | |
| | | |
| | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **87** of **146**

| C) Intervention |
|--|
| C) Intervention |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| D) Evaluation and Assessment |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| E) Developing as a professional educator |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| Stull Act: Is student progress data within the scope of Ed Code section 44662 available and Yes No |
| applicable to the bargaining unit employees' teaching assignment? |
| |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data: |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **88** of **146**

| Commendations: | | | | |
|---------------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Areas to work on befo | re next evaluati | on: | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Overall Rating: | Satisfactory | Needs Improvemen | Unsatisfactory | PAR Referral |
| Evaluator's | | Prin | ited | |
| Signature _ | | Na | nme | Date: |
| Evaluatee's | | Prin | stad | |
| Signature: | | | me: | Date: |
| (Signature does not indic | cate agreement. | Employee may attach a writte | en response within ten days | of receipt of evaluation.) |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **89** of **146**

| FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT |
|---|
| Certificated Guidance Counselor Summary Evaluation |

| Name: | School: | Date: |
|--------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Courses Taught: | | Evaluation Yes No |
| Employment Status: | ntern Temporary Probationary 1 | Probationary 2 Permanent |
| A) Organizational | l skills | |
| | | |
| | | |
| B) Interpersonal s | skills | |
| | | |
| | | |
| C) Uses Instructi | ional Strategies Which Engage and Support All St | tudents in Learning |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **90** of **146**

| D) Understands and Organizes Subject Matter For Student Learning |
|--|
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| E) Interventions |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| F) Developing as a professional educator |
| r) Developing as a professional educator |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| Stull Act: Is student progress data within the scope of Ed Code section 44662 available and applicable to Yes No |
| the bargaining unit employees' teaching assignment? |
| |
| Comments origing from analysis of such data: |
| Comments arising from analysis of such data: |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **91** of **146**

| Commendations: | | | | | |
|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|--|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Areas to work on befo | ore next evaluat | on: | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Overall Rating: | Satisfactory | Needs Improvement | Unsatisfactory | PAR Referral | |
| Over an ixating. | Batisfactory | recus improvement | Chaustactory | 17th Referral | |
| Evaluator's | | Printed | | | |
| Signature | | Name | | Date: | |
| | | | | | |
| Evaluatee's Signature: | | Printed Name: | | Date: | |
| _ | cate agreement | Employee may attach a written res | nonce within ten days | | |

2023-2026 FEA CBA, rev07.23 Page **92** of **146**

X. Mitigating circumstances

The bargaining unit employee's performance may be constrained by factors such as previous achievement levels of student, availability of support personnel, student transiency rate, physical environment and other pertinent factors. Such constraints shall be considered by the evaluator wherever applicable. During the course of the evaluation period, mitigating circumstances may arise which require the modification of the evaluation parameters. The necessity for review of the evaluation criteria shall be determined either by the bargaining unit employee or the evaluator, and the determination of new evaluation elements shall be arrived at in accordance with section III above, with the waiver of time limitation.

XI. Data for evaluation – limits

Any data which are deemed to be of such a negative nature as to be included in the summary evaluation shall be committed to writing and discussed with the member within thirty days of any event in the pattern, unless extended by agreement. Hearsay is expressly excluded from the evaluation process except as relating to the evaluation elements enumerated in section III. Results of state-adopted criterion-referenced assessments to measure student progress toward state-adopted academic content standards, where available and where applicable to a bargaining unit employee's teaching assignment, may be used to the extent required by Ed Code section 44662 (b) (1), but only to that extent. Results of any other standardized tests or district wide criterion-referenced tests shall not be used in the performance evaluation of a bargaining unit employee, unless by agreement with the bargaining unit employee. Material in the work site file not considered during a previous evaluation and/or addendum shall not be considered during a subsequent evaluation.

XII. Self assessment – warning of liability

Should a bargaining unit employee choose to assess their own performance, such member shall be notified before revealing the substance of such self-assessment that the matter contained therein may adversely affect their job security and that the bargaining unit employee is not required to reveal such self-assessment.

XIII. Rating system

Bargaining unit employees' evaluations will be based on a three-point scale of "Satisfactory," "Needs Improvement," or "Unsatisfactory." The evaluator must include narrative comments in the case of "Needs Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory" ratings and is encouraged to make comments on "Satisfactory" rating.

XIV. Grievability

The evaluation of bargaining unit employees, except for alleged violations of procedural matters, shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

XV. Complaints

A complaint regarding a bargaining unit employee made to an administrator by any parent, student, or other person which, in the opinion of the administration, does or may influence the evaluation of the bargaining unit employee shall be discussed with the bargaining unit employee. Should the Principal/designee or involved bargaining unit employee deem it appropriate, a meeting shall be scheduled with the complainant, member, and Principal/designee to review the stated concern. An FEA representative may be present at said meeting if so requested by a unit member.

XVI. Discipline procedures

The following procedures shall be used in the event that the alleged behavior of a bargaining unit employee is, in the opinion of an administrator, a breach of the CBA and/or Board Policy(s), District Administrative Regulations and/or established rules and regulations. This section does not address the termination of any bargaining unit employee and does not include the implementation of Education Code §§ 44929.21, 44939, 44940, 44941, and 44942.

For purposes of this article, discipline refers to reprimands (verbal or written) and notices of unprofessional conduct (45 day notices under Education code § 44938 but not 90 day notices).

A. Progressive discipline

Progressive discipline shall be utilized in all responses to bargaining unit employee misconduct, except when this conduct is of a serious nature. Verbal reprimands shall normally precede written reprimands. If the offense is significant and the District determines that the health and/or safety of students or employees is at issue, the District may skip steps in the progressive discipline process.

1. Verbal reprimands

The bargaining unit employee will be clearly informed that he/she will receive a verbal reprimand. The verbal reprimand will then take place without a written reprimand to the file. If the offense is not of particular severity, the administrator(s) may choose to have several verbal discussions/ reprimands, and/or several entries into the bargaining unit employee's work site file without ever entering anything into the bargaining unit employee's permanent personnel file at the district office.

2. Written reprimands

A written reprimand may follow when there is additional misconduct within a short period of time. If there is subsequent misconduct within the same semester, or the subsequent two semesters of the first violation, the bargaining unit employee may receive a written reprimand. The written reprimand may be placed in the bargaining unit employee's District personnel file. The bargaining unit employee shall be permitted a reasonable amount of time, (up to ten working days) to receive assistance in preparing a rebuttal or reply that will be placed in the personnel file. Written reprimands or notices of unprofessional conduct should be reasonably imposed as they relate to the seriousness of the misconduct and of the number and frequency of prior incidents of misconduct.

B. Serious misconduct

Serious misconduct is defined as an offense that would initiate charges under Education Code § 44932. Serious misconduct may be described in writing and placed in the member's personnel file on the first offense. The bargaining unit employee may attach their comments to the written reprimand and/or notice of unprofessional conduct within ten working days.

C. General provisions

- 1. Initially, the Principal or immediate supervisor shall investigate the alleged acts or omissions. A fair and objective investigation establishing the necessity for disciplinary action should precede any such action. No bargaining unit employee shall be disciplined without just cause.
- 2. The investigating administrator shall review those findings with the bargaining unit employee, and the bargaining unit employee shall be informed of the consequences of their conduct.
- 3. Disciplinary action should be appropriate and reasonably related to the nature of the offense. Rules, orders, and penalties should be applied fairly and equitably. Hearsay testimony shall not be relied upon in a written reprimand.
- 4. Upon request of the unit member, an FEA representative may be present at any stage of the discipline process involving a meeting with the unit member.
- 5. Under no circumstances shall these provisions be construed as anything other than a reprimand or notice of unprofessional conduct procedure nor shall these provisions be interpreted as placing any requirement on the District (even procedural) which would prevent otherwise appropriate actions to ensure compliance with the CBA and/or Board Policy(s), District Administrative Regulations, and/or established rules and regulations not in conflict with this CBA.

Article 14 Compensation

I. Revenue share allocation process

The parties agree that the revenue share allocation process shall serve as a basis for working together to determine bargaining unit employees' fair share of District revenues, and as a means for ensuring the continuing fiscal integrity of the District. The District and FEA acknowledge the value and need to give consideration to compensation paid to comparable school districts, as well as the criteria set forth in Government Code section 3548.2. The parties further agree that revenue share allocation is subject to the grievance procedure of Article 16.

A. Reserves

The parties have negotiated a reserve for economic uncertainty of 10% of General Fund expenditures, based on the data in the audited financial statement for each fiscal year.

1. The parties agree that a reserve that is not used in times of hardship serves no purpose. Accordingly, the District agrees to commit all reserve funds in excess of the legally mandated minimum when and as may be needed to forestall any furlough days, salary rollbacks, or general reductions in force, and that the contingency re-opener provisions of this Article shall not be invoked while legally available reserves remain unused.

2. Maintaining reserves with lease revenue.

The parties recognize that as expenditures rise from year to year, the reserve requirements set forth in this section will rise as well. Further, following any expenditure of reserve funds, replenishing reserves will become necessary. To offset some or all of this expense, the District shall make available funds derived from current year lease revenue from District property leased to third parties, as follows. Lease revenue in excess of the amount reasonably and in good faith currently necessary to withhold to provide for the District's short term and long term obligations as a landlord shall be applied as necessary to maintain or replenish the reserve, up to a maximum contribution of \$1.5 million. To the extent that reserve needs remain unmet after application of lease revenue funds, FEA's share of the deficit shall be treated as a unit cost in accordance with the process set forth below.

3. Replenishing used reserves

Should economic difficulties make use of reserve funds necessary, the parties agree to confer to plan for replenishing the reserve on such schedule and using such funding sources as will avoid undue hardship for the parties yet timely reestablish protection against future economic distress.

B. Ending fund balance

- 1. The District shall perform an annual General Fund unrestricted ending balance reconciliation. Any ending balance shall result in a one-time, off salary schedule payment made to the current bargaining unit employees. The amount available for distribution shall be sixty-six cents (.66) of each dollar in the ending balance. These one-time off-schedule payments shall be paid to the current members in a manner to be decided by FEA, but payments shall be issued no later than the end of February, unless otherwise agreed, of the school year in which the calculations are taking place.
- 2. Exclusions. The following revenue shall not be included in the ending balance:
 - Revolving cash
 - Prepaid Expenses
 - Site carry-overs up to the cap described in (3) below
 - Voter approved funding measures and federal, state, or local apportionments that are subject to expenditure restrictions or are of limited duration

3. Site carry-over cap

The parties commit to revisit this sub-section during the term of this agreement with the aim of updating it to cope more effectively with recent conditions and trends. In the interim, the following provisions shall apply. The annual aggregate school site carry-overs (unrestricted General Fund) shall not exceed the single highest level over the prior five years. Any

surplus that exceeds this amount will be considered excess and distributed according to the procedure in section B. immediately above. For each dollar in excess, 66 cents will be made available for one-time, off-schedule bargaining unit compensation.

C. Transfers

Any unrestricted revenues (or any other unrestricted funds) transferred out of the General Fund into any restricted funds must not be carried over into the next school year as restricted reserves, excepting only state mandated 3% annual transfer into Fund 050 Routine Repair and Maintenance.

D. New reserves

The District shall not establish any new reserve funds without the approval of the Association, except as required by law.

E. Revenue comparisons

For comparison purposes, revenues available to FEA for share allocation shall include all Unrestricted General Fund Property Tax Revenue as reported by the Santa Clara County Controller in accordance with Education Code 41760.2. However, revenues for comparison purposes shall be reduced by off-the-top General Fund contributions toward expenses for the following matters:

- Adult Education Contribution
- Back Fill Reduction in ROP Funding
- Deferred Maintenance Contribution
- Special Ed. Support from General Fund
- Utilities Costs
- Transportation/Bus Passes
- Cafeteria Costs
- Property and Liability Insurance
- Audit & Actuary
- Legal
- County Financial System (QSS)
- Student Information System
- Election Costs
- School Safety & Violence Prevention
- Interventions/Educational Options
- EL Master Plan
- Teacher Induction Program
- Coaching stipends per V. G below
- Charter Schools
- Student Residency Monitoring
- Site Budget Allocations
- Student Health
- Cost of Enrollment changes (calculated at average total cost per section)
 - a. additions to or deletions from the list above of off-the-top items shall be made by agreement, so that the list reflects necessary,

unpredictable, and/or difficult to control costs or unfunded mandates, not attributable to any one bargaining unit.

F. Bargaining unit expense

The bargaining unit expense shall be based upon the data used for the District's second interim budget report as mandated by the state. Off-the-top expenses shall be excluded. All other unrestricted General Fund payroll costs paid to or on behalf of bargaining unit employees shall be included, such as base salary, career increments, Advanced Degree Stipends, insurance of all types, District contributions to retirement plans, Medicare, unemployment insurance, workers compensation insurance and transfers to the Retiree Benefits Fund for prior years' bargaining unit retirees. However, if FEA chooses to change pay items other than those reflected in the above, then the cost of the change in such compensation will be included in the cost of the bargaining unit.

- 1. One time, off schedule payments shall not be included as bargaining unit expense for comparison purposes.
- 2. Expenses created by the assignment of administrative duties to bargaining unit employees shall not be included as a bargaining unit expense.
- 3. An actuarial average of the retirement burden, a five year moving average, or another smoothing algorithm, as may be agreed, shall be used for transfers to the Retiree Benefits Fund for prior years' bargaining unit retirees.

G. Comparison calculations

Using the audited actual financial statements from the previous year and the County Controllers Estimates, as of December for the current year, year to year comparisons shall be made of the unrestricted revenues as defined above. Bargaining unit comparisons shall be based on staffing as prescribed by this CBA unless otherwise agreed. Using the data from the previous year's calculations and the most recent data for the current year, year-to-year comparisons shall be made of the bargaining unit expenses defined above. These comparisons shall be made between the past school year and the current school year to determine if unrestricted revenues and/or bargaining unit expenses have increased or decreased. Any annual increase in unrestricted revenues (as defined above and at a ratio of 66 cents for each dollar of new revenues) and/or any year to year increase or decrease in bargaining unit expenses (as defined above) resulting from these comparisons shall determine any changes in the current salary schedule in the following manner:

H. Changes in bargaining unit expense

Any increase in bargaining unit expenses resulting from the above comparison will be offset (at a ratio of 66 cents for each dollar of revenues) by any increase in unrestricted revenues. If the increase in bargaining unit expenses is greater than the total sum of the increase in unrestricted revenues available to FEA, then FEA will decide the manner to be used to make up the shortfall. FEA will inform the District of their decision by the end of February, unless otherwise agreed. The total sum of any decrease in bargaining unit expenses resulting from the above

comparison will be made available to bargaining unit employees as ongoing, onschedule increases to the salary schedule or at the option of the FEA to be used in any manner they see fit.

I. Changes in unrestricted revenues

Any increase in unrestricted revenues resulting from the above comparison (reduced by the total cost of additional FTE's as defined above) shall (1) become available for any increased bargaining unit compensation at a rate of 66 cents for every dollar of increased revenue and (2) be applied to bargaining unit compensation in the following manner:

First: to offset any increase in bargaining unit expense as described above, and

Second: to provide that any remaining dollars ("distributable funds") shall become ongoing compensation increases to bargaining unit employees, in a manner as determined by FEA, subject to the provisions of section K. below.

Any compensation increase generated from a decrease in bargaining unit expenses and/or increase in unrestricted revenues (as described above) shall be paid out no later than the end of February, unless otherwise agreed, of the school year in which the calculations are taking place. The current salary schedule shall also be adjusted accordingly at that time.

J. Look-ahead provisions

The parties recognize that the financial fortunes of the District are subject to external factors such as national economic downturns, fluctuation of value in the local property tax base, health care cost trends, federal and state legislative action, and other matters wholly outside the control of the parties. Thus, computations based solely upon current year data and comparisons with the past may not adequately take into account readily foreseeable future difficulties, and may produce results that would appear short-sighted or unwise when viewed from a longer-term perspective. In particular, the parties wish to avoid situations in which backward-only-looking computations would produce a current increase in bargaining unit cost when it is already apparent that such higher cost will not be sustainable in the immediately following years. For example, salary increases in the current year that can be anticipated to yield a need for salary rollbacks, reductions in force, or other such measures in the following year would be contrary to District's interest in providing stable staffing and to the bargaining unit employees' interests in steady employment and predictable compensation.

The parties wish to implement procedures that will leave substantially unchanged the current process in good economic times, but will permit reduction in the likelihood and/or severity of adverse effects when the outlook for the future is less favorable. To that end, the look-ahead process described below will be implemented each year in which net positive distributable funds are available, with the intent of avoiding improvident increases in unit cost that might force adverse effects in near-term future. This will be accomplished by always paying out all current year distributable funds to current bargaining unit employees, but apportioning such payments as partly on-going raises and partly one-time payments in years when this process suggests that it is prudent to do so.

- 1. When the comparison calculations of section G above are performed, comparing current and prior year data, two additional comparison calculations of the same type shall be performed to predict the result of such comparisons for one and two years in the future. To prepare for these additional comparisons, the District, in consultation with FEA, shall rely upon its best good faith estimates of all necessary data, including anticipated changes in property tax, enrollment, health care costs, and other revenue and cost changes, based upon the best information sources then available. Each such predictive comparison will be used to compute a predicted net amount (indicating distributable funds if positive or a shortfall if negative), for that future year.
- 2. If the predicted net amount is positive in both the one year and two year future comparisons, the entire current year distributable funds shall be added to the current salary schedule as on-going raises as set forth in section I above, without any change arising from this look-ahead process.
- 3. If either or both predicted net amount is negative, a sum shall be computed, weighted to reflect the expectation that predictions become more uncertain for longer periods into the future. The predicted net amount for the one year future comparison shall be weighted by 0.75, and the predicted net amount for the two year future shall be weighted by 0.25, and the two figures summed. If the weighted sum is positive, the entire current year distributable funds shall be added to the current salary schedule as on-going raises as set forth in section J above, without any change arising from this look-ahead process.
- 4. If the weighted sum is negative but less in size than the current year distributable amount, that portion of the distributable amount which exceeds the size of the weighted sum shall be added to the salary schedule and the remaining portion shall be paid as one-time money, each in a manner to be determined by FEA. If the weighted sum is negative and equals or exceeds in size the current year distributable amount, the entire current year distributable amount shall be paid as one-time money in a manner to be determined by FEA. In any case, all of the current year distributable amount will be paid in the current year, but it will be apportioned between on-going raises and one-time payments if the conditions of this paragraph apply.

5. Illustrative examples.

- a. assume current year distributable amount of \$2 million one year predicted net amount positive \$1.4 million two year predicted net amount positive \$1.7 million All \$2 million of the distributable amount will be added to the salary schedule in the current year.
- b. current year distributable amount \$2 million
 one year predicted net amount positive \$1 million two year
 predicted net amount shortfall \$500,000
 .75 of positive \$1 million plus

.25 of (\$500,000) yields positive \$875,000 All \$2 million of the distributable amount will be added to the salary schedule in the current year.

c. current year distributable amount \$2 million one year predicted net amount shortfall \$500,000 two year predicted net amount shortfall \$300,000 .75 of (500,000) plus .25 of (300,000) yields (450,000) Then \$1.55 million will added to the salary schedule and \$450,00 will be paid as one-time money, thus distributing all \$2 million in the current year but increasing unit cost for the future by only \$1.55 million

K. Annual salary schedule adjustments

In the event that the actual revenue data (finally known as of December following the close of the fiscal year) is different from the estimates used to establish the salary schedule for the previous year, then the base salary schedule for the prior year will be corrected (at a rate of 66 cents for each dollar) to reflect actual data before the next round of adjustments for the current year. Additionally, if the actual revenues are greater than the Controllers Estimate, an off schedule payment will be made to the bargaining unit employees reflecting this change at a rate of 66 cents for each additional dollar. These one-time off-schedule payments shall be paid to the current members in a manner to be decided by FEA. Under no circumstances shall such an adjustment result in any obligation by bargaining unit employees to return moneys paid to them.

L. Revenue Share Allocation data and computation

The data below is for use in the comparison computations set forth in this Article.



FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT REVENUE DISTRIBUTION: ALL UNITS

REVENUE SHARING PROCESS FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023

| REVENUE CHANGES | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|----|-------------|----------------|----|------------|--|--|--|
| ITEM DESCRIPTION | | 2021-22 | 2022-23 | | CHANGE | | | |
| Secured Roll Property Taxes | | 151,434,000 | 163,389,000 | \$ | 11,955,000 | | | |
| Unsecured Roll Property Taxes | | 8,110,000 | 8,721,000 | \$ | 611,000 | | | |
| RDA | | 3,629,706 | 3,794,849 | \$ | 165,143 | | | |
| Totals Revenue | \$ | 163,173,706 | \$ 175,904,849 | \$ | 12,731,143 | | | |

| | RE | SERVE CHANGE | | UNE PERSON | |
|---|-----------|------------------|----|-------------|------------------|
| Reserve Change Calculations: | | 2021-22 | | 2022-23 | CHANGE |
| GF Expend. & Transfers Out | \$ | 198,239,308 | \$ | 205,627,206 | \$ 7,387,898 |
| *Reserve Increase 10% | \$ | 19,823,931 | \$ | 20,562,721 | \$ 738,790 |
| Transfer in from Lease Revenue | | | | | \$ 738,790 |
| | REVE | NUE DISTRIBUTION | NC | | Sexual Control |
| Fremont Education Association (F | EA) - 66% | | | | \$ 8,402,554 |
| California School Employee Association (CSEA) - 19% | | | | | \$ 2,418,917 |
| Unrepresented Employees (FMA) - 15% | | | | | \$ 1,909,671 |
| Total Distributed | | | | | \$ 12,731,143 |

| OF | F THE TO | OP CHANGES | | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------|------------|-------------------|----|------------|
| ITEM DESCRIPTION | | 2021-22 | 2022-23 | | CHANGE |
| Back Fill CTE Sections | \$ | 300,000 | \$ 300,000 | \$ | |
| Deferred Maint. Contribution | \$ | 989,333 | \$ 1,016,667 | \$ | 27,333 |
| Special Ed. Support from General Fund | 5 | 32,536,141 | \$ 33,351,179 | \$ | 815,038 |
| Utilities Costs | \$ | 4,119,095 | \$ 5,462,520 | \$ | 1,343,425 |
| Transportation/Bus Passes | 5 | 189,605 | \$ 210,000 | \$ | 20,395 |
| Cafeteria Costs | 5 | 213,947 | \$ (88,156) | \$ | (302,103 |
| Property/Liability/WC Insurance | S | 923,420 | \$ 856,709 | \$ | (66,711 |
| Audit & Actuary | 5 | 55,375 | \$ 58,525 | \$ | 3,150 |
| Legal | \$ | 232,557 | \$ 250,000 | \$ | 17,443 |
| County Financial System (QSS) | \$ | 203,212 | \$ 210,822 | \$ | 7,610 |
| Student Information System | 5 | 156,928 | \$ 150,085 | \$ | (6,843 |
| Election Costs | 5 | 380,000 | \$ 365,624 | \$ | (14,376 |
| School Safety & Violence Prevention | 5 | 1,358,307 | \$ 1,484,582 | \$ | 126,275 |
| Interventions/Ed. Opts. | 5 | 1,960,489 | \$ 2,088,384 | \$ | 127,895 |
| EL Master Plan | S | 1,831,856 | \$ 2,073,782 | \$ | 241,926 |
| Teacher Induction Program | 5 | 542,149 | \$ 564,982 | 5 | 22,833 |
| Coaches | 5 | 1,236,089 | \$ 1,299,644 | 5 | 63,555 |
| Charter Schools | 5 | 1,632,754 | \$ 1,710,017 | \$ | 77,263 |
| Student Residency Monitoring Costs | \$ | 685,487 | \$ 712,245 | \$ | 26,758 |
| School Budget Allocations | S | 2,904,692 | \$ 2,799,956 | 5 | (104,736 |
| Student Health | \$ | 594,606 | \$ 677,097 | \$ | 82,491 |
| Cost of Enrollment Decrease/Increases | | | \$ (1,409,565) | \$ | (1,409,565 |
| Totals | 5 | 53,046,042 | \$ 54,145,098 | \$ | 1,099,056 |

| OFF THE TOP EXPENSE DISTRIBUTION | N | |
|---|----|-----------|
| Fremont Education Association (FEA) - 66% | \$ | 725,377 |
| California School Employee Association (CSEA) - 19% | \$ | 208,821 |
| Unrepresented Employees (FMA) - 15% | \$ | 164,858 |
| Total Distributed | \$ | 1,099,056 |

| COST OF UNIT CHANGE SUMMARY | | | |
|---------------------------------|------------|------------|-------------|
| ITEM DESCRIPTION | 2021-22 | 2022-23 | CHANGE |
| Total Salary Change | 52,165,103 | 49,975,653 | (2,189,450) |
| Total Driven Costs Change | 10,575,901 | 11,279,955 | 704,054 |
| Total Health and Welfare Change | 9,843,002 | 10,394,821 | 551,819 |
| Total Cost of Unit Change | 72,584,006 | 71,650,429 | (933,577) |

II. Contingency re-opener

To permit the District to cope with fiscal emergencies, the parties agree to the provisions that follow to allow for compensation adjustments under certain defined circumstances.

A. Triggering events

The contingency re-opener of this article may be invoked by the District at any time during the year if:

- 1. the District loses its status as a "basic aid" (non-revenue limit) district, and such loss of status is not caused by any deliberate action, omission, or intentional manipulation by the District to cause such a result,
- 2. the District receives less income (excepting one-time income) from revenue limit sources than it received during the prior fiscal year,
- 3. categorical funding for currently mandated programs (as listed immediately below) is reduced from the prior fiscal year to a level less than that reasonably necessary to comply with the mandate,
 - a. English Language Learner Program
 - b. Title III LEP
 - c. Title III Immigrant
 - d. Economic Impact Aid
 - e. Beginning Teacher Credentialing Requirements (SB 2042)
 - f. Title II Teacher Quality \$200,000
 - g. Special Education and Special Education Transportation
 - h. Instructional Materials
- 4. the District is newly required by action of the Federal or State government to provide a mandated program, not previously provided by the District, for which sufficient funding is not also provided, or

5. it appears that State-imposed reserve requirements cannot be met; that is, the sum of the ending balances from Fund 10 (General Fund), as projected, is not equal to at least 3% of General Fund expenditures (after projected costs of all salary and health and welfare increases are calculated and included), and the failure to achieve at least 3% reserve is not caused by any deliberate action, omission, or intentional manipulation by the District to cause such a result.

B. Notification

If the District determines that a triggering event has occurred and elects to invoke the contingency re-opener, it shall promptly notify FEA in writing, and specify the category of triggering event. If the District determines that more than one category of triggering event has occurred, the District may elect any one of those events as the basis for invoking the re-opener, making its election as the District finds most advantageous under the procedures set forth below.

- C. Immediate consequences of invoking the re-opener, triggering event 1. If the re-opener is invoked for triggering event 1. above (loss of basic aid status), the parties will negotiate toward an agreeable solution to the financial difficulties resulting from loss of basic aid status.
- D. Immediate consequences of invoking the re-opener, triggering event 2, 3, or 4. If the re-opener is invoked for triggering event 2, 3, or 4. (loss of revenue limit source income, loss of necessary categorical funding, newly mandated programs), the parties agree to negotiate in good faith toward a mutually acceptable solution to the financial difficulties that result. If the parties are unable to reach agreement within thirty calendar days of the notice provided section B. above, then the District must look to its reserves to compensate for the decrease in income or funding or the cost of new mandated programs. If this in turn causes the reserve to fall below the statutorily required 3% minimum, then the District shall have as its sole remedy under this CBA the rollback option set forth in section F below.
- E. Immediate consequences of invoking the re-opener, triggering event 5. If the re-opener is invoked for triggering event 5. (inadequate reserves), the parties agree to negotiate in good faith toward a mutually acceptable solution to the financial difficulties that give rise to the inadequate reserves. If the parties are unable to reach agreement within thirty calendar days of the notice provided under section B. above, then the District shall have as its sole remedy under this CBA the rollback option set forth in section F below.

F. Compensation rollback option

If the conditions of sections D. or E. above have been fully met, the District may resort to the following actions. A temporary rollback in total compensation shall be applied to all employee groups, including all bargaining units and all unrepresented employees, for the purpose of reducing by 90% the shortfall of total unrestricted reserves available to meet State reserve requirements related to fiscal solvency. The contribution of each employee group to the reduction of the shortfall shall be in the same proportion that each group's total compensation bears to the sum of total compensation for all groups. Total compensation, for purposes of the re-opener, shall include all compensation components applicable

to the employee group in question as of the date of notice under section B., including, for example, salary, bonuses, health and other insurance premiums paid on the employee's behalf, employee contributions to retirement plans if the cost of such contributions are absorbed by the District, and any other form of compensation whether taxable to the employee or not, but excluding costs not ordinarily deemed compensation, such as required employer contributions to retirement plans and workman's compensation premiums. If this remedy is elected, it shall be effective as of the date of notice under section B. Upon invoking this remedy, the District shall give written notice to FEA that a rollback has been invoked, and shall specify in that written notice the precise size of the rollback, in dollars, that is applicable to FEA as its share. FEA reserves the right to determine how the rollback in total compensation is to be applied to its various compensation components, and will inform the District of its decision in a timely fashion. If FEA has not so informed the District within thirty days of receipt of the written notice of rollback and size of the rollback, the District may proceed as if FEA had chosen to have the reduction in total compensation be taken as a uniform percentage reduction in all salary schedule cells, without reduction in any other compensation components.

1. Sample computations

Assume for illustration purposes that general fund expenditures total \$80,000,000, and that the legally required reserves are 3% of that total, or \$2,400,000, but that the District projects a reserve of only \$2,000,000. This yields a shortfall of \$400,000. A rollback may be used to cover 90%, or \$360,000, of that shortfall. Assume further that FEA's total compensation is \$30,000,000, and the grand total compensation for all groups is \$50,000,000, so that FEA's share of compensation is 3/5^{ths}. FEA will determine how to adjust its total compensation so that the net effect, including any salary cuts, reduced employer burdens on reduced salary, changes in retirement funding, and/or benefit reductions, and so forth, shall yield 3/5^{ths} of \$360,000, or \$216,000 for reducing the shortfall.

G. Effect on other bargaining units

The parties do not intend by this Article to constrain other employee groups in choosing how to allocate total compensation among benefits, retirement funding, salary, or other compensation components. The parties intend that any employee group may achieve the overall effect of the rollback in total compensation through any combination of reductions in the compensation components applicable to that group. It is expressly understood and agreed that rollbacks shall be achieved only through reductions in compensation components, and that reductions in staff or other changes in bargaining unit costs shall not offset any portion of the required rollback. However, nothing in this Article shall prevent any employee group from establishing a fund with the District in which compensation that would otherwise have been distributed to members is held in reserve for use in offsetting the impact on that employee group of a future rollback.

H. Limitation on size of compensation rollback Regardless of the magnitude of any revenue limit source decrease, loss of categorical funding, cost of newly mandated programs, or reserve shortfall, any

compensation rollback in accordance with F. shall not exceed 5% of the sum of total compensation for all employee groups, unless otherwise specifically agreed in writing at the time the rollback is implemented. The sole exception to this limitation shall be those situations in which the need for the rollback arises from an increase in enrollment that could not reasonably have been anticipated, in which case this limitation shall not apply.

I. Review of rollback

Recognizing that any rollback will be based at least in part upon projections, the parties agree that during the course of the year, the financial condition of the District and the size of the rollback will be re-evaluated by the parties, acting in good faith, as information becomes available, with the intention of restoring as much of the rollback as is prudent and as soon as practical. To that effect, reviews will be conducted in January (First Interim) and March (Second Interim), with the intent of restoring compensation from the date of review forward.

J. Duration of rollback

Inasmuch as reserve requirements are statutory, the parties intend and expect that reserve requirements will be met by the end of the fiscal year, to comply with law. Consequently, any rollback shall result in a temporary salary schedule, applicable no longer than the end of the fiscal year in which the re-opener is invoked. The parties expect that during the year in which the rollback is applied, the District shall take such fiscally responsible action as is appropriate, through program reductions, expense reductions, reductions in force, acquiring new sources of revenue, or such other steps as are within the power of the District, based upon best available data and projections, to ensure that the conditions leading to the shortfall in reserves are alleviated for the subsequent year.

- K. Computation of revenue share allocation in a re-opener year The parties recognize the mutual benefits afforded by performing the calculations necessary for executing the revenue share allocation process, including improved visibility of the true financial status of the District, opportunities for correction of errors, enhancing mutual trust, and affording opportunities for creative solutions to financial issues. Accordingly, revenue share allocation computations shall proceed regardless of whether a contingency re-opener has been invoked or a rollback has taken place.
- L. Impact of re-opener on revenue share computation for subsequent years
 Any rollback in accordance with section F. shall serve to produce a temporary
 salary schedule during the academic year in which the rollback is applied. In the
 subsequent year, a new baseline shall be established for compensation and for use
 in making the comparisons required for future revenue share allocation
 computations. The new baseline shall be computed as follows:

The prior total compensation structure (including the salary schedule cells and health and welfare premiums) in effect immediately prior to the rollback shall be increased to adjust for any increase in the cost of living as reflected in the Bay Area Consumer Price Index ("CPI"), such adjustment being measured and applied from the first effective date of the prior total compensation structure to the last day the rollback is in effect.

The new baseline established by this section shall be factored into the planning of the District in accordance with section J above when taking action to ensure adequate reserves for the year following a rollback.

Illustrative example

In January of academic year 1, the revenue share allocation process is calculated and executed. As a result of that process, the salary of a teacher at step A/column B is raised retroactively to August of academic year 1. Including the raise, that teacher's total compensation for academic year 1 is \$60,000, comprising \$50,000 in salary items and \$10,000 in health benefit premiums, with a first effective date in August of academic year 1. On the first day of academic year 2, a re-opener rollback reduces total compensation for step A/column B by \$2,000. Total compensation for teachers at step A/column B during academic year 2 is \$58,000. Inflation over the course of academic year 1 and academic year 2, as measured by the CPI, has a net effect of 3%. In academic year 3, the total compensation for teachers then at step A/column B shall be the pre-rollback compensation (\$50,000 + \$10,000) increased by 3%, or a total of \$61,800. All teachers at step A/column *B* during academic year 3 receive that total compensation, regardless of any increase or decrease in staffing for academic year 3. In academic year 4, the revenue share allocation process is executed, using the bargaining unit expenses of academic year 3 including costs all for bargaining unit employees as the baseline for comparison.

III. Hourly rate

Regardless of the outcome of the revenue share allocation process, the hourly rate for bargaining unit employees shall be as follows:

• 2023-2024: \$62 per hour

• 2024-2025: \$64 per hour

• 2025-2026: \$66 per hour

These rates become effective on the first day of required paid service of the specified school calendar year and shall apply to curriculum writers, workshop participants, and bargaining unit employees providing substitute coverage, computed to the nearest tenth of an hour.

IV. Salary schedule

A. Column headings have the following significance:

Group I - bargaining unit employees initially placed and providing services based on an Emergency Permit, or Internship authorization, regardless of the number of units earned after a Bachelor's Degree; or based on a Preliminary, Clear or Life Credential, and having earned fewer than forty-five (45) semester units after the Bachelor's Degree.

Group II - Bachelor's Plus 45 Units - bargaining unit employees providing service based on authorizations such as Preliminary, Clear or Life Credentials and having earned forty-five (45) or more but fewer than sixty (60) semester units after the Bachelor's Degree.

Group III - Bachelor's Plus 60 Units - bargaining unit employees providing service based on authorizations such as Preliminary, Clear or Life Credentials and having earned sixty (60) or more but fewer than seventy-five (75) semester units after the Bachelor's Degree.

Group IV - Bachelor's Plus 75 Units - bargaining unit employees providing service based on authorizations such as Preliminary, Clear or Life Credentials and having earned seventy-five (75) or more semester units after the Bachelor's degree.

- B. Placement and movement on the regular salary schedule
 - 1. A bargaining unit employee will be placed on the group and step according to their verified training and experience. The standards used for measuring training and experience for purposes of initial placement on the salary schedule shall be the same as the standards used for purposes of movement on the salary schedule. No bargaining unit employee shall lose the benefit of his or her position on the salary schedule by virtue of a change in duty requiring service under an Emergency Permit. A written notice of placement on the salary schedule shall be sent to the bargaining unit employee annually by December 10 and will include group, step, advanced degree, and Career Increment so that the members may verify the dollar amount of their salary.
 - 2. Prior public-school certificated experience, under contract, shall be granted year-for-year. Prior private school certificated experience in a comparable high school shall be granted year-for-year provided the bargaining unit employee was credentialed while engaged in such service. Bargaining unit employees new to the District shall receive such experience credit upon their employment or upon receipt by the District of proper written verification. Responsibility for reporting and providing proper verification of such experience shall rest with the bargaining unit employee. Such credit shall be included in the bargaining unit employee's September paycheck for any experience verified prior to September 1. Experience verified from September 2 through November 1 will be reflected in the November paycheck, with retroactive payment to the date of first paid service in current contract year. For experience verified after November 1, the District shall use reasonable efforts to adjust salary and provide retroactive payment within the next three paycheck cycles following receipt of the verification. Bargaining unit employees who are not new to the District but discover that full prior experience credit has not previously been granted may, upon submission of proper verification, be given credit for such experience prospectively and for the current academic year, but in no event shall retroactive payments be made for any prior academic years.
 - 3. Vertical movement on the salary schedule shall be based on years of experience. One vertical increment shall be granted for each year of service until the bargaining unit employee reaches the maximum of the group.
 - 4. Bargaining unit employees (including those on a part-time assignment) who are employed for seventy-five percent (75%) of the teaching days required to

- complete the year's course shall have that year count as a year of experience for salary purposes.
- 5. Proper horizontal placement on the salary schedule shall be made once official and original transcripts verifying academic units have been filed with the district office. Bargaining unit employees new to the District shall receive credit for prior academic units upon their employment. For new and not new members, if verified units are sufficient to cause movement to the next column, a salary adjustment shall be included in the bargaining unit employee's September paycheck for any academic units verified prior to September 1, with retroactive payment to the date of first paid service for the current contract year in a separate paycheck. Units verified from September 2 through November 1 will be reflected in the November paycheck, with retroactive payment to the date of first paid service for the current contract year in a separate paycheck. For academic units verified after November 1, a salary adjustment shall be included in the bargaining unit employee's March paycheck with retroactive payment to the first day of second semester in a separate paycheck. Responsibility for reporting and providing transcripts showing such academic units shall rest with the bargaining unit employee. Bargaining unit employees who are not new to the District but discover that full academic credit has not previously been granted may, upon submission of proper documentation, be given credit for such academic work in accordance with the above horizontal movement timelines.
- 6. Horizontal placement and movement on the salary schedule shall be based upon academic semester units earned (quarter units taken shall be multiplied by two-thirds to arrive at the equivalent number of semester units, and fractions shall be rounded off to the nearest whole number when rounding will allow for movement to the next column). To be credited for salary purposes, all units must be in the bargaining unit employee's current credential field, enhance classroom instruction, be applicable to the bargaining unit employee's current assignment, or apply towards a new credential field. Credit will not be granted for duplication of prior course work unless specifically approved in advance. All units must be verified by original and official transcripts from an accredited university. In addition, units must qualify under one of the following categories:
 - a. Degree-eligible, graduate level, university-granted units, following award of a bachelor's level degree. A bargaining unit employee need not be applying for a graduate degree to count units toward salary schedule movement, but the units must be of a type that could be counted toward such a degree. No pre-approval shall be required and no limit shall apply to such units.
 - b. Undergraduate lower and upper division degree-eligible units, following award of a bachelor's level degree, but only as may be pre-approved by the District for the particular bargaining unit employee in question.

- c. Units awarded for courses, programs, or workshops taken in a predesignated "District Sponsored" course, as may be offered by the District, County, or other organizations, without limitation and without pre-approval. The District shall maintain a list of such courses within Human Resources.
- d. Course work that provides Continuing Education Units or professional growth/development units, that are not degree eligible but nonetheless contribute to improved practice, skills, and knowledge, provided that no more than two units will be credited for any single conference course, that all units are awarded by an accredited university, and subject to a limit of no more than 15 such semester units total for any bargaining unit employee. Professional Development or Conference hours or certificates will not be accepted.
- e. The parties recognize that it may be impossible for a newly hired bargaining unit employee who has already completed course work while previously employed elsewhere to obtain pre-approval for that work from this District. Thus, pre-approval requirements according to sub-section 6. b. above will be waived for the initial placement of any newly hired member who can provide the documentation required by that sub-section; all other limitations and requirements for course content, verification, etc., still apply.
- 7. The District agrees to cooperate with FEA to continue development of definitive and objective criteria and pre-approval processes for all course work requiring pre-approval, with the aim of making the standards and their application both visible and uniform. Any special, unique circumstances not provided for in this Article may be approved by the District after consultation and agreement with FEA.
- 8. Units earned before the granting of the Bachelor's Degree which are given graduate status by the accredited institution of higher learning issuing the Bachelor's Degree will be accepted for salary purposes as units earned beyond the degree if:
 - a. Granting of graduate status for these units is the result of petitioning the institution;
 - b. The transcript clearly indicates that the units were granted graduate status before the Bachelor's Degree was received;
 - c. The member was within six units of graduation when the petition was granted; and
 - d. The units given graduate status are applicable for a Master's Degree or a credential.

- 9. A bargaining unit employee may move more than one group and/or step providing he/she has satisfied requirements pursuant to sections 2 and 5 above.
- 10. Each bargaining unit employee shall ensure that each credential that he/she currently holds and has on file with the County Office, the State, and the District Human Resources Office shall be maintained in a current state with the County and that any new credential(s) received shall be expeditiously registered with the County, the State, and the District Human Resources Office.

C. Wages for part-time teachers

A bargaining unit employee on a part-time teaching assignment shall be compensated on a pro rata basis for what she or he would have earned had she or he been full time including Advanced Degree Stipends and Career Increments. This pro rata amount shall be determined on the basis of one-fifth (1/5) of that bargaining unit employee's full-time salary for each period taught.

D. Teaching a sixth class

The parties agree that as a matter of policy, increasing a bargaining unit employee's work assignment above 1.0 FTE is not a preferred solution to a staffing problem if any other reasonable solution is available. This is particularly true if the result of increasing a bargaining unit employee's FTE above 1.0 would result in the bargaining unit employee having more than one assignment within the same department at the same time. With consultation with FEA, there may be instances that a reasonable solution is determined as early as the May of the previous school. Furthermore, absent extraordinary circumstances as agreed to after consultation with FEA, no bargaining unit employee shall be assigned to duties greater than 1.2 FTE. Nothing in this section shall prevent a bargaining unit employee from assuming co-curricular duties compensated by stipend as provided elsewhere in this CBA.

When requested by the Administration, a bargaining unit employee may agree to teach a sixth class and shall be compensated at 1/5th the bargaining unit employee's per diem rate for such an assignment. Any such agreement is subject to fluctuations in enrollment and the staffing ratio computations of Article 6, and may be terminated by the District if those computations no longer justify maintaining the sixth class. To qualify for the 1/5th per diem, the bargaining unit employee must already be teaching five classes. Bargaining unit employees who are released from classroom assignments to perform other work shall be compensated at the hourly rate for greater than 1.0 FTE assignments within the duty year. For example, if a 1.0 FTE bargaining unit employee's assignment involves teaching four periods, and getting a release period for being a Department Lead, then taking on an additional class would be compensated hourly.

The criteria for selecting bargaining unit employees to teach a sixth class is the same criteria utilized in Article 8 I, above, which applies the following criteria: bargaining unit employee qualifications, experience, availability, presence in the same

department (or presence/experience in the same department for the last five years), and minimizing disruption to student schedules.

E. Wages for interns

A beginning full-time intern will receive the same salary as a beginning bargaining unit employee in Group I of the regular salary schedule. This salary will be prorated if the intern serves part-time. If the intern is hired upon completion of the internship, one year of service as an intern counts as one year of experience and seniority in the District.

F. Wages for psychologists

For those bargaining unit employees who have been continuously serving as psychologists in this District since August 2004 or before, the annual salary shall be determined by the appropriate placement on the regular salary schedule plus ten percent. All others shall have their salary determined by the salary schedule alone. bargaining unit employees on a part-time psychologist assignment shall be compensated on a prorated basis.

G. Advanced degree stipends

Stipends for advanced degrees (for example, M.A., M.S., Ed.D., Ph.D., J.D., M.D.) shall be the amounts reflected on the current compensation schedule. A member may receive no more that one (1) master's stipend and one (1) doctoral stipend for a maximum of two advanced degree stipends total. Bargaining unit employees on a part-time assignment shall qualify for the advanced degree stipends on a pro rata basis.

H. Career increment

One increment shall be added to Groups II, III and IV at the beginning of the sixteenth, twentieth, twenty-fourth, and twenty-eighth year of service. Bargaining unit employees on a part-time assignment shall qualify for the career increment on a pro rata basis.

I. Salary schedule exemplar

Reproduced below is the salary schedule effective as of the end of the 2019-2020 school year. Computation of salaries for the 2020-2021 school year according to the revenue share allocation shall be based upon this schedule as a starting point.

| STEP/ | I | II | III | IV |
|-------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| COL. | AB | AB + 45* | AB + 60* | AB + 75* |
| 1 | \$90,950 | \$92,250 | \$94,197 | \$96,797 |
| 2 | \$92,769 | \$94,197 | \$96,278 | \$99,005 |
| 3 | \$94,624 | \$96,184 | \$98,782 | \$102,679 |
| 4 | \$96,517 | \$98,205 | \$102,104 | \$107,301 |
| 5 | \$98,446 | \$100,266 | \$105,464 | \$111,959 |
| 6 | \$100,233 | \$105,143 | \$110,053 | \$114,969 |
| 7 | \$105,143 | \$110,053 | \$114,969 | \$119,870 |
| 8 | \$110,053 | \$114,969 | \$119,870 | \$124,772 |
| 9 | \$114,969 | \$119,870 | \$124,772 | \$129,695 |
| 10 | \$119,870 | \$124,772 | \$129,695 | \$134,597 |
| 11 | \$119,870 | \$129,695 | \$134,597 | \$139,506 |
| 12 | \$119,870 | \$134,597 | \$139,506 | \$144,417 |
| 13 | \$119,870 | \$134,597 | \$139,506 | \$144,417 |
| 14 | \$119,870 | \$134,597 | \$139,506 | \$144,417 |
| 15 | \$119,870 | \$134,597 | \$139,506 | \$144,417 |
| 16 | \$119,870 | \$137,161 | \$142,070 | \$146,981 |
| 17 | \$119,870 | \$137,161 | \$142,070 | \$146,981 |
| 18 | \$119,870 | \$137,161 | \$142,070 | \$146,981 |
| 19 | \$119,870 | \$137,161 | \$142,070 | \$146,981 |
| 20 | \$119,870 | \$139,473 | \$144,382 | \$149,293 |
| 21 | \$119,870 | \$139,473 | \$144,382 | \$149,293 |
| 22 | \$119,870 | \$139,473 | \$144,382 | \$149,293 |
| 23 | \$119,870 | \$139,473 | \$144,382 | \$149,293 |
| 24 | \$119,870 | \$141,784 | \$146,693 | \$151,604 |
| 25 | \$119,870 | \$141,784 | \$146,693 | \$151,604 |
| 26 | \$119,870 | \$141,784 | \$146,693 | \$151,604 |
| 27 | \$119,870 | \$141,784 | \$146,693 | \$151,604 |
| 28 | \$119,870 | \$144,095 | \$149,004 | \$153,915 |

| | CAREER INCREM | IENTS | DEGREE S | TIPENDS |
|-----|------------------|---------|---------------|--------------|
| | Included in Scho | edule | Not Included | in Schedule |
| Yr. | Column | Amount | Doctorate | \$3,042 |
| 16 | II, IIII, & IV | \$2,564 | Masters | \$2,052 |
| 20 | II, IIII, & IV | \$4,876 | * Approved Se | mester Units |
| 24 | II, IIII, & IV | \$7,187 | | |
| 28 | II, IIII, & IV | \$9,498 | 14-Ma | ar-23 |

- J. Augmented Salary Schedule for Recruitment/Staffing Emergencies
 - 1. In the event of a Recruitment/Staffing emergency, the District may enact the Augmented salary schedule, called "X+3" due to the fact that it is derived from adding three steps to each of the steps in the regular certificated schedule. In order for the Augmented Salary Schedule to be enacted, the following conditions must be met:
 - a. Ten percent (10%) of the positions are unfilled, unless mutually agreed otherwise by FEA/District.
 - b. A specific position is identified (e.g. psychologists, mod/severe SPED teacher, physics)
 - c. Properly credentialed current staff is considered for reassignment to fill the vacancies
 - d. Timely, adequate job postings have been made to attempt to fill the position(s)
 - e. Appropriate hiring standards are considered given the shortage of qualified candidates
 - f. The implementation of the Augmented Salary Schedule is approved by the FEA president
 - g. FEA and the District conduct periodic reviews to determine the duration of the recruitment/staffing emergency

2. Implementation:

- a. Once the above conditions are met, all new staff hired for designated position will be placed on the Augmented Salary Schedule.
- b. All members currently in that position shall also be placed on the same schedule. The intent is to retain the current members in that position.
- c. A member can only be elevated on time during their tenure with the District, and only salary is affected; years of service are not affected.

3. Duration:

- a. Through the periodic review described above, both parties may agree that the recruitment staffing emergency has come to an end. When that emergency ends, no current bargaining unit employee shall have their steps reduced, nor frozen; such bargaining unit employees shall continue to move along the Augmented Salary Schedule for the duration of their tenure with the district.
- b. Costs of the additional salary expense above and beyond the regular salary schedule shall be considered an off-the-top expense.

| | | AB | A | B + 45* | A | AB + 60* | A | AB + 75* |
|------|----|---------|--------------|---------|----|----------|----|----------|
| STEP | G | ROUP I | \mathbf{G} | ROUP II | GI | ROUP III | Gl | ROUP IV |
| 1 | \$ | 96,517 | \$ | 98,205 | \$ | 102,104 | \$ | 107,301 |
| 2 | \$ | 98,446 | \$ | 100,266 | \$ | 105,464 | \$ | 111,959 |
| 3 | \$ | 100,233 | \$ | 105,143 | \$ | 110,053 | \$ | 114,969 |
| 4 | \$ | 105,143 | \$ | 110,053 | \$ | 114,969 | \$ | 119,870 |
| 5 | \$ | 110,053 | \$ | 114,969 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 124,772 |
| 6 | \$ | 114,969 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 124,772 | \$ | 129,695 |
| 7 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 124,772 | \$ | 129,695 | \$ | 134,597 |
| 8 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 129,695 | \$ | 134,597 | \$ | 139,506 |
| 9 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 134,597 | \$ | 139,506 | \$ | 144,417 |
| 10 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 134,597 | \$ | 139,506 | \$ | 144,417 |
| 11 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 134,597 | \$ | 139,506 | \$ | 144,417 |
| 12 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 134,597 | \$ | 139,506 | \$ | 144,417 |
| 13 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 137,160 | \$ | 142,069 | \$ | 146,980 |
| 14 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 137,160 | \$ | 142,069 | \$ | 146,980 |
| 15 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 137,160 | \$ | 142,069 | \$ | 146,980 |
| 16 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 137,160 | \$ | 142,069 | \$ | 146,980 |
| 17 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 139,469 | \$ | 144,378 | \$ | 149,289 |
| 18 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 139,469 | \$ | 144,378 | \$ | 149,289 |
| 19 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 139,469 | \$ | 144,378 | \$ | 149,289 |
| 20 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 139,469 | \$ | 144,378 | \$ | 149,289 |
| 21 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 141,779 | \$ | 146,688 | \$ | 151,599 |
| 22 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 141,779 | \$ | 146,688 | \$ | 151,599 |
| 23 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 141,779 | \$ | 146,688 | \$ | 151,599 |
| 24 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 141,779 | \$ | 146,688 | \$ | 151,599 |
| 25 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 144,089 | \$ | 148,998 | \$ | 153,909 |
| 26 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 144,089 | \$ | 148,998 | \$ | 153,909 |
| 27 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 144,089 | \$ | 148,998 | \$ | 153,909 |
| 28 | \$ | 119,870 | \$ | 144,089 | \$ | 148,998 | \$ | 153,909 |

V. Paid co-curricular duties

- A. Athletic Directors (AD)
 - 1. AD's shall teach one class, and be released the rest of the day for AD duties. The District shall contribute the following additional amounts toward the Athletic Director compensation:

2023-2024: \$100,0002024-2025: \$75,000

• 2025-2026: \$50,000

These additional funds shall not come from the FEA bargaining unit's compensation pool

- 2. There shall be one AD per each of the five comprehensive high school sites
- 3. AD's duty day shall be flexed, based on a mutually agreed-upon schedule between the AD and the Principal/Designee that meets the contractual criteria (450 minutes per day average).
- 4. The AD shall receive a \$15,000 annual stipend. This stipend is in recognition that the AD needs to be available at times outside of the duty day described above. A specific example involves the Fall Athletics season where the season begins a couple of weeks prior to the start of the school calendar. Athletic events also occur late into the evenings and sometimes on Saturdays. The AD and the Principal/designee shall meet to discuss the extent of such duties for the AD.
- 5. The AD may be required to attend periodic trainings (within the duty day) designed to improve the skills of coach mentoring and other responsibilities consistent with the AD job.
- B. Activity and sport advisor/coach stipends

The following table includes all approved stipends arranged by category, available uniformly at each site, subject to the provisions below. The site Principal shall be solely responsible for appointing each stipend recipient, following posting of each position and interviewing of candidates. Stipend recipients serve at the pleasure of the site Principal, and may be replaced at any time as the Principal sees fit. Stipend recipients shall have no expectation of continued tenure regardless of time already served in a position.

| Position | Category | Season |
|--|----------|-----------------------|
| Band Director/ Orchestra Director | A | All Year |
| Choir Director | A | All Year |
| Drama Director | A | All Year |
| School Newspaper | A | All Year |
| Yearbook Advisor | A | All Year |
| Football, Head Varsity | A | Fall |
| Swimming, Head Varsity | A | Spring |
| Track, Head Varsity | A | Spring |
| Robotics Lead | A | All Year |
| Speech and Debate Advisor | A | All Year |
| Dance Team Advisor | A | All Year |
| FBLA/ DECA Advisor | A | All Year |
| Spirit Advisor | A | All Year |
| Cross Country, Head Varsity | A | Fall |
| Field Hockey, Head Varsity | A | Fall |
| Volleyball, Head Varsity girls' | A | Fall |
| Volleyball, Head Varsity boys' | A | Spring |
| Water polo, Head Varsity boys' | A | Fall |
| Water polo, Head Varsity girls' | A | Fall |
| Basketball, Head Varsity girls' | A | Winter |
| Basketball, Head Varsity boys' | A | Winter |
| Wrestling, Head Varsity boys' and girls' | A | Winter |
| Soccer, Head Varsity girls' | A | Winter |
| Soccer, Head Varsity boys' | A | Winter |
| Badminton, Head Varsity boys' and girls' | A | Spring |
| Baseball, Head Varsity | A | Spring |
| Softball, Head Varsity | A | Spring |
| Gymnastics, Head Varsity (CHS only) | A | Spring |
| Tennis, Head Varsity girls' | A | Fall |
| Tennis, Head Varsity boys' | A | Spring |
| Principal Discretionary | A | Depends on assignment |
| Leadership | A | All Year |

| Position | Category | Season |
|---|----------|-----------------------------------|
| Tech Support Specialist | В | All Year |
| Winter Guard Advisor | В | Paid with winter athletic coaches |
| Volleyball, F/S Head boys' | В | Spring |
| Volleyball, JV Head girls' | В | Fall |
| Field Hockey, JV Head | В | Fall |
| Basketball, Head F/S boys' | В | Winter |
| Basketball, Head JV girls' | В | Winter |
| Wrestling Asst. | В | Winter |
| Girls Wrestling Asst. (If appropriate and needed) | В | Winter |
| Baseball, Head F/S | В | Spring |
| Softball, Head JV | В | Spring |
| Football Asst. | В | Fall |
| Football Asst. | В | Fall |
| Football, Head F/S | В | Fall |
| Soccer, Head F/S boys' | В | Winter |
| Soccer, Head JV girls' | В | Winter |
| Swimming Asst. | В | Spring |
| Track Asst. | В | Spring |
| Track Asst. | В | Spring |
| Gymnastics, Head JV (CHS only) | В | Spring |
| Water polo, Head F/S boys' | В | Fall |
| Water polo, Head JV girls' | В | Fall |
| Principal Discretionary | В | Depends on assignment |
| Principal Discretionary | В | Depends on assignment |
| Golf, girls' | В | Fall |
| Golf, boys' | В | Spring |

| Position | Category | Season |
|--------------------------------|----------|-----------------------|
| Stagecraft | C | All Year |
| Flags Advisor | C | All Year |
| Speech Asst. | C | All Year |
| Cross Country Asst. | C | Fall |
| Football Asst. | C | Fall |
| Football Asst. | C | Fall |
| Track Asst. | C | Spring |
| Track Asst. | C | Spring |
| Diving Coach | C | Spring |
| Robotics Asst. | C | All Year |
| JV Tennis boys' | C | Spring |
| JV Tennis girls' | C | Fall |
| Badminton JV boys' and girls' | C | Spring |
| Strength and Conditioning sem1 | С | Fall |
| Strength and Conditioning sem2 | C | Spring |
| Principal Discretionary | С | Depends on assignment |
| Principal Discretionary | С | Depends on assignment |
| Principal Discretionary | С | Depends on assignment |

| Position | Category | Season |
|-------------------------------------|----------|-----------------------|
| Principal's Discretionary, Activity | D | Depends on assignment |
| Principal's Discretionary, Activity | D | Depends on assignment |
| Principal's Discretionary, Activity | D | Depends on assignment |

C. Discretionary positions; no substitutions

A total of eight discretionary positions are indicated in the table above (four in Category C, two in Category B, and two in Category A) which may be used as the site Principal chooses. However, no substitution of non-discretionary stipends for any other purposes shall be permitted. If a particular sport or activity stipend is not needed at any given site during any particular season, it must go unused, and may not be applied to any other sport or activity at that site.

D. Compensation for coaching two teams

Whenever a bargaining unit employee is authorized in advance to coach simultaneously two distinct teams from existing positions in Category A, B, or C, the member shall receive both stipends.

E. Compensation for extended season

A coach whose season is extended to regional, sectional, State or national competition shall be compensated at five percent of the competitive season stipend for each additional week of service required, but not to exceed four weeks.

F. Stipend amounts

Category A, B, and C stipend amounts shall be set, and modified when deemed appropriate, by the District, subject to the provisions of this section. The stipend for each position in a category shall be the same, regardless of the years of experience as a coach, teacher, or athletic director of the person holding the position. No distinction will be made between FEA members and non-members ("walk-ons") in determining the amount of the stipend. Inasmuch as the District retains control of stipend amounts, outside the control of FEA, Category A, B, and C stipend costs will be deemed an off-the-top expense for purposes of computing revenue share allocations. Creation of new stipended positions remains subject to negotiation and the waiver and/or modification provisions of this CBA.

VI. Per diem rate

The daily rate is determined by dividing the annual salary by the total number of duty days of the bargaining unit employee. This daily rate is for deduction purposes when the bargaining unit employee is absent in situations not covered by paid leaves and/or to compute prorated contracts when a bargaining unit employee starts after the beginning of a school year or terminates before the end of the school year. For the purposes of this section, annual salary for the regular school year means placement on the salary schedule plus advanced degree stipends and Career Increment and supplemental pay according to section IX of this Article.

VII. Summer school rate of pay

Summer school teaching shall be compensated at the rate of \$70 per hour for five hours per day, consisting of four hours of classroom time and one hour of ERAP. Optional collaboration work shall be compensated at the currently applicable hourly rate.

The District may establish a separate salary scale for summer school teachers who are not bargaining unit employees and who are hired in accordance with Article 20 I, provided that no non-member shall receive more compensation than would be offered under this section to a bargaining unit employee with comparable qualifications.

VIII. Payday

If a regular payday during the school term falls on a day when school is not in session, bargaining unit employees shall receive their checks on the last workday of the month as defined by the Santa Clara County Department of Education. Bargaining unit employees may have their summer check(s) mailed to the address of their choice if by June 10 they

have provided a stamped, self-addressed envelope(s) to their site secretary.

IX. Supplemental pay

Bargaining unit employees having a supplemental pay assignment lasting the full regular school year (such as Department Leads, band, choir, speech, drill team advisor, and drama) shall have the stipend added to their base salary. All others having a seasonal assignment shall be paid on the tenth of the month following the end of their assignment.

X. Additional teaching competency stipend

A one-time, non-recurring stipend shall be given to bargaining unit employees for each additional teaching competency not previously registered with the District or listed on their credentials. The stipend will be \$3,000 (three thousand dollars).

Certification of an additional competency shall consist of a credential from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing listing the additional teaching authorization. The teaching authorization must authorize the bargaining unit employee to teach a course that is currently taught, or will be taught in the subsequent school year. Emergency/temporary permits to teach a particular course do not qualify for this stipend. Additional Teaching Competency stipends, unless otherwise indicated i.e. Areas of High Need, shall be considered an FEA Bargaining Unit expense.

One exception to this expense attribution shall be with respect to Ethnic Studies. Any bargaining unit employee who obtains an authorization that allows them to teach Ethnic Studies as an additional teaching competency shall be eligible for the regular Advanced Teaching Competency Stipend. This particular authorization shall not be an FEA bargaining unit expense. This Ethnic Studies-related subsection regarding the expense attribution shall sunset on June 30, 2026.

XI. Areas of High Need

The District may choose to designate a particular subject area as "High Need". The District has the right to determine what qualifies as High Need, and may set a time frame in which the High Need designation applies. Such designations shall involve consultation with FEA. Bargaining Unit Employees who complete high need credential authorizations shall receive a \$6,000 (six thousand dollar) stipend instead of the \$3,000 stipend (not both). High Need Additional Teaching Competency Stipend costs shall *not* be considered an FEA bargaining unit expense.

High Need Area for 2023-2026: Commencing on January 1, 2023, the Health Sciences Credential authorization shall be a High Need area. In this instance, all bargaining unit employees who currently possess a valid Health Sciences authorization, or obtain one prior to June 30, 2026, shall qualify for the High Need stipend.

XII. Mileage and travel stipends

With the advance approval of the District, bargaining unit employees who use their own automobiles in the performance of their regular employment-related/employment-connected duties shall be reimbursed for all such travel at the I.R.S. rate per mile. This reimbursement shall not apply to paid and/or non-paid co-curricular duties. The rate shall be adjusted during the contract period to coincide with the mileage rate allowed by the United States Internal Revenue Service for income tax purpose. Bargaining unit employees with multi-school classroom teaching assignments at sites separated by one mile or more requiring their presence at multiple sites within the same day shall receive an annual travel stipend of \$8,000 as compensation for the resulting inconvenience, but no mileage reimbursement.

XIII. Health and welfare benefits

The District shall provide each eligible bargaining unit employee, their spouse, and their dependents with health and welfare benefits as provided hereinafter, subject to any measures taken by FEA under section F. below. While on an unpaid leave of absence, a bargaining unit employee may participate at their expense in any of the health and welfare benefits available to bargaining unit employees, to the extent permitted by the coverage carriers, and subject to the following provision: it is the expectation of the parties that all leaves will be of limited and well-defined duration, and in no event shall any member on an unpaid leave be permitted to participate in the health and welfare benefits for more than 39 months.

A. Coverages provided

- 1. Health Insurance: (1) Anthem Blue Cross Prudent Buyer Plan or equivalent, plus prescriptions; or (2) the Kaiser Permanente Traditional Plan, plus prescriptions.
- 2. Dental Insurance: A group dental care program with an orthodontia program for dependents equal to that provided by the Delta Dental Service Plan #6382 or equivalent.
- 3. Vision Care Plan: A vision care program as provided, at the member's option, by either (1) the California Vision Service Plan "Plan C" or equivalent; or (2) Kaiser Permanente Traditional Plan "Optical Services" or equivalent (for Kaiser Permanente members only).
- 4. Income Protection Plan: The District shall provide all bargaining unit employees with a salary protection program as provided by the Standard Insurance Income Protection/Disability Policy# CT 503052 0002, or equivalent."

- 5. Employee Assistance Plan: The District shall provide all covered bargaining unit employees with fully paid premiums for a licensed employee assistance plan as provided by Optum Health, or equivalent.
- 6. Term Life Insurance: The District shall provide all covered bargaining unit employees with fully paid premiums for term life insurance. The bargaining unit employee may purchase supplemental coverage at his or her own expense.
- B. Bargaining unit employees on a part-time assignment may participate in the benefit plans in accordance with the provisions of Article 10. Such participation shall be contingent upon the requirements and limitations of the carriers.
- C. If a bargaining unit employee not yet eligible for retirement under Article 15 I dies during the year, their spouse and dependents who are covered under the current program(s) may maintain that coverage for 18 months from the date of death of the member on the same terms applicable to the spouse and dependents of active bargaining unit employees, such as payment of fees for spousal or dependent coverage and subject to any plan changes. If a bargaining unit employee is eligible for retirement under Article 15 I but not yet retired at the time of death, their spouse and dependents who are covered under the current program(s) may maintain that coverage for five years from the date of death of the member on the same terms applicable to the spouse and dependents of active bargaining unit employees, such as payment of fees for spousal or dependent coverage and subject to any plan changes.
- D. During the term of this CBA, FEA reserves the right to place the Health and Welfare benefit costs on the salary schedule, at the full expense of the bargaining unit.
- E. Bargaining unit employees newly hired for the beginning of an academic year shall be entitled to Health and Welfare benefits effective as of the date of the first mandatory workday for permanent members of that academic year.
- F. Health and welfare coverage changes and cost containment
 The parties agree that FEA may choose its own broker for health care benefits, and
 that FEA retains control of the content of the plans. If, at any time during the term
 of this contract, FEA wishes to modify its coverage for bargaining unit employees,
 and/or decrease costs (for example, increasing co-payments, changing carriers, or
 eliminating certain coverage), FEA will recommend that these changes be made
 and the District shall implement these recommendations as soon as practicable.
- G. Carrier change provision

Should a change in carrier requirements cause a substantive change in benefits, the parties shall meet and agree upon alternative coverage. Nothing in this provision shall limit the process outlined in section F. above.

XIV. Member property coverage

Bargaining unit employees shall be reimbursed by the District for damaged or destroyed personal equipment being used for the benefit of the District, subject to the following limitations.

- A. Personal items (such as clothing, eyeglasses, etc.) that have been damaged or destroyed in the performance of duty may be paid for by the District to a maximum of \$150.00 per occurrence. This limit may be exceeded with the approval of the Superintendent or the bargaining unit employee designee. Proof of loss/damage shall be required. A bargaining unit employee is entitled to reimbursement for only the actual net out- of-pocket loss suffered not covered by insurance and then only to the stated limit of \$150.00 per occurrence.
- B. Losses due to willful damage of automobiles or articles left in locked automobiles which are on campus or at the location of an off-campus school-related activity will be reimbursed up to \$500.00 per occurrence. Proof of loss/damage shall be required including proof that the loss/damage occurred while the car was on campus or at an off-campus school-related activity. A bargaining unit employee is entitled to reimbursement for only the actual net out-of-pocket loss suffered not covered by insurance and then only to the stated limit of \$500.00 per occurrence.
- C. Personal equipment, in order to be covered, requires prior registration with the Principal. The Principal must attest that the equipment is essential to the instructional program and that it cannot be provided through normal school resources. The bargaining unit employee must have taken proper precautions to safeguard the equipment from loss or damage. Items valued at more than \$50.00 must be kept under lock and key after school hours. Proof of loss shall be required. Loss under this section is limited to \$250.00 per occurrence. This limit may be exceeded with the approval of the Superintendent or the bargaining unit employee designee. Reimbursement is limited to the actual net out-of-pocket loss suffered not covered by insurance and to the previously stated limit. Items that are lost or damaged through the negligence of the bargaining unit employee are not covered under this section.

Article 15 Retirement

I. Eligibility

A. In-district Service

A candidate for participation for retirement under this CBA must be a bargaining unit employee having a minimum of ten years of service in this District in a certificated position. A year of service is defined as providing service in a paid position for at least seventy five percent (75%) of the teaching days required to complete a year's course. Should a bargaining unit employee meet the minimum of ten years of service as well as the age requirements as a full-time member, and then move to part-time status prior to retirement, their retirement benefits shall be computed as if the member retired in full-time status. Nothing in this section shall supersede the Reduced Workload Program (Willie Brown) language provisions articulated in Article 10 section V.

B. Age

A Candidate shall be at least fifty-five years of aged or shall have completed thirty years of service as required by STRS or PERS

D. STRS or PERS participation

Persons participating in this [retirement benefit] program shall be designated Retired Program Employees of the District and must be eligible to receive a retirement allowance from STRS or PERS.

E. Application and resignation

To participate in the program, a bargaining unit employee must file an application with the Human Resources office and must submit a resignation to the District no later than May 1 of the final school year of pre-retirement status. Exceptions to this requirement may be made at the discretion of the Superintendent/designee.

1. Incentive for early notification of intent to retire

To encourage early notification for planning purposes, if the resignation is received prior to February 1, a bonus of \$1000 will be paid to the member in the final paycheck. A bargaining unit employee resigning in anticipation of retirement may request that the District not disclose his or her identity to the public prior to the first Board meeting in June. A bargaining unit employee who chooses to retire when eligible for benefits under STRS or PERS, even if not eligible for FEA retirement benefits under the provisions of this Article (for example, a teacher at age 55, with 30 years service but only seven years in this district) shall be eligible for the \$1000 bonus of this section provided that notice is timely given.

II. Health benefits

Retirees shall be eligible to enroll in District health insurance programs for five years subject to the provisions that follow.

A. Enrollment and premiums

Retirees and spouses who remain within the geographic service area of FEA's

health plan providers may enroll in the same medical, dental, and vision plans as provided for active bargaining unit employees for five years following their retirement. Coverage for dependent children, if any, shall be provided to the same extent as provided for active members. Premiums shall be paid by the District to the same extent that premiums are paid for active bargaining unit employees. Such participation shall be contingent upon insurance carrier requirements and continuous coverage under such plans. Orthodontia, life insurance, employee assistance programs, and income protection shall not be provided. Out-of-area retirees and spouses may elect to have the District pay premiums for five years for the closest equivalent coverage available in their region at a cost not exceeding that paid for local retirees.

B. Medicare requirements

All retirees and spouses, regardless of location, are obliged to participate in Medicare Part B when first eligible, with fees to be paid by the retired bargaining unit employee or spouse, to offset the costs to FEA of providing the benefits under this paragraph. Furthermore, all retirees and spouses are obligated to assign their Medicare benefits to their FEA health plan provider. Failure to participate in Medicare Part B or to assign benefits shall constitute forfeiture of all benefits under this Article.

C. Surviving spouse

If a retiree dies during the five year period in which he/she is receiving benefits, the surviving spouse, if covered at the death of the retiree, will continue to receive benefits through the remainder of the five-year period, subject to the same terms applicable to spouses of active members, such as spousal coverage payments and plan changes.

D. Communication with retirees

To enable FEA and the District to communicate with retirees regarding benefits matters, retiree addresses and related information must be kept up to date. To that end, each retiree shall be sent an annual survey by the District, directed to the most current address in the District records. Retirees are obligated to respond within 60 days of receipt; failure to respond will result in termination of benefits.

III. Recruiting and hiring retirees

Current California law permits the hiring under certain specified circumstances of retirees who may be receiving STRS or PERS benefits, for the purpose of increasing the pool of qualified certificated staff available to districts. This section shall apply to the hiring of certificated retirees into positions that would ordinarily be filled by bargaining unit employees, whether those retirees retired from this District or from another District.

A. Hiring priority

The first preference of the parties is for the District to hire bargaining unit employees to fill openings and vacant positions. If the District is unable to meet its certificated staffing needs by hiring bargaining unit employees, then the District may hire a retiree. To ensure that candidates for bargaining unit employeeship are given ample opportunity to be considered, and that current bargaining unit employees are considered for possible 6th class assignments before any retirees are approached, the District shall not offer any contract to a retiree for a given school year prior to 15 days immediately preceding the opening of school. All such contracts shall expire on or before the end of the school year. The District has discretion to hire retirees who best meet the needs of programs and students, but no retiree has any right to be hired or rehired.

B. One year sit-out requirement

To prevent the provisions of paragraph A above from being circumvented by a bargaining unit employee who during the last year of service before retirement may have influence over scheduling or recruiting for the next academic year, a retiree must have spent at least one year in retirement, not serving in a certificated position, before being hired to fill any opening that is posted prior to the beginning of school for the academic year in which the opening is to be filled. For any unexpected opening that was not posted prior to the beginning of the academic year, such as one created by serious illness of a bargaining unit employee arising after the academic year has begun, this restriction shall not apply.

C. No FEA membership or benefits

A retiree hired in accordance with this section may do work ordinarily performed by a bargaining unit employee. However, a retiree shall not be a unit member, shall not be required to pay dues to FEA, and shall not receive FEA health and welfare benefits (unless separately entitled under sections I and II of this Article above). Sick leave may be accrued at the rate of one day per month served, prorated for the retiree's FTE status, but the retiree shall not be entitled to personal necessity leave, or other paid leaves by virtue of being hired under this section. The District shall provide worker's compensation and unemployment insurance for any hired retiree, and such driven costs will be considered bargaining unit costs for revenue share allocation computations. No STRS or PERS contributions shall be made by the retiree or by the District for the retiree.

D. Compensation

The parties intend that staffing with retirees shall be on a revenue share allocation-neutral basis insofar as possible. To minimize the impact on the revenue share allocation, the parties agree that the rate of pay for a retiree shall be set such that the net bargaining unit cost to FEA (including salary and burdens) shall not exceed that which would be paid to a bargaining unit employee at the level of

column 1, step 1 of the then current salary schedule. If there is a need for the retiree to return a second year, he/she will not advance on the schedule (no step, column, or career increment increases). The cost of such compensation will be applied to the revenue share allocation computation.

E. Duties

Hired retirees shall be assigned co-curricular duties in the same manner as bargaining unit employees. A retiree shall be required to attend faculty meetings, collaboration and curriculum meetings, Back-to-School Night, and mandatory staff development days. A retiree must be reasonably available for conferences with students and/or parents.

F. Special provision for retirement incentive

To permit the district to respond to anomalous situations that may arise in anticipation of staffing needs for the subsequent school year, for the purposes of saving costs and avoiding a need for involuntary transfers of bargaining unit employees, the parties agree as follows. After consultation and approval by FEA, during the spring term District Human Resources may approach veteran teachers in departments for which an overstaffing situation is expected, to determine their interest in choosing to retire at the end of the current school year if assured a .4 or lesser FTE position as a retiree for the following school year. Any bargaining unit employee so approached may decline the opportunity, and no pressure will be brought to bear on any such bargaining unit employee to influence his or her decision. If a bargaining unit employee accepts the opportunity, they may be hired immediately after retirement in accordance with paragraphs C, D, and E above (membership, compensation, and duties), but the restrictions of paragraphs A and B (hiring priority and sit-out requirement) shall not apply.

Article 16 Grievances

In consideration of the terms and conditions of this CBA, the parties agree that for the duration of this CBA FEA will not engage in or sanction a strike or withholding of the services to the District required by this CBA, and the District will not lock out FEA. Conflicts between FEA and the District are to be addressed through negotiation or through the provisions of this Article. The parties agree that the purpose of a grievance procedure is to process a claim of grievance and to secure, at the administrative level closest to the aggrieved, solutions to problems which may from time to time arise affecting the welfare or working conditions of bargaining unit employees. This grievance procedure shall not be construed as in any way hindering, discouraging, or denying the settlement of complaints outside the structure of the grievance procedure.

I. Level I

A grievance shall first be discussed with the aggrieved bargaining unit employee's

Principal with the objective of resolving the matter informally. The aggrieved may have a representative(s) present with the bargaining unit employee at this informal meeting. If it is agreeable, more than one meeting may be scheduled for the purpose of resolving the grievance at the informal stage. If the aggrieved is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, the bargaining unit employee may submit to the Principal the official grievance form. If the aggrieved has not filed a claim within ten days following the last meeting with the Principal in an attempt to resolve the matter informally, the grievance will be deemed to have been waived. If a formal grievance has been filed, the aggrieved may:

- A. Present and discuss the grievance personally with the Principal, or
- B. Request that a representative(s) accompany the bargaining unit employee to present and discuss the grievance with the Principal, or
- C. Request that a representative(s) act on the bargaining unit employee's behalf in presenting and discussing the grievance with the Principal. If the Principal determines additional information is needed, the Principal may schedule a meeting at which the aggrieved member and a FEA representative shall be present.

Within ten days after receipt of the written grievance by the Principal, the Principal or the bargaining unit employee's designee shall meet with the aggrieved and/or representative(s) in an effort to resolve the matter. Within ten days after the last Level I meeting, the Principal shall render a proposed resolution to the aggrieved, and to FEA, regardless of whether the aggrieved is represented by FEA.

Within ten days after receipt of a copy of the grievance and the Principal's proposed resolution, FEA shall transmit to the Principal its written response. Such response shall indicate agreement or disagreement with the Principal's proposed resolution. Supporting written rationale shall accompany a position of disagreement.

Within ten days after receipt of FEA's response, the Principal shall render a written decision to the aggrieved and to FEA.

II. Level II

If the aggrieved is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level I, or if the Principal fails to meet any of the deadlines set forth in section I. above, the aggrieved or the bargaining unit employee's representative(s) may forward the official grievance form to the Superintendent. Submission to the Superintendent shall be timely if made within five days after the decision at Level I was received, or five days after the first deadline missed by the Principal, whichever is sooner.

Within ten days after receipt of the written grievance by the Superintendent, the

Superintendent or the bargaining unit employee designee shall meet with the aggrieved and/or representative(s) in an effort to resolve the matter. Within ten days after the Level II meeting, the Superintendent shall provide a written proposed resolution to the aggrieved and to FEA, regardless of whether the aggrieved is represented by FEA.

Within ten days after receipt Superintendent's proposed resolution, FEA shall transmit to the Superintendent its written response. Such response shall indicate agreement or disagreement with the Superintendent's proposed resolution.

Within ten days after receipt of FEA's response the Superintendent shall render a written decision to the aggrieved and send a copy to FEA

III. Level III

If the aggrieved is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level II, or the time limits expire without the issuance of a Superintendent's written reply, FEA may within twenty days submit the grievance to arbitration. In such case, the parties shall request a list of seven arbitrators who have been certified by the California State Conciliation Service (CSCS) or the American Arbitration Association (AAA).

No party in interest shall be permitted to assert any grounds or evidence before the arbitrator which was not previously disclosed to the other party. The arbitrator shall consider only those issues raised by the parties in interest. The arbitrator is empowered to include in any award such financial reimbursements or other remedies as judged to be proper. Each party shall bear the full costs for its representation in the arbitration. The cost of the arbitration and of the CSCS or AAA shall be divided equally between the District and FEA. If either party requests a transcript of the proceedings, that party shall bear the full cost for that transcript. If both parties request a transcript, the total cost of the transcripts shall be divided equally between the District and FEA.

A. Selection of arbitrators

An arbitrator shall be selected by the following procedures. Representatives of FEA and the District shall select the arbitrator from the CSCS or AAA list by eliminating names until one name remains. All grievances reaching the arbitration level shall be numbered. The odd-numbered grievance will give the District first elimination; even-numbered grievances will give FEA first elimination. The last remaining name shall be the arbitrator. The process of striking names shall occur within ten days of receipt of the list from CSCS or AAA by both parties.

B. Procedure

Once the arbitrator has been selected, hearings shall commence at the convenience of the arbitrator. Hearings shall be confined to working days. The arbitrator shall conduct the hearing in accordance with the voluntary arbitration rules of the

American Arbitration Association and the provisions of this procedure. The arbitrator shall conduct the proceedings in accordance with the standards common to the field of arbitration including the exercise of the standards of equity. However, the arbitrator shall not have the authority to amend or modify the written terms and conditions of this CBA. Within thirty days after conclusion of the hearing, the arbitrator shall render a binding award in writing to the parties in interest.

IV. General provisions

A. Timing

Since it is important that grievances shall be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each level should be considered as a maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time specified, however, may be extended by mutual consent. In the event a grievance is filed at such time that it cannot be processed through all levels in this grievance procedure by the end of the school year, the time limits set forth herein will be reduced so that the grievance procedure may be completed prior to the end of the school year, or as soon thereafter as it is practicable.

B. Change of representative

The aggrieved may change the designation of a representative(s) at Level I and II during the grievance process. Such change(s) shall be communicated in writing to all parties in interest.

C. Level skipping

If, in the judgment of FEA, a grievance affects a group or class of bargaining unit employees, the processing of such grievance may commence at Level II by mutual written consent of the parties.

D. Bargaining unit employees not supervised by a Principal

Aggrieved bargaining unit employees not under the supervision of a Principal may submit their claim to the appropriate District level administrator for processing at Level I.

E. Disclosure

The parties in interest agree to make available to each other all pertinent information not privileged under law or board policies in their possession or control and which is relevant to the issues raised by the grievance.

F. Stale complaints

No grievance shall be valid unless it shall have been presented at the appropriate level within twenty days after the aggrieved knew or should have known of the act or condition and its aggrieving nature that formed the basis of the grievance, and if not so

presented, the grievance will be considered as waived.

G. Finality

A decision rendered at any level shall be considered final unless an appeal to the next level is made within the time limit specified. If a decision is not given to the aggrieved within the time limit, an appeal may be taken to the next level.

H. No reprisals

No party in interest shall take reprisals affecting the employment status of any bargaining unit employee, party in interest, any FEA representative, or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.

I. Separate records

Any record(s) pertaining to a grievance shall be kept in a grievance file separate from the aggrieved bargaining unit employee's official District personnel file.

J. Release time for grievance processing

At Level III, FEA shall be allowed release time for a grievance representative to attend all grievance sessions. Should the processing of any grievance require that the aggrieved be released from their regular assignment, the aggrieved shall be released without loss of pay or benefits. In the event substitute coverage is necessary, the substitutes shall be secured through the regular substitute procedures.

Article 17 Negotiations

I. Continuing discussions

The parties intend and expect that continuing discussions will be held between FEA and the District throughout the term of this CBA for a variety of purposes, including ensuring implementation of, compliance with, and consistent application of the terms of this CBA, considering matters needing clarification, coping with changed or unanticipated circumstances through possible modification of this CBA, improving District, school, and FEA operations under this CBA, anticipating future needs, and preparing for an eventual successor CBA. Where possible, the parties intend that open, candid, and informal communication will precede any formal steps required by this Article.

II. Participants for the parties

Each party shall select its own negotiating representatives, provided that the District shall not select a bargaining unit employee as its representative and FEA shall not select as its representative a District employee who is not a unit member. Either party may utilize the services of outside consultants to assist in negotiations if desired.

III. Release for FEA President

To enhance the ability of FEA to participate in candid communications with the District, the FEA President shall be allotted 0.6 FTE of release time. His or her teaching assignment shall be set as early in the morning as possible, that is, the first three periods, so that the maximum possible continuous block of time is available for addressing matters relating to this CBA.

IV. Release time for negotiators

Up to six unit members shall be eligible to receive up to ten days release time for negotiation of the successor to this CBA, to a maximum of sixty person-days. The parties may agree to additional days as may be necessary; however, for each additional person-day beyond sixty, an equal number shall be deducted from the fifty-four available during the summer pursuant to section V. below. Any extension of negotiating sessions beyond the workday shall be by mutual consent.

V. Summer negotiations

Unit members who participate in negotiating sessions during the summer vacation shall be eligible to receive pay at the daily substitute rate for each day of participation, provided that the total pay liability of the District shall not exceed fifty-four person-days. If the number of person-days worked exceeds fifty-four, the daily rate of pay shall decrease on a pro rata basis. FEA may utilize new representatives to substitute for those unable to attend. FEA shall keep an accurate record of the negotiating days worked during the summer by unit members and submit a complete list of names and days worked to the District upon completion of summer negotiations.

VI. Schedule for formal steps

- A. No later than the third Tuesday in March in the final year of this CBA, unless otherwise agreed, FEA shall present its initial proposal for a successor CBA to the District and to the public at a regular or special Board meeting. Within ten working days the District shall then make public its initial proposal. Thereafter, FEA may amend its initial proposal consistent with public notice requirements. Negotiations will begin by April 1st or thirty days following the public disclosure of the District's initial proposal, and/or any public disclosure of any amendments made to the initial proposals submitted by either party, which ever is later. If necessary, public hearing and Board adoption of initial proposals may take place at special Board meetings.
- B. During negotiations, items tentatively agreed upon shall be reduced to writing and initialed by both parties.
- C. When the District and FEA have reached tentative agreement on all matters being negotiated, prior to implementation of the complete proposed successor CBA shall be submitted to and approved by the District and submitted to and approved by FEA in accordance with its by-laws.

D. If the District and FEA are unable to reach tentative agreement on all matters being negotiated, the impasse procedure prescribed by law shall be implemented after determination by PERB that impasse exists. However, nothing shall prevent the parties from attempting to resolve their differences through continued meetings and negotiations subsequent to the implementation of the impasse procedure.

Article 18 Waivers

To encourage initiative and innovation at the work site, the parties have provided a waiver process to permit deviations from the terms of this CBA under circumstances where additional flexibility may be advantageous. Since CBA breaches may not be apparent, originators of proposals that deviate from standard practice are strongly advised to consult with both the District and FEA so that the potential need for a waiver may be fully evaluated. Any proposal/project which breaches the CBA may be grieved for failure to submit a waiver application.

I. Submission process

If a waiver appears to be necessary, the proponents of the proposal shall submit it for approval by both parties.

A. Unit member originated proposals

In the case of unit member-originated proposals, FEA approval must be obtained in accordance with FEA's by-laws and internal procedures before submission to the District. Once FEA approval has been obtained, the proposal then may be presented to the District for its consideration. District evaluation of the proposal will be eased if the following information is included in the information and materials submitted to the District: purpose and description of the proposal; identification of the specific sites or departments to be affected; timelines for implementation and/or completion and duration of waiver; anticipated means of evaluating the results; and CBA language to be waived.

1. District approval process

Within fifteen duty days of submission of the proposal to the District for review, the originators will be notified of the status of their proposal. The District may request additional information about the proposal to aid in its deliberations. The goal shall be to complete this process within 45 duty days of submission or as soon thereafter as practicable. The District shall give written notice to FEA, the originators of a proposal, and the affected site Principal regarding whether a waiver has been approved.

B. District originated proposals

The District may request waiver of any of the terms of the CBA by FEA by

submission of a proposal, accompanied by sufficient information to permit evaluation. FEA may request additional information as may be necessary to assist in its consideration. FEA will evaluate such proposals in accordance with its bylaws and internal procedures, with the goal of responding to the District within 45 days, or as soon thereafter as practical. FEA will provide a written response to the District if so requested.

II. Renewals

Waivers will not ordinarily be approved for more than one school year in duration, and will expire if not renewed. A renewal may be requested, following the same procedure used for the original submission. Any renewal request should include a rationale for continuing the project or proposal, and an indication of the results of the project or proposal to date.

A. Single renewal option

If so designated at the time of the original proposal, a waiver may be set to require only one annual renewal. After the first renewal, a waiver for such a proposal will automatically become the norm for the school sites operating under the waiver, unless and until there is a school site decision to modify the waiver or return to the original CBA language provision by terminating the waiver.

III. Waiver termination

A waiver shall terminate if:

- A. the terms of the waiver itself require it;
- B. the waiver expires and is not renewed;
- C. any predetermined event or condition to terminate the waiver as set forth in the proposal comes to pass;
- D. there is a joint determination by FEA and the District to terminate the waiver, independent of any specific event or predetermined condition; or
- E. a petition by the originators of the proposal and/or any affected unit member requesting termination is presented to and approved by FEA and thereafter by the District.

IV. Modifications

A request to modify an existing waiver shall submitted and considered following the same process used for new proposals.

V. Grievances

The following shall be subject to the grievance process under this CBA:

- A. the waiver application process; and
- B. any misapplication of waiver provisions of specific CBA language.

The failure of FEA or the District to identify a restructuring proposal as requiring a waiver shall not preclude the filing of a grievance for an alleged breach of this CBA.

Implementation of the any proposal project terms and conditions not within the scope of this CBA and that did not require CBA language to be waived shall not be grievable.

VI. Incorporation into and impact on CBA

Upon approval of any waiver, a modification of this CBA in accordance with Article 27 shall be made to incorporate the effective terms of the waiver, so that no other document need be consulted to ascertain all the currently binding terms. The wording of the modification used to reflect the waiver shall clearly specify all appropriate limitations of the waiver as to scope, effect, and duration. It is understood that approved waivers are not precedent setting, and that any waiver is applicable only to the specific site or sites for which the waiver is granted and only for the specified duration, and that the unmodified language of this CBA shall continue to be binding for all other sites.

Article 19 Middle College

The District has determined to operate a Middle College program for students of the school district and may at some later date choose to discontinue the program.

I. Assignment of bargaining unit employees

Only bargaining unit employees who have volunteered to teach in the Middle College shall be assigned to teach in the program. No bargaining unit employee shall be involuntarily transferred to the Middle College program. A bargaining unit employee on partial or full-time assignment at the Middle College site may request a voluntary transfer to a comprehensive high school under Article 8. If a voluntary transfer is not available, the bargaining unit employee may demand that the District invoke the involuntary transfer provisions of Article 8 to effect a transfer no later than the beginning of the fall semester of the next school year.

II. Adjustment to duties

A. Bargaining unit employees who volunteer for and are assigned to the Middle College shall perform services according to the community college academic calendar with the addition of days necessary to bring the total workdays to the one hundred eighty-four days normally required of bargaining unit employees. bargaining unit employees shall be compensated on a per diem basis for any days up to a maximum of ten days worked beyond the one hundred eighty-four days required of bargaining unit

employees on the regular school calendar. Scheduling of the additional days shall be coordinated by the bargaining unit employees subject to the approval of the administrator in charge of the determined and assigned by the District shall be reimbursed at the per diem rate. Verification of the additional and assigned days worked is the responsibility of the bargaining unit employee who shall submit a list of the days to the administrator in charge.

- B. The daily schedule shall be subject to the same 450 minute per day limit as for other bargaining unit employees.
- C. Bargaining unit employees involved in the Middle College program may be assigned to the District and/or De Anza staff for coordination meetings, other planning meetings, and recruitment programs in lieu of the twenty (20) hours of co-curricular duties time and normal staff meeting requirements of Article 5, but the time shall not exceed the total time required of regular teachers.
- D. The Middle College program shall be staffed at a program average ratio of 1 FTE for every 32.5 students.

Article 20 Summer academy

I. Selection process

The District shall post all summer academy positions in accordance with the paid cocurricular duties section stipulated in Article 5 X.

II. Summer calendar

- A. The summer academy calendar for the subsequent school year shall be determined through the consultation process by the District and FEA prior to January 1 of each year of this CBA.
- B. The number of days for the regular summer academy session shall be no more than thirty. The length of the workday for bargaining unit employees shall be five hours, consisting of four hours of classroom teaching and one hour of ERAP.

III. Class size

A. Summer Academy class size shall not exceed the student to staff ratios outlined in Article 6, Section II.

Article 21 Faculty advisory committees

All bargaining unit employees at each site are expected to be involved in the development and improvement of the instructional program. To this end, Faculty Advisory Committees

(FAC) may be formed to take an active role in participative decision making. The method for selection and at each site. The Faculty Advisory Committee shall meet with the Principal to review and discuss local school issues, practices and budget. The Faculty Advisory Committee shall play an active role in the revision, development or improvement of site practices and shall provide the opportunity for the staff to exchange ideas and engage in planning.

Article 22 Staff development days

I. Offerings subject to available funding

To the extent that funding is available, the District may establish one or more optional staff development days, to be held on dates consistent with those provided for that purpose in the calendars shown in Article 23 below (indicated as "non-duty day"). Bargaining unit employees choosing not to participate shall have no duties on those dates. If no such optional program is offered on one or more of those dates, that date shall be deemed a non-duty day for all bargaining unit employees.

II. Compensation

Bargaining unit employees who attend the full program offered on one of the optional staff development days under this Article shall be compensated at the rate of \$260 for each full day program and \$130 for each half day program. Members who do not attend or who attend for less than the full program on a given day are not entitled to compensation for that day. However, a bargaining unit employee engaged in school/district related activities that prevent the bargaining unit employee from attending all or part of an optional staff development day shall be excused by the District and shall receive the appropriate compensation as if he/she had attended providing he/she receives prior approval from the District.

III. No impact on evaluation

A bargaining unit employee's attendance or non-attendance shall not be a factor in the bargaining unit employee's evaluation under Article 13.

Article 23 Calendars and schedules

I. Calendars

The academic calendar for 2023-2024 school year is shown below. Dates for periodic reporting of grades are included, and shall apply to all sites. (The fall reporting date is computed as the second Tuesday in January on which students are in attendance; the spring reporting date is computed as the Tuesday following graduation.) Two graduation dates are provided to accommodate site choices for Thursday evening or Friday morning commencement exercises. Subsequent calendars are subject to continued negotiation.

| July 2 | 2023 | | | | | Janu | ary 202 | 4 | | | |
|--------|---------|---------------|---------|-----|--|--------|-----------|-----|------|---------|---|
| 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | | 1 | 2 | 2 | 4 | 5 | |
| 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 8- Sem II begins |
| 17 | 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | | 15 | 16 | 17 | 18 | 19 | 15- Martin Luther King Day |
| 24 | 25 | 26 | 27 | 28 | | 22 | 23 | 24 | 25 | 26 | 16- Sem I grades due |
| 31 | 20 | 20 | | 20 | | 29 | 30 | 31 | 20 | 20 | 17 days / 17 total |
| | ust 202 | l ૧ | | l . | | | Jary 20: | | | | 17 days 17 total |
| / tugo | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 9 - counselors start | T O.D. | , 20. | | 1 | 2 | |
| 7 | 8 | | 10 | 14 | 10 - 11 New teacher orientation | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | |
| 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 | 18 | 16 - 18 - teacher workdays | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | |
| 21 | 22 | 23 | 24 | 25 | 21 - first day of school | 19 | 20 | 21 | 22 | 23 | 17-25 President's week break |
| 28 | 29 | 30 | 31 | | 9 days / 9 total | 26 | 27 | 28 | 29 | | 16 days / 33 total |
| | ember | | 01 | | o dayer o solar | 7 | h 2024 | | | | To adjor so total |
| - Cop. | | | | 1 | | THE O | | | | 1 | 1 -end 4 th progress report period |
| 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 4 - Labor Day | 4 | -5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | , and 1 head-rate themes |
| 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | - Labor Day | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | |
| 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | 22 | 29 - end of 1 st progress report period | 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | 22 | 18 - non-duty day |
| 25 | 26 | 27 | 28 | 29 | 20 days / 29 total | 25 | 26 | 27 | 28 | 29 | 20 days / 53 total |
| | ber 20: | | | | | April | | | | | 20 20,000 000 |
| 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | |
| 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 9 - Indigenous Peoples Day | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | |
| 16 | 17 | 18 | 19 | 20 | - mageness r sopres say | 15 | 16 | 17 | 18 | 19 | 13-21 Spring break |
| 23 | 24 | 25 | 26 | 27 | | 22 | 23 | 24 | 25 | 26 | 26 - end 5 th progress report period |
| 30 | 31 | | 0 | | 21 days / 50 total | 29 | 30 | | | | 17 days / 70 total |
| | ember : | L 2023 | | | | May | | | | | |
| | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 9 - end of 2 nd progress report period | | | 1 | 2 | 3 | |
| 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 10 - Veterans Day | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | |
| 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 | voicians bay | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 | |
| 20 | 21 | 22 | 23 | 24 | 23 - 26 -Thanksgiving break | 20 | 21 | 22 | 23 | 24 | 27- Memorial Day |
| 27 | 28 | 29 | 30 | | 19 days / 69 total | 27 | 28 | 29 | 30 | 31 | 22 days / 92 total |
| 1700 | ember : | o contraction | 00 | | , o dayor oo talar | | 2024 | | | | 22 40/07/02 10107 |
| | | | | 1 | | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 6-end Sem II, 6-7 Graduation |
| 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 21 - End Sem I | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 7 - teacher workday |
| 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 22 - feacher workday | 17 | 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | 11 - Sem II grades due |
| 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | 22 | Dec.23 - Jan 7 Holiday break | 24 | 25 | 26 | 27 | 28 | 12 counselors end |
| (1999) | , 1000 | 2005 | NOVEL . | لت | THE THE PERSON WAS CONTRACTED TO STREET | 1225 | j romak j | -35 | 2000 | 2500-75 | 4 days / 96 total |

FREMONT UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT BELL SCHEDULE

2022-23

| | MONDAY | ٩Y | | TUESDAY | ٩Y | | WEDNESDAY | JAY | | THURSDAY | JAY | | FRID |
|-----|--------|-------|----|---------|-------|-----|------------------|-------|----|-----------------|-------|-----|-------|
| T | 8:30 | 9:15 | T | 8:30 | 10:00 | 7 | 8:30 | 10:05 | 1 | 8:30 | 10:00 | 4 | 06:8 |
| 2 | 9:20 | 10:05 | 7 | 10:05 | 11:35 | 1n1 | Tut 10:10 | 10:50 | 2 | 10:05 | 11:35 | Tut | 10:10 |
| Tut | 10:10 | 10:35 | Ъ | 11:35 | 11:50 | Br | 10:50 | 11:05 | Br | 11:35 | 11:50 | Br | 10:50 |
| m | 10:40 | 11:25 | m | 12:00 | 1:30 | 2 | 11:15 | 12:45 | m | 12:00 | 1:30 | 2 | 11:15 |
| Ą | 11:25 | 11:40 | ηŢ | 1:30 | 2:10 | n٦ | 12:45 | 1:25 | η | 1:30 | 2:10 | Γn | 12:45 |
| 4 | 11:50 | 12:35 | 7 | 2:20 | 3:50 | 9 | 1:35 | 3:05 | 7 | 2:20 | 3:50 | 9 | 1:35 |
| N | 12:40 | 1:25 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Lu | 1:25 | 2:05 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 9 | 2:15 | 3:00 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 7 | 3:05 | 3:50 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

10:05 10:50 11:05 12:45 1:25 3:05

| | MONDAY | ٨٨ | | TUESDAY / THURSDAY | ۱ <i>۲ /</i> ۱۸۲ | WED | WEDNESDAY / FRIDAY | ' FRIDAY |
|----|--------|-------|----|-----------------------|---------------------|-----|--------------------|----------|
| 1 | 8:30 | 9:15 | 1 | 8:30 | 10:00 | 4 | 8:30 | 10:05 |
| 7 | 9:20 | 10:05 | 7 | 10:05 | 11:35 | Tut | 10:10 | 10:50 |
| ut | 10:10 | 10:35 | Br | 11:35 | 11:50 | Br | 10:50 | 11:05 |
| e | 10:40 | 11:25 | m | 12:00 | 1:30 | 2 | 11:15 | 12:45 |
| 34 | 11:25 | 11:40 | ηŢ | 1:30 | 2:10 | Γn | 12:45 | 1:25 |
| 4 | 11:50 | 12:35 | 7 | 2:20 | 3:50 | 9 | 1:35 | 3:05 |
| 2 | 12:40 | 1:25 | | | | | | |
| 3 | 1:25 | 2:05 | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |



3:00

2:15

و و

Article 24 School closure

I. Guiding philosophy

The parties intend that the closure of a school should be treated as a district-wide event rather than restricted to a merely local event at the affected campus. Consequently, if closure of a school becomes necessary, the District and FEA will proceed as if *all* are to close, but one fewer will reopen. The transfer of teachers will be based on credentials, requests, and seniority, and shall be consistent with the general transfer and reassignment provisions of Article 8.

II. Procedures

The following implementation procedure shall be applied:

- A. A list of vacancies shall be distributed to all bargaining unit employees. Within seven days, each bargaining unit employee shall return an information card to the respective Principal ranking, by order of choice, five positions from the list of vacancies.
- B. If two or more bargaining unit employees have the same date of hire, such tie(s) shall be broken by lottery.
- C. Bargaining unit employees to be transferred shall be notified as soon as possible of their new school placement.
- D. If positions are not filled and if bargaining unit employees have not been placed, volunteers shall be sought from those already placed whose transfer to an open position would create an opening for the bargaining unit employee without a position. If no volunteer is forthcoming, the unassigned bargaining unit employee shall be placed in the position of the next more senior bargaining unit employee who can fill one of the open positions. Such placement of an unassigned bargaining unit employee is on condition that there is no senior laid off bargaining unit employee who is authorized and competent to serve in that position.
- E. Vacancies which occur subsequent to the distribution of openings under section 1 above shall be filled in accordance with Article 8.

Article 25 Glossary of terms

Aggrieved a bargaining unit employee or FEA asserting a grievance.

Annualized FTE the portion of a full time assignment served by a bargaining unit employee

when measured over a full school year, to account for a difference in assignments from one term to another; for example, a bargaining unit employee who works full time for half the year and not at all for the other

half represents 0.5 annualized FTE

Assignment the initial placement of a bargaining unit employee in a specific school site

and department(s) by the District

Bargaining unit

employee

an employee of the District belonging to the bargaining unit set forth in Article 1 - III. The term refers to membership in the bargaining unit, not

membership in FEA

Claim the assertion of a grievance by one or more bargaining unit employees,

FEA, or its representative(s).

District the Fremont Union High School District, whether acting through its Board

or through its designees or administrative employees

Emergency a sudden, unexpected happening, or an unforeseen occurrence or

condition, or a sudden or unexpected occasion for action.

FEA the Fremont Education Association.

Grievance a claim by one or more bargaining unit employees of an alleged breach,

misinterpretation, or misapplication of the terms and conditions of this

CBA.

Immediate Family mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchildren of the

bargaining unit employee or the spouse or registered domestic partner of the employee, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, stepchild, brother-in-law, sister or sister-in-law of the employee, or any person living in the immediate household of the employee; a person standing *in loco parentis* shall be considered as a member of the

immediate family.

Individual Grievance a claim submitted by a bargaining unit employee to the District without the

intervention of FEA.

Industrial accident

or illness

an illness or injury which qualifies under Workers' Compensation laws of

the State as being work connected.

Non-teaching a bargaining unit employee who does not have a classroom assignment

and/or does not issue grades.

Off-the-top those expenses to be deducted from revenues before year-to-year

comparison in accordance with Article 14 F 2 for revenue share allocation

purposes, as agreed by the parties.

Party in Interest the person or persons making a claim and any person who might be

required to take action or against whom action might be taken in order to

resolve the claim.

Presentation Use of instructional strategies, activities, and materials.

Reassignment the change of assignment from one instructional department to another at

the same location.

Serious illness where death is imminent, may result in permanent disability, or

requires hospital surgery.

Shared Full-Time two bargaining unit employees occupying a single full-time position each

of whom is employed on a full-time basis for one semester of the school

year with the other semester off

Spouse a bargaining unit employee's husband, wife, or registered domestic partner

STRS the California State Teacher Retirement System.

Superintendent the Superintendent of Schools or the Superintendent's designee.

Transfer a District action, which results in the movement of a bargaining unit

employee from one site to another (such as Cupertino, Fremont,

Homestead, Lynbrook, Monta Vista, District Office) for all or part of the

duty day.

Unauthorized leave absence resulting in nonperformance of duties and responsibilities

assigned by the District, duties and responsibilities as defined by the Education Code, rules and regulations of the State Board of Education, and District policies and regulations, including, but not limited to, individual or collective refusals to provide service, unauthorized use of leave benefits, and/or nonattendance at required meetings during the

regular workday.

Unit Member membership in FEA.

Article 26 Summary of consultation obligations.

For the convenience of the parties, the listing below summarizes the obligations to consult during the term of this CBA as set forth in the preceding Articles. This list is not intended to modify, vary, control, interpret, or supersede any other part of this CBA in any way. It is provided only as an aid to compliance with the controlling terms, which may be found by reference to the specific sections referenced below. The parties acknowledge that this list may be incomplete, and that omission here does not alter or relieve any obligations set out

above.

I. Consultation required in general

Art 2 II D and

Art 3 VII Determining curriculum

Art 21 Principals consult with Faculty Advisory Committees

II. Consultation required when an issue arises

Art 4 VII Before assigning classroom assistant (with member)

Art 5 III B 1c Variation in student case load for special education teachers

Art 5 XI C Creation of non-standard alternative duty assignment

Art 5 XI J Modification of a non-standard alternative duty assignment

Art 6 VII A Notice of intent to create combined classes for staffing, and consultation re

same

Art 4 VIII D Scheduling parental visits (consult with member)

Art 7 VI Exceptions to prohibition of employment while on leave Art 14 IV B 7 Unique situations for course approval / salary placement

Art 14 IV D Any assignment exceeding 1.2 FTE

Art 14 V G Creation of any new paid co-curricular position / stipend

Art 14 XII G Carrier change to benefits\

Art 14 I A 3 timing and sources for replenishing reserve

III. Consultation required each semester:

Art. 5 IX A 2 All co-curricular assignments, (consult with FEA site appointee)

Art 10 II C Co-curr. duties for part-timers (site admin with affected employees)

IV. Consultation required annually

Art 5 I All members / positions with extended work year
Art 5 XI C All non-standard alternative duty assignments in force

Art 5 XII A Special program duties, FTE status, and no-lunch stipends

Art 6 I Changes to staffing model

Art 11 I All (mandatory) departments participate in Department Lead position

selections and/or re-appointments, as set by matrix

Art 14 V A 2 With Athletic Directors, to assign release period, and review as set by matrix

Art 14 I J 1 Forecasts to be used in computing look-ahead predictions

V. Consultation required annually, by 40th day

Art 6 IV Staffing and class size ratios

VI. Consultation required annually, prior to Jan 1

Art 20 II A Summer school calendar

VII. Consultation required annually, in the Spring

Art 5 III B 2 Lead Resource Specialist duty assignments

Art 11 VI A EL Coordinator releases/stipends

Art 15 III F Before offering any retirement employment incentive

Article 27 Effective dates, integration, modification, severability, distribution

I. Effective dates of this CBA

This CBA shall be effective from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026.

II. Integration

This CBA contains the entire understanding of the parties, integrates all prior negotiations and agreements, and settles all issues which were or could have been negotiated between the parties. Any rule, regulation, expectation, or practice of the District inconsistent with this CBA is superseded by this CBA.

III. Modifications

No modification to this CBA shall be effective unless in writing and executed by duly authorized representatives of both parties.

IV. No waiver through inaction

The failure of either party to enforce any right, exploit the benefits of any provision, or exercise any power granted to it under this CBA shall not be deemed to be a waiver of that right as to the future, and shall not be deemed to establish any binding precedent or expected course of conduct.

V. Severability of terms

If any term of this CBA is found void, invalid, unenforceable, or contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms shall retain full force and effect.

VI. Section titles

Section titles throughout this CBA are provided for organizational convenience only and are not limiting as to the terms of this CBA.

VII. Distribution

As soon as possible following the ratification of this CBA by both parties, the District, at its expense, will provide sufficient copies of this CBA for distribution to all members employed during the effective dates. Following distribution of this CBA, if there are modifications, the cost of reproducing such modifications shall be borne by the District. The parties agree that readily accessible electronic copies of this CBA, made available to all members by the District, will satisfy the intent of this section.

VIII. Archiving and updating

The parties wish to avoid situations in which the currently binding terms are distributed across one master agreement and a collection of memoranda of understanding, making it inconvenient and error-prone to track the current status of any particular provision. To that end, the parties agree to:

- A. incorporate any agreed upon modifications to this CBA into the CBA itself promptly after such modifications are made, and to make the thus revised CBA available electronically to bargaining unit employees, and
- B. Retain archived copies of this CBA, so that its status and content at any given

time in the past may be easily ascertained.

IX. Execution

Agreement to the terms of this CBA is indicated by the signatures of the authorized representatives of the parties below.

Jason Heskett, President Fremont Education Association (FEA) Rosa Kim, President Board of Trustees

Roembai

Dralan a Clark

Bonnie Belshe, Chair FEA Negotiating Team

Diana Albaker, Member FEA Negotiating Team

Erin Ronan

Erin Ronan, Member FEA Negotiating Team

Geoff Beckstrom, Member FEA Negotiating Team

Wes Morse, Member FEA Negotiating Team

Werman

Graham Clark Superintendent of Schools

Paula Robinson FUHSD Negotiating Team

Tom Anahumont

(aulikopm)

Tom Avvakumovits, Member FUHSD Negotiating Team

Jason Crutchfield, Member FUHSD Negotiating Team

Greg Giglio, Member FUHSD Negotiating Team

Denae Nurnberg, Member FUHSD Negotiating Team